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introduction
Focus on value creation
Gem Diamonds is a leading global producer
of high value diamonds. The Company owns
two production mines, the Letšeng mine
in Lesotho and the Ellendale mine in Australia,
as well as the Ghaghoo mine, currently in
development in Botswana. The Letšeng mine
is famous for the production of large, top colour,
exceptional white diamonds, making it the highest
average dollar per carat kimberlite diamond mine
in the world. Since Gem Diamonds’ acquisition
of Letšeng in 2006, the mine has produced four
of the 20 largest white gem quality diamonds
ever recorded.
Gem Diamonds has a clear and consistent growth
strategy based on the expansion of the Letšeng
mine to double its production capacity by 2014
and the development of the Ghaghoo mine,
expected to be in production during 2013.
The Company also seeks to maximise revenue
and margin from its rough diamond production
by pursuing diamond cutting, polishing and
sales and marketing initiatives further along the
diamond value chain. With favourable supply/
demand dynamics expected to benefit the
industry over the medium to long term,
particularly at the high end of the market supplied
by Gem Diamonds, this strategy positions the
Company strongly to generate attractive returns
for shareholders well into the future.
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In the longer term, the prospect for diamonds
remains excellent. Based on the supply/demand
fundamentals of limited new diamond production
coming on stream, and the growing global
consumer demand for diamond jewellery,
demand for rough and polished diamonds
will begin to outpace supply, sustaining
a continued long term growth trend.

As previously reported, Gem Diamonds
completed the sale of its 80% interest in its
Indonesian alluvial diamond mining company,
PT Galuh Cempaka, in October 2011 for a total
consideration of US$5.0 million.

Sales Strategies

2011 saw the first full year of implementation of
the Company’s improved sales strategies, directed
at gaining a greater share of margin through the
‘smart sale’ of its rough diamond production.
Operational overview
This is being achieved through a combination of
tenders; auctions; direct sales of both rough and
Letšeng continues to produce a significant
polished diamonds; a rough off-take agreement
number of the world’s finest and largest diamonds
with Tiffany & Co.; as well as own and partnered
which included the recovery of the 550 carat
manufacturing arrangements.
Letšeng Star, sold in October 2011 into a
partnership arrangement for US$16.5 million
In line with this strategy, the Company
in the rough, with expected further upside in
increased its participation in downstream
due course. The recovery of these exceptional
cutting and polishing for own and partnered
diamonds has reinforced Gem Diamonds’ position goods, where a total of 1 624 carats of
as a top producer of the world’s largest high-end
Letšeng’s rough diamonds at a market value of
rough diamonds.
US$69 million were extracted for the full year 2011.
This initiative remains at the early stage of its
Operationally, Letšeng had a record year of
implementation and we believe this strategy
production with carats recovered in 2011 up by
can add significantly to the returns achieved
24% to 112 367¹ carats and with the recovered
for shareholders in the coming years.
grade up by 35% to 1.62² carats per hundred
tonnes (cpht) from 2010.

The Ghaghoo mine in Botswana is currently
being developed and Phase 1 construction of the
underground mine is progressing well. The box
cut and portal have been completed and the
development of the decline, using an open face
tunnel shield through the sand overburden, has
commenced. It is anticipated that Phase 1 will be
completed on time and on budget with the first
production expected in 2013.

Health and Safety

Governance

At the Ellendale mine in Western Australia, the first
half of 2011 was challenging from an operational
viewpoint owing largely to the unusually
protracted rainy season. However, the last quarter
of 2011 saw a major improvement in performance.
As has been previously reported, Gem Diamonds
continues to consider all of its options in relation
to the Ellendale mine and has appointed advisors
to assist in this regard.

business review

Our report on the prospects for the diamond
market is set out on pages 12 and 13.

Gem Diamonds continues to strive to operate
to the highest health and safety standards and
so it was with deep regret that 2011 saw two fatal
accidents at the Letšeng mine and we again offer
our sincere condolences to the families for their
loss. After a record year of no Lost Time Injuries
(LTIs) in 2010, the Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate
(LTIFR) for 2011 was 0.25 which exceeds the 2011
zero threshold target. The All Injury Frequency
Rate (AIFR) for the year was 4.54, which is below
the 2011 threshold target of 5.05.

Financial statements

Operationally, Letšeng
had a record year of
production with carats
recovered in 2011 up by 24%
to 112 367¹ carats and with
the recovered grade up by
35% to 1.62² carats per
hundred tonnes
(cpht) from 2010.

The Company recorded no major environmental
and community related incidents during 2011
and relationships with the various project affected
communities in and around Letšeng, Ellendale
and Ghaghoo continue to go from strength
to strength.

1 Total carats recovered includes 2 171 carats
recovered from tailings during test work.
2 The grade calculation excludes the above
mentioned 2 171 carats.
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business review

Focus on
focus
on value
valuecreation
creation

Our strategy

Governance

Our business is run around three core
strategic objectives:

1. Growth

Financial statements

2. Value creation
3. Sustainability
GEM
GEMDIAMONDS
DIAMONDSAnnual
AnnualReport
Report 2011
2011

05

Focus on value creation

FOCUS ON VALUE CREATION
	A leading global
strategic
objectives

Organic growth

Growth

key performance
indicators

group strategy

Expansion of our world-class Letšeng
mine and development of Ghaghoo
mine using available capital to deliver
optimum returns to shareholders

Value accretive opportunities
Additional value generation with
expanded sales and marketing
capabilities incorporating
manufacturing and downstream
initiatives

• Revenue (US$ millions)
• Underlying EBITDA (US$ millions)
• Free cashflow (pre expansion,
post sustaining capital expenditure)
(US$ millions)
• Capital expenditure
(US$ millions)
• Production volumes
(tonnes and carats)

Operational excellence
Focus on cost reductions and enhancing
current production efficiencies

Value
creation

Optimising returns
Improving quality of the assets through
life of mine extension

• ROCE (%)
• EPS (US cents)

Improving the capital structure

Stakeholders
and communities

Sustainability

Build long term, transparent and
mutually beneficial relationships
with all stakeholder groups

Health, safety and
the environment
Sustainably achieve Zero Harm
Ensure mitigation of impacts upon
the receiving environment
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Legal compliance
Community engagement
Environmental incidents
Environmental optimisation initiatives
LTIFR
AIFR
CSI expenditure

strategic focus – 2012 and beyond

• Record revenue (US$396 million), underlying EBITDA
(US$180 million) and earnings (US$68 million) achieved,
free cashflow of US$99 million
• Record carats recovered at Letšeng with strong diamond
prices achieved
• Approval for Letšeng capital expansion programme
of US$280 million (Project Kholo)
• Approval for initial development of Ghaghoo mine
of US$85 million
• Improved sales and marketing methodologies
• Exceeded initial start up expectations for manufacturing
and downstream plans achieving an after cost uplift of
15% resulting in additional revenue of US$6 million
through the process
• Cash on hand of US$159 million

• Deliver Letšeng’s expansion (Project Kholo) safely,
on time, within budget and to the required standards
to enhance volume and value growth
• Expand manufacturing and downstream volume thus
generating maximum revenue uplift from existing
production base
• Enhance the value of Ghaghoo through the development
of an appropriate execution strategy for the next phase,
improving the NPV, pay back and cashflows
• Achieve further continued growth in the net present
value of the Group assets
• Review all options for extracting best value from Ellendale
• Fund expansion capital

• Post tax ROCE up to 26%
• Basic EPS (continuing operations) up by 213%
to 47 US cents
• Introduced debt funding of US$31 million at Letšeng

• Extend resource at Letšeng
• Maintain strong balance sheet and re-invest strong free
cashflows
• Develop a robust and appropriate capital structure
• Controlling and managing costs

Governance

business review

achievements

Focus on value creation

diamond producer

Stakeholders and communities
• Creating a positive legacy in the areas where we operate
to sustain the long term relationships

Financial statements

• All operations remain legally compliant in all aspects of
health, safety, social and environmental management
• LTI free at Kimberley for 27 months and fatality free since
takeover by Gem Diamonds
• LTI free at Cempaka for 44 months at date of sale
• LTI free at Chiri for 45 months
• Group-wide AIFR of 4.54 recorded in 2011,
which remains below threshold value of 5.05
• Zero major community incidents recorded
Group-wide in 2011
• Zero major environmental incidents recorded
Group-wide in 2011
• All operations successfully implemented an
environmental optimisation initiative

Health, safety and the environment
• Adhering to leading health and safety standards.
• Responsible care toward the receiving environment

GEM DIAMONDS Annual Report 2011
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Revenue (US$’000)
Description
Revenue represents the value of goods sold during
the year and measures the level of operating
activity and growth of the business. Revenue
for the year is as reported in the consolidated
income statement.

500 000
400 000

395 574

300 000
200 000

243 300

266 400

Commentary
The increase in revenue of 49% is driven
by increased carat production (at Letšeng),
diamond prices and additional uplift achieved
on downstream manufacturing.

100 000

0

2009

2010

2011

Underlying EBITDA (US$’000)/Underlying EBITDA margin (%)
50%

179 789

Underlying EBITDA

150 000

40%
30%

100 000
20%

82 000
50 000

0

55 600

2009

Underlying EBITDA Margin

200 000

10%

2010

2011

0

Underlying
EBITDA
Underlying
EBITDA Margin

Description
Underlying EBITDA means earnings before interest,
tax, depreciation, amortisation and impairment.
It is also adjusted for share‑based payments, other
income, foreign exchange differences and resource
extension development costs.
Underlying EBITDA margin is calculated
as underlying EBITDA as a percentage of revenue.
Both these indicators provide a measure of the
operating profitability of the business. Refer to
Note 3, Operating profit in the financial statements
for the calculation of underlying EBITDA.

Commentary
The record underlying EBITDA result (up 119% year
on year) reflects increased volumes (at Letšeng),
strengthening diamond prices, cost management
and operational efficiency focus and additional
margins through downstream activities and sales
marketing strategies.

Description
ROCE is a post tax measure of the efficiency with
which the Group generates operating profits from
its capital. ROCE is calculated as underlying EBITDA
(as per Note 3, Operating profit, in the financial
statements) less depreciation and tax divided
by average capital employed (being total equity
and non-current liabilities per the consolidated
balance sheet).

Commentary
Post tax ROCE achieved 26%, driven by optimised
asset performance.

Return On capital Employed (ROCE) (%)
30%
25%

26%

20%
15%

15%

16%

10%
5%
0

2009

2010

2011

Basic Earnings Per Share (continuing operations) (EPS) (US cents)
50

47
40
30
20

17
10

0

2009

15

2010

Description
Basic EPS represents net profit attributable to
equity shareholders on continuing operations
and is stated before exceptional items and after
taking into account non‑controlling interest. This is
a measure of net profitability of the Group taking
into account changes in the eqiuty structure. EPS is
calculated as reported in the consolidated income
statement and in accordance with Note 8, Earnings
per share in the financial statements.

Commentary
Basic EPS (continuing operations) at 47 US cents
per share improved over last year, up by 213%.

Description
Free cash generated represents net cashflows
before financing activities and investing activities
in expansion projects. This measures the cash
generating capability of the Group to fund future
growth. Free cash generated is reflected in the
statement of cashflows and is determined by
cashflows from operating activities less sustaining
capital of US$23 million (pre expansion capital) and
less waste cash costs capitalised as reflected in the
footnote to Note 9, Property, plant and equipment
in the financial statements.

Commentary
The Group generated strong free cashflows of
US$99 million reflecting the increase in revenue
and underlying EBITDA. The conversion of
underlying EBITDA to free cash increased to 55%
in 2011, compared to 20% in the prior year.

2011

Free Cash Generated (US$’000)
100 000

98 661

80 000
60 000
40 000
20 000

16 440
0
−20 000

08

−11 405
2009

2010

2011
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Capital Expenditure – including future growth projects (US$’000)

Focus on value creation

Description
Capital expenditure represents the amount
invested in the Group’s organic growth plans.
Capital expenditure is reflected in the statement
of cashflows and is determined by purchases

Financial statements

Governance

business review

Production Tonnes Treated – including future growth projects (millions)
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Gem Diamonds at a glance
Our operations are based on the development of our existing assets
to maximise the potential of our mines and the sales price either
through the rough or polished diamond markets.
Gem Diamonds Ltd
Mines
LetŠeng Diamonds

KIMBERLEY DIAMOND COMPANY NL

THE KINGDOM OF LESOTHO

WESTERN AUSTRALIA

Main operation:

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES:

MAIN OPERATION:

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES:

Letšeng diamond mine – mining
and processing diamond bearing
ore sourced from the Main and
Satellite kimberlite pipes

• Organic growth through Letšeng’s
expansion project (Project Kholo)
to double up our own treatment
capacity by July 2014
• To reinforce Letšeng’s position
as the world’s top producer of
high end diamonds
• To gain additional margin uplift
for Letšeng’s production through
‘smart sales’ and downstream sales
and marketing activities

Ellendale diamond mine –
mining and processing diamond
bearing ore sourced from the E9
lamproite pipe

• Advisors have been appointed
to assist in the assessment of
strategic options for Ellendale

TOTAL RESOURCE:

• Waste tonnes mined per annum:

HIGHLIGHTS 2011:

4.7 million carats*
(as at 31 December 2010)

SUSTAINABILITY HIGHLIGHTS:

FAMOUS FOR:
Producing large, top colour,
exceptional white diamonds,
making Letšeng the highest
average dollar per carat kimberlite
diamond mine in the world; since
Gem Diamonds acquisition of
Letšeng, the recovery of four of the
20 largest white diamonds ever
recorded

TOTAL RESOURCE:
3.6 million carats
(as at 31 December 2010)

IN-SITU VALUE:
US$9.9 billion
(as at 31 December 2010)

•
•
•
•

Its rare fancy yellow diamonds,
making it the most significant
producer of these rare diamonds

Carats recovered: 112 367
Average US$ per carat: US$2 776
IN-SITU VALUE:
Tonnes treated: 6.8 million
US$1.0 billion*
Waste tonnes mined:
(as at 31 December 2010)
16.9 million
• Recovery and sale of the
550 carat Letšeng Star for6/ActualText16.5
an initial
US$16.5 million

HIGHLIGHTS 2011:
• Carats recovered: 120 302
• Average US$ per carat: US$731
• Tonnes treated per annum:

3.1 million
6.2 million

• Fatality free since Gem Diamonds’
acquisition in 2007
• A second consecutive LTI-free year
• Zero major environmental
incidents
• Ellendale retained its 4 Star rating
in the annual external SHE audit

SUSTAINABILITY HIGHLIGHTS:
• LTIFR 0.29
• AIFR 2.41
• Zero major environmental
incidents recorded in 2011
• On schedule execution of 01x
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FAMOUS FOR:

* Total resource and in-situ value includes the
E4 lamproite pipe

FOCUS FOR 2012:

FOCUS FOR 2012:

• Development of Project Kholo, which commenced in January 2012
• Pre-feasibility study for underground mining of the Satellite pipe
• Geological drilling programme to improve definition of the ore-body
at depth
• Develop downstream activities and capabilities
• Increase the allocation of selected high end Letšeng diamonds for
own manufacturing and partnership arrangements

• Cash generation
• Capitalising on improved production performance through the new
primary plant feed section
• Considering all options with regards to the mine

GEM DIAMONDS Annual Report 2011

Belgium, ANTWERP
Ownership:

100%
MAIN OPERATIONS:
Development of the Ghaghoo
diamond mine

TOTAL RESOURCE:
20.5 million carats
(as at 31 December 2010)

IN-SITU VALUE:
US$4.6 billion
(as at 31 December 2010)

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES:
• Enhance the value of Ghaghoo
through the development of an
appropriate execution strategy
for the next phase improving the
net present value, pay back and
cashflows

DEVELOPMENT
HIGHLIGHTS 2011
• Board approved a capital budget
of US$85 million in March 2011,
for the construction of Phase 1 of
the Ghaghoo underground mine
• Construction of the Phase 1
commenced in mid 2011
and continues on time and
within budget

SUSTAINABILITY HIGHLIGHTS:
• HSSE system is being
implemented at Ghaghoo
• Zero major or significant
environmental incidents
• Community water supply
programme implemented
• 30% of Ghaghoo employees
were recruited from the project
affected communities

Gem Diamonds Limited
FORMED
October 2010

MAIN OPERATIONS:

• Continue to develop the underground mine
• Refine options for post Phase 1

80% HOLDING IN PT GALUH CEMPAKA
indonesia

SOLD

For US$5.0 million October 2011
MAIN OPERATIONS:
Cempaka diamond mine

COMMENCED
September 2008

MAIN OPERATIONS:
• Owned: South Africa;
Lesotho, Mauritius
• Outsourced: Antwerp

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES:

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES:

• To maximise the value
achieved of rough and polished
diamond sales
• To identify key strategic
areas for growth in the
diamond pipeline
• Grow customer base
• Develop existing and build new
key downstream relationships

• Source, develop and establish
state of the art technology
and intellectual knowledge
for the Group’s manufacturing
objectives
• Provide manufacturing
capacity to meet the Group’s
manufacturing growth plan
• To develop the Group’s
diamond brands beyond the
mine gate to extract higher
margins

• US$300m sales of Letšeng
production
• Developed manufacturing
relationships and commenced
selling of polished diamonds
• Extracted and partnered on
rough diamonds to the value
of US$69 million

• Continue to drive prices for
high value goods
• Explore brand development
opportunities
• Identify market opportunities
closer to the customer
• Implement more effective
tenders to manage market
cycles
• Investigate diamond sales
opportunities in alternate
geographies

Focus on value creation

ANTWERP, SOUTH
AFRICA, DUBAI,
MAURITIUS and
LESOTHO

• Diamond sorting, valuation
and marketing expertise
• Cutting and polishing advisory
and capability

OUTPUT HIGHLIGHTS 2011:

FOCUS FOR 2012:

OWNED AND
OUTSOURCED
TECHNOLOGY AND
INTELLECTUAL
PROPERTY

business review

BOTSWANA

GEM DIAMONDS
MARKETING SERVICES
BVBA

Governance

GEM DIAMONDS BOTSWANA

CUTTING AND
POLISHING

STRATEGIC ADVANTAGES:
• Top quality rough diamonds for
manufacturing from Letšeng
• Committed supply of Group
owned diamonds
• State of the art technology for
diamond cutting
• Secured computer analysis
expertise for high end
diamonds
• Strategic relationships with
partners who have expertise
and end consumer experience

Financial statements

Sales and
marketing

• Establish facilities in Mauritius
and Lesotho and investigate
establishing manufacturing
capacity in Antwerp

GEM DIAMONDS Annual Report 2011
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our marketplace

THE GLOBAL DIAMOND MARKET
The rough diamond market experienced
phenomenal growth following the collapse in
prices in late 2008 and early 2009 on the back of
the global financial crisis. Diamond prices were
severely impacted and were down from their
2008 peaks by on average 50% in early 2009.
Since then, rough diamond prices have risen
consistently as a result of strong and continuous
demand for diamond jewellery in China and
India. By the middle of 2010, rough diamond
prices had risen above their peaks of July 2008.
Rough diamond prices across the sector doubled
to the end of 2010 from the lows of 2009.

16%
Global rough price growth
rate for full year 2011
Source WWW Forecasts Ltd

The first seven months of 2011 saw diamond
prices continue on this upward trend with rough
diamond prices rising up to 60% on average
across the sector, with some diamond categories
up almost 100% from their prices at the start of
2011. However, following the European holiday
season in August 2011; the deepening financial
crisis in the Eurozone; and tightened liquidity
of the diamond lending banks, the unabated
increase in the rough diamond prices came to
an end and the rough and polished diamond
markets corrected. Prices across the rough
diamond industry dropped by approximately
30% to 35% as a result.

Rough and polished prices
Polished prices Overall Index

WWW Overall Rough Index
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During the year Letšeng managed to achieve
exceptional prices for its diamonds as a result of
its relationships with its clients and manufacturing
partners. Prices for those diamonds sold into
partnerships were better than those that would
have been attained in the market as a result of
the strength of these partners, their developed
distribution channels and their ability to weather
the market cycles.

Rough and polished prices

WWW Overall Rough Index
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Pleasingly, in the fourth quarter of 2011, there
was a strengthening of rough diamond prices.
According to WWW Forecasts Ltd, prices for rough
diamonds overall ended the year approximately
16% higher than at the end of 2010. Over the same
period, Gem Diamonds’ indexing of BHP Billiton
and De Beers Diamond Trading Company sales
results has shown that their prices ended the year
up approximately 17% and 39% respectively.

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009 2010 2011 2012
Source: WWW Forecasts Ltd

Polished prices Overall Index

0
2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022 2024 2026
Jan 2003 = 100
Source: WWW Forecasts Ltd

As with the correction experienced in the rough
diamond market and for the same reasons,
polished prices began correcting in July 2011
and by the end of the year had corrected, to end
17% higher than at the beginning of the year.
Unlike the rough diamond market where prices
stabilised towards the end of 2011, trading
volumes in polished diamonds through the last
quarter of 2011 and into 2012 were much lower
and therefore polished prices remained under
pressure; however the polished prices being
achieved for the better quality larger diamonds
being sold were more resilient.

Focus on value creation

Reports received subsequent to the important
November to December 2011 Thanksgiving to
Christmas retail season in the USA, indicate that
there was growth in the demand for diamond
jewellery which led to ad hoc restocking in the
manufacturing centres at the beginning of 2012.
This was reflected in the continued moderate
strengthening of rough prices at both the Letšeng
and Ellendale sales held thus far in 2012.
However, given the uncertainties in the global
economy, it is likely that in the first half of 2012
there will be some volatility in the rough diamond
price as the market goes through a period of
consolidation after the exceptional growth
experienced since the end of the 2008 global
financial crisis. From the middle of 2012, based
on current supply expectations, rough diamond
prices are expected to steadily improve.
Growth in consumer demand is expected to
co

business review

The polished diamond market showed similar
trends to the rough diamond market following
the global financial crisis in 2008, albeit at a much
more measured pace. In the first half of 2011, solid
consumer demand in the USA and emerging
markets of China and India and retailer re-stocking
of diamonds and diamond jewellery after the
2010 Christmas period positively influenced
the rise in polished diamond prices by 24% on
average. However, higher rough diamond prices
in the first half of the year also put pressure
on manufacturing margins, leading some
diamantaires to reduce manufacturing activity,
thereby constraining polished supply. As a result
of this reduced supply of polished diamonds
into the market, prices for these goods
trended upwards.

OUTLOOK FOR 2012

17%
Global polished prices increase
for full year 2011
Source IDEX

Governance

The agreement with Tiffany & Co. to purchase
Ellendale’s fancy yellow production is progressing
well. A new pricing mechanism which now
adjusts the prices on a monthly basis for the
Tiffany quality fancy yellow diamonds was
implemented in July of 2011 and back dated
to October 2010. The indices that form the
composite benchmark index for this price
mechanism are weighted towards the better
qualities as a representation of the off-take
production, resulting in strong prices being
achieved for Ellendale’s fancy yellow production,
thus softening the impact of the price correction
experienced in the third quarter of the year.

Production and demand in rough terms
Production

Demand

Financial statements

(US$ billion)
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At Letšeng the Company aims to increase the
carats produced to circa 180 000 to 200 000 carats
per annum by July 2014 through the successful
implementation of Project Kholo. This is expected
to result in an annual revenue for Letšeng
exceeding US$500 million². Since this project is
essential to the long term growth of earnings for
the Company, management’s KPIs strongly reflect
the targets required to be met for the success
of this project.
The increase of carats mined at Ellendale is also
a strategic priority for the Company, especially
in light of the disappointing results of this mine
during 2011.
The mine construction at Ghaghoo will result
in the first diamonds being produced in 2013.
Management’s KPIs reflect the need for this
project to be completed safely, on time and
within budget and at the appropriate quality.
b. Sales and marketing
This objective builds on the successful
implementation of the sales and marketing
strategy implemented in 2010 and 2011 is the
first full year to benefit from this strategy.
The Company aims to significantly increase
the number of carats allocated to cutting and
polishing by the Company itself and/or sold
into partnership arrangements. The increase
in revenue as a result of the ‘smart sale’ of the
Company’s rough diamond production is
also reflected in management’s KPIs.
c. Operational performance
The record results achieved at Letšeng from an
operational viewpoint will be continued and focus
brought to increasing carat recovery at Ellendale.
There will be significant focus on extending the
ore body at Letšeng through an extensive drilling
programme which is currently underway, in order
to replace carats already mined and sold.

2 Assuming current price levels.
3 Total corporate costs are US$14.9 million,
which exclude one‑off project costs of
US$0.4 million, totalling US$15.3 million
for 2011.

Focus on value creation

e. Health, Safety, Corporate Social
Investment and Environment
The Company’s goal is to achieve ‘Zero Harm’
on a sustainable basis across all its operations
and continues to refine and improve its health and
safety management systems through ongoing
identification and implementation of appropriate
continuous improvement measures.

business review

a. Increased carat production
Growing the Group’s production profile is a key
strategic priority for the Company as a means
of generating value and further cementing
Gem Diamonds’ position in the global diamond
industry as the leading producer of high
quality diamonds.

However, Letšeng’s safety record for 2011 was
very disappointing, with the loss of two of our
colleagues in separate fatal accidents, along with
a further three Lost Time Injuries recorded at the
mine. One LTI was recorded at Ghaghoo, with
the result that the Group-wide Lost Time Injury
Frequency Rate for 2011 is 0.25, which is in excess
of the Group’s zero threshold target. A Behaviour
Based Safety (BBS) system implementation has
commenced at Letšeng in 2011 in order to address
the operation’s safety management deficiencies.

Governance

As indicated above, the Company achieved the
strong results in 2011 as a result of the careful
and dedicated implementation of the strategic
objectives identified and reported to shareholders
in 2010. Many of these objectives are of an
ongoing nature and will be refined and carried
forward in 2012. The objectives include:

d. Financial performance
A number of new financial KPIs have been
adopted by the Board during 2011 and these
will be closely monitored over the coming years
to ensure that management continues to deliver
on the Company’s strategy. Management’s
incentivisation will in turn be assessed on the
continued delivery of improvements of these
key benchmarks of performance. The Company’s
Remuneration Committee will be examining this
issue in detail during the coming year and we will
be reporting their conclusions to shareholders in
due course. Total central corporate costs for the
Company were US$14.9 million for 2011³. However,
as a result of implementing the Group’s internal
sales and marketing structure which was set up in
late 2010 by the Corporate office, Letšeng’s selling
costs have been reduced from 2.5% to 1.5%
of revenue. This saving, together with the
manufacturing uplift gained through the
manufacturing process and downstream initiative,
has resulted in a significant improvement to
the Group’s underlying EBITDA.

Pleasingly, the Company achieved a reduction
in all injuries and this remained below the target
ceiling value of 2011.

CONCLUSION
We expect 2012 to be another exciting year for
the Company. We shall continue to focus on asset
optimisation of the Group’s existing portfolio and
to maintain our drive to maximise operational
efficiencies. A substantial part of our efforts will
be directed at our two major growth projects as
they continue to be implemented and we look
forward to their contribution to Gem Diamonds’
performance.

Financial statements

OBJECTIVES AND ACHIEVEMENTS

On the cost side, whilst corporate costs are
regularly assessed and reviewed with an eye
to continued control and management, the
Company will continue to ensure that the required Clifford Elphick
skills levels for the crucial growth projects and
Chief Executive Officer
other strategies are maintained to ensure
19 March 2012
successful and timely implementation.
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Business Review

operating review:
LETšENG
The Letšeng mine is famous for its large, top quality
diamonds and achieves the highest dollar per carat of any
kimberlite diamond mine in the world. Gem Diamonds
owns 70% of Letšeng Diamonds (Letšeng) in partnership with
the Government of the Kingdom of Lesotho, which owns the
remaining 30%. Letšeng was acquired in July 2006 and has
continued to deliver exceptional returns for its shareholders.
Since Gem Diamonds took control, Letšeng’s annual
production has risen from 55 000 carats in 2006 to 112 367
carats in 2011 and during this time, has produced four of the
20 largest white gem diamonds ever recovered – the 603
carat Lesotho Promise in 2006; the 493 carat Letšeng Legacy
in 2007; the 478 carat Light of Letšeng in 2008 and the
550 carat Letšeng Star in 2011.
DIAMOND SALES
Year ended
31 December
2011

Year ended
31 December
2010

Number of carats sold

107 700

88 564

Average US$ per carat

2 776

2 149

FREQUENCY OF RECOVERIES OF LARGE DIAMONDS iN LETŠENG
Number of diamonds

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011*

>100 carats

5

7

5

6

5

60-100 carats

9

16

10

10

19

30-60 carats

39

74

76

61

59

20-30 carats
Total diamonds >20 carats

65

88

98

89

91

118

185

189

166

174

*Letšeng treatment plants only, excludes Alluvial Ventures production.

Operational highlights
•
•
•
•
•

Carats recovered: 112 367
Average US$ per carat: US$2 776
Tonnes treated: 6.8 million
Waste tonnes mined: 16.9 million
Recovery and sale of the 550 carat Letšeng Star for an initial rough
price of US$16.5 million

Sustainability highlights
•
•
•
•

LTIFR 0.29
AIFR 2.41
Zero major environmental incidents recorded in 2011
On schedule execution of corporate social investment projects
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Focus on value creation

Business Review

operating review:
LETšENG continued
Underlying EBITDA margin

60%

Letšeng continued to
recover high value and
exceptionally large
diamonds during the
year, most notably,
the recovery of the 550
carat, Type IIa, D colour,
Letšeng Star on 19 August
2011. The Letšeng Star is
currently ranked as the
14th largest white gem
diamond on record and
the second largest white
diamond to be recovered
at Letšeng.

In November 2011 the Company’s Board and the
Board of Letšeng Diamonds approved Letšeng’s
expansion project (Project Kholo). Project Kholo
commenced in January 2012 and early work has
commenced whilst detailed design continues.
The planned development entails increased
production through the construction of a
third processing plant and other operational
improvements, which will see a ramp up to full
production of 10 million tonnes by July 2014.
Carat output will increase to 180 000 to 200 000
carats per annum (currently 112 367 carats per
annum). The total project capital expenditure
for Project Kholo is estimated at US$280 million.
The project IRR is expected to be 40%, with
payback expected in 2016.

1.62 carats per hundred tonnes (which excludes
2 171 carats which were recovered from tailings
during test work on the X-ray recovery
technologies), an increase of 35% over 2010.

Project Kholo will be funded out of existing
and future cashflows and a loan facility (based
on current diamond prices and exchange rate
assumptions). In November 2011, Letšeng
concluded a three year US$31 million working
capital facility as part of its initial funding plans.
The NPV of the Letšeng mine (100%), including
Project Kholo, is US$2.5 billion.

In late 2011, a drilling programme commenced
to improve information on current resources and
confirm the continuity of the resource below the
currently defined limits. The programme consists
of four deep holes (two on each pipe) totalling
3 600 metres, aimed at extending the resource
base beyond current levels and 15 shorter holes
totalling 5 575 metres, aimed at improving the
Indicated resource geological continuity and
for geotechnical purposes.

Letšeng delivered a record operational
performance in 2011, achieving the highest carat
recovery in the history of the mine of 112 367
carats, an increase of 23.6% over the previous
year of 90 933 carats; treating a record 5.7 million
tonnes through Letšeng’s 1 and 2 treatment
plants, up 2.2% over the previous year of
5.6 million tonnes, and delivering record
operating profit of US$167.4 million for the
mine, up 146.1% over the previous year of
US$68.0 million. These production achievements
together with the increase in waste stripping
demonstrate management’s ability to achieve
the planned Project Kholo production levels.
Letšeng continued to recover high value and
exceptionally large diamonds during the year,
most notably, the recovery of the 550 carat,
Type IIa, D colour, Letšeng Star on 19 August 2011.
The Letšeng Star is currently ranked as the 14th
largest white gem diamond on record and the
second largest white diamond to be recovered
at Letšeng.
Of the total ore mined and processed for the year
through Letšeng’s 1 and 2 Plants and Alluvial
Ventures Plant, 83% of ore was sourced from the
Main pipe and 17% was sourced from the Satellite
pipe. The recovered grade at Letšeng continued
to outperform the resource grade throughout
the year and can be attributed to higher than
expected ore grades as well as improved recovery
controls. The recovered grade for the year was
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Alluvial Ventures is now treating material directly
from the Main pipe. This has been made possible
by the introduction of a crushing facility at this
Plant (Alluvial Ventures had previously treated
material from the low grade De Beers stockpile
which is now depleted).
Waste tonnes mined in the year increased to
16.9 million tonnes, up from 11.7 million tonnes
in the previous year, in line with the mine plan
(including the commencement of stripping in
the Main pit).

Cost reduction remained a focus, and within
the mining process the redesign of the blasting
pattern continues to deliver benefits in reduced
explosive usage and lower consumption of
drilling and blasting consumables. Improved
procurement of explosives has resulted in annual
savings of Maloti 19.5 million (US$2.7 million).
The utilisation of larger trucks for waste stripping
was initiated in late 2009 and has since continued,
resulting in a decrease in unit costs for contracted
loading and hauling from Maloti 13.00 per tonne
in 2009 to Maloti 12.70 per tonne in 2011, despite
two years’ escalation and longer haul distances.
In the treatment plant the plant contractor has
taken over the running of the primary crusher
from a third party and annual savings of Maloti
12.5 million (US$1.7 million) have been achieved.
Project Kholo aims to improve diamond liberation
and reduce diamond damage, which is especially
important in order to preserve the high value
of Letšeng’s large diamonds. Thus the project
will increase the top cut-off size, use the latest
crushing technology and incorporate inter particle
re-crushing to achieve this. This, together with the
utilisation of less costly concentration technology,
will contribute significantly to the financial
benefits of the project.

Various x-ray technologies were successfully
tested, recovering a large number of diamonds
that had not previously been recovered by the
current separation techniques. It is planned for
this technology to be used instead of coarse ore
dense media separation circuits and to replace
the conventional x-ray machines currently
used in the recovery plant.

DIAMOND SALES

SALES AND MARKETING STRATEGY

In 2011, 591 rough diamonds greater than
10.8 carats in size (+10.8 carats), were recovered
at Letšeng, totalling almost 14 000 carats and
contributing to 77% of total rough diamond
revenue at Letšeng. A total of 187 diamonds
recorded prices greater than US$20 000 per carat,
contributing rough revenue of US$202.6 million
(67% of Letšeng’s revenue); this included the
550 carat Letšeng Star diamond which was sold
into a partnership arrangement for a rough value
of US$16.5 million, where Letšeng will benefit
directly from the upside derived from the sale
of the resultant polished diamonds.

Focus on value creation

OWN MANUFACTURING
AND PARTNERSHIP

business review

100%

Gem Diamonds Marketing generally holds ten
tenders annually, two in each of the first and third
quarters and three in each of the second and
fourth quarters, and since the beginning of 2011,
has extracted select diamonds for Letšeng’s
own polishing and for sale into Letšeng’s
high-end partnerships.

In line with the Company’s stated strategy to
increase its participation in downstream cutting
and polishing for own and partnered goods,
for the full year 2011, a total of 1 624 carats
were extracted at a rough market value of
US$68.6 million. Of this, US$1.2 million remains
unrecognised in revenue and on hand in
inventory at year end. Overall the uplift achieved
on those goods sold was at the upper end
of expectations.

Governance

Underlying EBITDA up

Financial statements

Letšeng’s production is sold through
Gem Diamonds Marketing Services BVBA
(Gem Diamonds Marketing), an Antwerp-based
Gem Diamonds’ subsidiary, providing Letšeng
with complete flexibility over the marketing of
its rough production and further resulting in a
reduction in the sales and marketing costs of
its production from 2.5% to 1.5%. A key element
of this sales and marketing strategy has been
to give Letšeng more control and to develop
downstream activities and capabilities, providing
access to additional margins further down the
diamond value chain.

Including all carats extracted from the
rough production for manufacturing at their
rough valuation, the average value for Letšeng’s
export of unique diamonds for the year was
US$2 776 per carat, compared to the average
price of US$2 149 per carat achieved in 2010,
a 29% increase in the average price.
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Business Review

operating review:
LETšENG continued
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

COSTS

Letšeng Diamonds continues to deliver strong
operational and financial results generating
revenue of US$300.6 million from diamond
sales and underlying EBITDA of US$180.7 million,
reflecting a 100% increase in underlying EBITDA
over the prior year.
Year
ended 31
December
2011¹

US$ (millions)
Sales
Cost of sales*
Royalty and selling costs
Underlying EBITDA
Physicals
Tonnes treated
Waste tonnes mined
Carats recovered
Carats sold²

300.6
(95.4)
(24.5)
180.7

6 805 152
16 932 222
112 367
107 700

US$ (per unit)
Exchange rate (average)
Average price per carat
(rough)
Direct cash cost
(before waste) per
tonne treated³
Operating cost per
tonne treated⁴
Waste cash cost per
waste tonne mined

7.26

Cost management has continued to be of key
focus and Letšeng has managed to maintain its
costs within expected targets notwithstanding
fuel and power increases experienced during
the year. Local currency direct cash costs (before
waste) per tonne treated for the year were Maloti
88.84 relative to the prior year of Maloti 72.18.
Year These costs increased in line with inflation but
ended 31 were further impacted by the lower production
December
levels compared to the prior year together with
2010
costs associated with the contractor (Alluvial
190.3
Ventures who operate a third plant at Letšeng) as
(81.8)
these costs are based on a percentage of revenue
(18.6) and as prices have increased over the prior year,
89.9 the associated costs have increased. The lower
production levels in the current year are mainly
due to the planned lower throughput from
7 557 079 Alluvial Ventures as they depleted the previous
11 676 931 stockpiles and have moved into processing harder
90 933 ore from the Main pit. As a result of increased
88 564 waste volumes, reduced rates were negotiated
with the contractor resulting in waste cash costs
per waste tonne moved reducing to Maloti 21.13
7.32 from Maloti 22.00 in the prior year.

2 776

2 149

12.24

9.86

14.07

10.79

2.91

3.01

Local currency (per unit) Lesotho loti
Direct cash cost
(before waste) per
tonne treated³
88.84
Operating cost per
tonne treated⁴
102.15
Waste cash cost per
waste tonne mined
21.13

HEALTH, SAFETY, social AND
ENVIRONMENT (HSSE)
72.18
78.93
22.00

Other operating information (US$ millions)
Waste capitalised
56.5
40.3
Waste amortised
18.6
10.2
Depreciation and
amortisation
19.6
21.5
Capital expenditure
18.7
12.3
* Excluding depreciation and amortisation.
1 Included in underlying EBITDA is US$1.2 million profit generated on
the portion of diamonds sold to the Sales and Marketing company in
the Group for cutting and polishing and not sold outside of the Group
by the end of December. These values have been eliminated in the
consolidated Group results.
2 Excludes sale of polished diamonds.
3 Direct cash costs represents all operating costs, excluding royalty
and selling costs, depreciation, mine amortisation and all other
non-cash charges.
5 Incident which results in long term, high
severity environmental impact.
6 Short to mid term, medium severity
environmental impact incidents.
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Total operating costs per tonne treated for the
year increased to Maloti 102.15 per tonne from
Maloti 78.93 per tonne, mainly as a result of an
increase in waste amortisation costs (driven by the
different waste to ore strip ratios for the particular
ore processed) during the year and the lower
production volumes. Waste amortisation is
currently only associated with the Satellite pipe.

4 Operating costs excludes royalty and selling costs and depreciation
and mine amortisation, and includes inventory, waste and ore
stockpile adjustments.

The health and safety record at Letšeng was
unsatisfactory in 2011. Tragically two fatalities
occurred along with a further three LTI’s.
Comprehensive investigations were undertaken
and appropriate corrective actions implemented
to correct this unacceptable trend.
Correspondingly, the Company recorded a
loss of one star rating in its external SHE audit.
Implementation of an operation-wide behaviourbased safety system continues on target
for completion by mid 2012. The operation
recorded zero major⁵ environmental incidents,
while recording two significant⁶ incidents, both
comprising hydrocarbon spills. The affected
areas were successfully bio-remediated.
Corporate Social Investment (CSI) at Letšeng
continues to positively impact the lives of the
project affected communities. The Company’s
flagship CSI projects, the Wool & Mohair and
the Livelihoods projects, remain on target,
while several smaller projects are ongoing.

2012 AND ONWARDS
A pre-feasibility study is currently underway
to further determine the relative economics of
moving to underground mining in the Satellite
pipe in order to effectively eliminate waste
stripping once the open-pit reaches its economic
limit and to confirm the optimal timing for the
proposed transition.
Geological drilling is underway in order to improve
the confidence level of existing resource and to
delineate further resources at depth. A total of
9 175 drill metres have been planned and to
date 3 005 metres have been completed.
As part of the development of Letšeng’s
downstream activities and capabilities, Letšeng
is in the process of establishing an in-country
manufacturing facility that will manufacture
certain categories of its diamond production
utilising the proprietary diamond processing
technology of Calibrated Diamonds, a Gem
Diamonds subsidiary. This facility is planned
to be completed in the second half of 2013
and will reach full production capacity in 2014.

The project commenced in 2011 and will be concluded by end 2014.
In 2011, two new woolsheds were constructed in the villages of Mokhotlong
and Mapholaneng respectively, and shearing was undertaken at the
Mokhotlong shed in the spring of 2011. Extensive training was also
undertaken in 2011, including the training of 26 animal health workers,
training of 16 wool recorders and classers and 16 wool shearers. This training
comprised the formalisation of traditional skill sets and entailed best
practice techniques skills transfer. Additionally, 16 general trainers
completed a customised curriculum in general sheep and goat farming
techniques, business management and entrepreneurial skills. At year end,
these trainers rolled out training to a approximately 1 120 farmers in the
district. Community feedback to date has been overwhelmingly positive
and already the community is seeing a monetary increase from the
improved quality of wool produced. Over the full three year lifetime of the
project, a total of 5 300 people could be directly benefited by this project,
resulting in a cumulative potential benefit to approximately 26 500 people
in the immediate vicinity of the Letšeng diamond mine.

Letšeng will also continue to grow its allocation
of select large high-end diamonds for
manufacturing through its own manufacturing
or partnership arrangements in order to ensure
the diamond distribution channels are well
established when the mine production doubles
following the completion of Project Kholo.
In
fis.

Business Review

operating review:
ellendale
Ellendale is renowned for fancy and vivid yellow
diamonds, which have resulted from high levels of
nitrogen at the time of their formation. They are greatly
sought after for their rarity. Ellendale is the most significant
producer of these fancy yellow diamonds.
In December 2007, Gem Diamonds acquired Kimberley
Diamond Company NL (Kimberley Diamonds).
Kimberley Diamonds owns 100% of the Ellendale Mine
in the north of Western Australia.
DIAMOND SALES
Year ended
31 December
2011

Year ended
31 December
2010

Number of carats sold

121 454

163 924

Average US$ per carat

731

475

Operational highlights
•
•
•
•

Carats recovered: 120 302
Average US$ per carat: US$731
Tonnes treated: 3.1 million
Waste tonnes mined: 6.2 million

Sustainability highlights
•
•
•
•

Fatality free since Gem Diamonds’ acquisition in 2007
A second consecutive LTI–free year
Zero major environmental incidents
Ellendale retained its 4 Star rating in the annual external SHE audit
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Focus on value creation

Kimberley Diamonds generated revenue of
US$89.4 million compared to US$77.9 million
achieved in the prior year. Kimberley Diamonds
has generated a positive underlying EBITDA of
US$13.2 million, although it was impacted
negatively by operational challenges and a
stronger Australian dollar, reflecting a 27%
increase over 2010.

PRICES ACHIEVED
In 2011, Kimberley Diamonds achieved an
overall average price of US$731 per carat for its
production, an increase of 54% from the average
price of US$475 per carat achieved in 2010.
Kimberley Diamonds achieved an average of
US$4 409 per carat for Ellendale’s rare fancy
yellow diamonds that are sold to Tiffany & Co.,
representing an increase of 53% against the
average price per carat of US$2 891 in 2010. In 2011
Ellendale’s commercial diamond production
achieved an average price of US$188 per carat,
which represents an increase of 21% over the
average price achieved in 2010 of US$155 per carat.

Year
Year
ended 31 ended 31
December December
2011
2010

US$ (millions)

89.4
(70.6)

77.9
(62.6)

Royalty and selling costs

(5.6)

(4.9)

Underlying EBITDA

13.2

10.4

Sales
Cost of sales*

Physicals
Tonnes treated
Waste tonnes mined
Carats recovered
Carats sold

3 116 017 4 016 338
6 183 668 4 794 748
120 302
166 708
121 454
163 926

US$ (per unit)
Exchange rate (average)
Average price
per carat (rough)
Direct cash cost (before
waste) per tonne treated¹
Operating cost
per tonne treated²
Waste cash cost per
waste tonne mined
Local currency (per unit)
Australian dollar (AU$)
Direct cash cost (before
waste) per tonne treated¹
Operating cost per tonne
treated²
Waste cash cost per
waste tonne mined

0.97

1.09

731

475

19.63

12.64

22.67

15.61

4.16

2.86

19.02

13.78

21.97

17.01

4.04

3.11

business review

Up until November 2010, Kimberley Diamonds
had sold its commercial production via tenders
and/or direct sales. In December 2010 Kimberley
Diamonds engaged with an electronic
diamond auction company to market its
commercial production from Ellendale using
an eAuction platform.

Focus on value creation

In July 2011, Kimberley Diamonds amended the
pricing mechanism for its fancy yellow diamonds
that it sells directly under the off-take agreement
to Laurelton Diamonds, Inc., the diamond
sourcing and manufacturing subsidiary of global
high-end jeweller Tiffany & Co. The new pricing
mechanism adjusts the fancy yellow prices
monthly (as opposed to the previously agreed six
monthly adjustments). This new mechanism was
further back-dated to 1 October 2010 resulting in
Kimberley Diamonds receiving back payments
totalling US$1.6 million for the 2011 deliveries of
fancy yellows (included in the figures detailed in
the Financial Performance section below) and
an additional $0.6 million for the November
and December 2010 deliveries (the 2010 back
payment is not included in Ellendale’s Financial
Performance section figures below).

Governance

27%

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Other operating information (US$ million)
Waste capitalised
30.8
16.8
Waste amortised
18.7
13.7
Depreciation and
amortisation
8.8
8.4
Capital expenditure
20.1
6.5

Financial statements

Underlying EBITDA up

SALES AND MARKETING STRATEGY

* Excluding depreciation and amortisation.
1 Direct cash costs represents all operating costs, excluding royalty
and selling costs, depreciation, mine amortisation and all other
non-cash charges.
2 Operating costs excludes royalty and selling costs and depreciation
and mine amortisation, and includes inventory, waste and ore
stockpile adjustments.
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operating review:
ellendale continued
COSTS
The production challenges at Ellendale, which
have resulted in lower tonnage treated, together
with increased fuel prices and inflation, have
negatively impacted unit costs. A large portion
of Ellendale’s cost structure constitutes a fixed
element resulting in local currency direct cash
costs (before waste) per tonne treated for the year
amounting to AU$19.02 relative to the prior year of
AU$13.78. In addition, these costs were impacted
by the demobilisation costs incurred with regards
to the change of the mining contractor during
December. Waste cash costs per tonne of waste
moved was AU$4.04 up from the prior year
of AU$3.11.
Total operating costs per tonne treated for the
year increased to AU$21.97 per tonne from
AU$17.01 per tonne, mainly as a result of the
lower production volumes and cost impacts
referred to above.

HSSE
Ellendale continues to achieve a high standard
in HSSE management and also retained its 4 Star
rating in the external SHE audit. The operation

has remained fatality-free since it was taken
over by Gem Diamonds and achieved 27 months
LTI free at year end. Ellendale recorded zero major
environmental incidents and one significant
incident, which was duly reported to the
competent authorities and appropriate remedial
actions implemented. The Company continues
to contribute to the progress of its projectaffected communities through supporting
projects related to education, healthy lifestyles,
regional environmental initiatives and a range of
several worthy causes. The operation successfully
completed a comprehensive indigenous training
programme for 15 members of its project affected
community in 2011 and recorded a total of 8%
indigenous employment by year end.

2012 ONWARDS
Whilst management continues to review all of
its options regarding the Ellendale mine, and
has appointed advisors to assist in this regard, the
focus for 2012 will be on ensuring that Ellendale
continues to generate cash and to capitalise on
production performance through its primary
plant feed section.

kimberley girl
Kimberley Girl was introduced to the Kimberley community in 2004 and is a valuable initiative targeting young indigenous
women between the ages of 16 and 25.
Through the involvement of Kimberley Diamonds and other government and
corporate sponsors, the Kimberley Girl programme continues to grow and improve.
Structured workshops and showcase events address contemporary issues, helping
participants to overcome the impact of social, economic and isolation
disadvantages and bringing the community together in a celebratory capacity.
The programme aims to cultivate female leaders through the development
of personal and positive identity of the participants, while passing on life skills
designed to give this ‘at risk group’ the tools to grow in the modern world
and fills a need in the community for a contemporary cultural activity.
Ellendale’s contributions are particularly focused on young women of
the Fitzroy Valley – the operation’s project affected community.
Workshops focusing on professional development and leadership were delivered by recently trained Kimberley Girl Cadets.
Each participant emerges with a renewed sense of confidence on which they can continue to build. Through this increased positive
self awareness and exposure to new opportunities, the young women can become positive role models in their communities.
The main objectives of Kimberley Girl are to:
• Instigate irrevocable change in the personal and professional
development of young indigenous women;
• Provide young indigenous women with valuable educational
activities and opportunities which directly address their needs
in the areas of:
• Contemporary Indigenous culture;
• Mental and physical health and well-being;
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•
•
•
•

Development of social and professional skills;
Positive lifestyles; and
Leadership values.
Promote understanding and respect for Indigenous culture
from the wider community by representing Indigenous
People in a positive and contemporary environment.
• The final event was attended by over 700 people from
the region.

Business Review

operating review:
GHAGHOO

Gem Diamonds’ Board approved a capital budget of US$85 million in March
2011, for the construction of Phase 1 of the Ghaghoo underground mine,
with a production capacity of 720 000 tonnes per annum. The objective of
Phase 1 is to confirm the grade, diamond prices and the recovery processes,
including the use of autogenous milling, which is expected to increase
diamond liberation. Results from Phase 1 will underpin a study aimed at
defining the way forward for mining at Ghaghoo.

Focus on value creation

The Ghaghoo diamond mine in Botswana is
currently being developed by the Company’s whollyowned subsidiary, Gem Diamonds Botswana, which
is the holder of a 25 year mining licence. ‘Ghaghoo’ is
the name of a locally abundant camel thorn acacia tree,
and is the name historically used by locals to refer to the area,
before geological exploration teams arrived over 30 years
ago, renaming the area ‘Gope’ – literally translated
meaning ‘nowhere’.
botswana

ghaGHoo

business review

A decline was settled on as the most cost-effective access method for
the underground mine and construction of Phase 1 began mid 2011,
with production on schedule to commence in mid 2013.
Work on construction of the main camp site at the mine which commenced
during the second quarter of 2011 was largely completed by the end of
2011, with accommodation for 220 people. Earth-works activities for the
development of Phase 1 including the portal for the decline began in July
2011, following which, mobilisation for the underground access began
during the fourth quarter of 2011. As expected, tunnel development has
progressed slowly in the early stages, with approximately 53 meters
completed as at the date of this report, and a further 450 meters to reach
the basalt country rock. Thereafter 650 metres of development is required
to reach the ore body. Production from the sub-level cave will follow in
the second half of 2013.

Governance

Procurement of the long lead items for the Plant began in mid 2011 with
a view to a construction start scheduled for second quarter 2012, for
commissioning to start during the first quarter 2013.
All construction and sand decline work is being carried out by contractors,
with electrical power for the operation supplied by on-site diesel generators
and water for Phase 1 sourced from boreholes within the mining lease area.
Phase 1 of the mine development has a capital cost of US$85 million of
which US$19 million was spent in 2011.

HSSE

Financial statements

The development of the Ghaghoo HSSE system remains ongoing as
construction and operational activities expand. One Lost Time Injury
was recorded at the operation in late 2011, while zero major and/or
significant environmental incidents were recorded in the reporting period.
The Company successfully commenced the implementation of a community
water supply programme for several villages in the Central Kalahari Game
Reserve and plans to complete the project during 2012. At year end,
30% of the Company’s employees were recruited from the project
affected communities.
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operating review:
GEM DIAMONDS MARKETING
Gem Diamonds’ marketing arm was formed in 2010 and
is responsible for designing and implementing the sales
and marketing strategies as defined by the subsidiary
mines’ boards. Gem Diamonds maximises revenue
from actively managing its own multi-channel strategy
and markets its rough diamonds through a combination
of channels, including tenders, auctions, direct sales, off-take
arrangements and partnerships, and continues to pursue
additional initiatives further down the diamond pipeline.
The Group is focused on developing existing relationships
with clients and establishing relationships with new clients.
The Group’s rough diamond production is marketed primarily in Antwerp
through the use of electronic sales (eSales) technology platforms (eTender
and eAuction) which are designed to enhance engagement with customers.
eSales technology enables Gem Diamonds to interact with its customers
more frequently, dynamically and transparently, and helps ensure the
achievement of fair market-driven prices for its diamond production.
The Letšeng diamond production is sold on eTender and is marketed
by Gem Diamonds Marketing Services BVBA, a wholly-owned Group
subsidiary based in Antwerp, Belgium. The Kimberley Diamonds (Kimberley)
commercial diamond production is marketed through an outsourced service
provider via eAuctions in Antwerp and Kimberley’s higher value qualifying
fancy yellow diamond production continues to be sold to Tiffany & Co.
through the Life of Mine off-take agreement.
Letšeng and Kimberley’s new sales and marketing strategy was launched in
2010, and the results can already be seen, both in the prices being achieved
for its rough diamonds and polished diamonds and the development of the
Group’s intellectual know-how in marketing and manufacturing of rough
diamonds and the use of this own expertise in the defining of the Group
marketing structure.

MANUFACTURING
In line with the Company’s stated strategy to increase its participation in
downstream cutting and polishing for own and partnered goods, for the
full year 2011, a total of 1 624 carats were polished at a rough market value
of US$68.6 million. Of this, US$1.2 million remains unrecognised in revenue
and on hand in inventory at year end. Overall the uplift achieved on those
goods sold was at the upper end of expectations.
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GROUP FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
2011 has been a year of exceptional financial results, reporting record revenue,
underlying EBITDA and earnings, notwithstanding a downturn in the diamond
market during the last quarter of the year. The Group reports revenue
of US$395.6 million and underlying EBITDA of US$179.8 million, pre-tax
earnings from continuing operations of US$155.7 million; profit for the year
of US$105.9 million and attributable profit of US$67.7 million.

Revenue

US$395.6m
up 48%

(US$ millions)

Revenue
Cost of sales*
Royalty and selling costs
Corporate expenses
Underlying EBITDA
Depreciation and amortisation
Share-based payments
Resource extension development costs
Other income¹
Foreign exchange gain
Net finance income
Profit before tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the year from continuing operations
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations
Profit for the year
Non‑controlling interests
Attributable profit
Earnings per share (US cents)
Earnings per share – (continuing operations (US cents)

12 months
ended
31 December
2011

395.6
(168.4)
(32.1)

266.4
(147.9)
(23.2)

(15.3)

(13.3)

179.8
(30.4)
(1.5)
(1.8)
0.6
7.2
1.8
155.7
(52.9)
102.8
3.1
105.9
(38.2)
67.7
49
47

82.0
(31.8)
(1.6)
–
2.3
1.1
2.5
54.5
(18.2)
36.3
(0.1)
36.2
(16.0)
20.2
15
15

* Excluding depreciation and amortisation.
1 Included in other income is share of profit in associate of US$0.3 million in 2011 (31 December 2010: loss of US$0.3 million).
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12 months
ended
31 December
2010

Cost of sales for the period was US$168.4 million
before non-cash costs of depreciation of
US$25.8 million and amortisation on mining
assets of US$4.6 million.
Although the Lesotho loti (pegged to the South
African rand) commenced the year at extremely
high levels and devalued significantly during the
latter part of the year, the overall average was
similar to the prior year. These average levels,
however still represent a strong local currency
negatively impacting US dollar reported costs
during the year. The Australian dollar has
maintained its strong trading levels during the
year resulting in a significantly stronger average
local currency than that of the prior year. This has
also had an impact on Australia’s US dollar
reported costs during the year.

Net profit

US$67.7m
up 235%
Focus on value creation

Underlying EBITDA for the year was
US$179.8 million, up from the prior year by
US$97.8 million from US$82.0 million. The Group
managed to maintain similar underlying EBITDA
levels in the second half of the year despite the
downturn experienced in the global economy.
Profit attributable to shareholders for the year was
US$67.7 million, equating to 49 US cents per share
on a weighted average number of shares in issue
of 138 million. Earnings per share from continuing
operations amounted to 47 US cents per share.

Royalties and selling costs of US$32.1 million
mainly comprise mineral extraction costs paid
to the Lesotho Revenue Authority of 8% and to
the Australian Government of 5% on the sale
of diamonds from these respective territories
and diamond marketing related expenses.
The internal sales and marketing structure
formed by the Group in late 2010, has resulted
in a reduction in Letšeng’s selling costs from 2.5%,
to 1.5%. As a result of managing the sales and
marketing internally, the Group underlying
EBITDA in 2011 has improved by US$4.6 million
through reduced selling and marketing costs
and a positive contribution from that division.
In addition, the sales and marketing division has
indirectly contributed to the Group profitability
through the management of the manufacturing
process and downstream initiative, which has
resulted in Letšeng generating US$6.1 million
in additional revenue.

Underlying EBITDA

US$179.8m
up 119%

Corporate expenses relate to central costs incurred
by the Company and its services subsidiary, Gem
Diamond Technical Services. Corporate expenses
were US$14.9 million, impacted by the weaker
US dollar during the period (a large portion of
corporate costs are based in South African
rand), and exclude once-off project costs of
US$0.4 million resulting in total corporate costs
of US$15.3 million in 2011. Corporate costs do
not include the positive financial contribution
generated by the Group from the implementation
of the sales and marketing structure noted above.

business review

Revenue was generated primarily from the sale
of rough diamonds recovered at the Letšeng
and Ellendale mines. In addition, revenue includes
US$6.1 million additional margin generated
from the cutting and polishing business.

The following table details the relative exchange rates for 2011 compared to 2010:

7.26
8.07

7.63
9.36

6.89
6.78

7.32
6.62

(1%)
22%

0.97
0.98

0.97
1.03

0.97
0.93

1.09
0.98

(11%)
0%

Governance

Lesotho loti per US$1.00
Average exchange rate for the year/period
Year/period end exchange rate
Australian dollar per US$1.00
Average exchange rate for the year/period
Year/period end exchange rate

Financial statements

FY 2011 H2 2011 H1 2011

Variance
FY 2011
to FY
FY 2010
2010
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GROUP FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE continued
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

TAX

The operation in Indonesia was on care and
maintenance during 2011 and in October was
sold for US$5.0 million. As a result, it is no longer
carried on the Group’s Balance Sheet. All care
and maintenance costs incurred during the year
have been disclosed separately in the Income
Statement under Discontinued Operations.
The Group has recovered an overall net profit
of US$3.1 million on the sale. The impact on
the overall earnings per share was two US cents.

The effective tax rate in the year for the Group
is 34% from continuing operations, above the
UK statutory tax rate of 26.5%. The increase over
the statutory rate is predominately driven by
the dividends declared at Letšeng during the year
which result in a 10% withholding tax payable
in Lesotho. The tax rate of the Group is driven
by tax of 25% on profits generated by Letšeng
Diamonds, withholding tax of 10% on dividends
and deferred tax assets not recognised on losses
incurred in non-trading operations.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Share-based payment costs for the year amount
to US$1.5 million, comprising the allocation of the
share option awards to staff in early 2008 which
ended in April 2011, and for which no vesting took
place, and the share option award in 2010 which
expires in 2012. On 13 June 2011, the Company
announced that 1.3 million options were awarded
to Directors and senior employees. The sharebased payment cost associated with this new
award has impacted the current year’s charge
by US$0.5 million.

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
Non-controlling interests represent 30% of
the profits in Letšeng Diamonds, which are
attributable to the Company’s partner, the
Government of the Kingdom of Lesotho.

BLINA MINERALS NL
(PREVIOUSLY BLINA DIAMONDS)

On 25 November 2011, Kimberley Diamonds
ceased to account for its investment in Blina
Minerals NL (Blina) as an associate as it no longer
exerts significant influence. The difference
FOREX
between the carrying value and the fair value at
Foreign exchange gains relate to gains on the
the date the associate was derecognised and was
conversion of US dollar revenue into local currency recognised in profit and loss. The subsequent
at Letšeng, gains on exchange rate fluctuations on changes in the fair value of the investment are
Sterling denominated cash held by the Company presented in other comprehensive income.
and realised hedges entered into by the Group
For the duration that the investment was
during the period.
accounted for as an associate, the Group
recognised US$0.3 million of its share of the profits.

NET FINANCE INCOME
Net finance income comprises the net of interest
received of US$3.8 million, predominantly
generated on surplus cash from the Letšeng
operation, against US$2.0 million charged to the
Income Statement, representing the impact of
unwinding the current environmental provisions.
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RESOURCE EXTENSION
development COSTS
During the year, the Group ceased it resource
extension programme at Kimberley Diamonds.
Although the results were not favourable,
potential opportunities to recommence this
programme are possible. As a result of the current
position, the Group wrote off US$1.7 million
representing the costs previously incurred.
No other impairments on non-current assets
were identified in the period.

Group cash was supplemented by a net
cash inflow from operations for the year of
US$203.3 million. Investments in property, plant
and equipment amounted to US$125.0 million.
The largest component of this investment was
US$81.3 million, incurred in waste stripping at
both mining operations. For Letšeng, plant and
equipment investment relates to infrastructure
costs associated with the Life of Mine extension
and studies relating to the expansion project. For
Kimberley Diamonds, this relates to infrastructure
costs associated with additional slimes capacity,
modifications to the primary plant feed section
of the processing plant and work on the resource
extension programme. For Ghaghoo the
investment relates to the development of the
underground mine in Phase 1.
During the year total dividends declared by
Letšeng Diamonds were US$121.3 million, which
resulted in a net cashflow of US$76.4 million to
Gem Diamonds and a cash outflow from the
Group of US$8.5 million as a result of withholding
taxes and US$36.4 million in payments of the
Government of Lesotho’s portion of the dividend.
During November, Letšeng signed a three
year revolving working capital facility of Maloti
250 million (US$31.0 million) with Standard
Lesotho Bank. This facility is available for drawdown from January 2012.

No other fact or circumstance has taken place
during the period covered by the financial
statements and up to the date of this report
which in our opinion, is of significance in
assessing the state of the Group’s affairs.

Focus on value creation

The Group had US$158.7 million cash on hand
at the period end (of which US$141.8 million is
attributable and US$1.6 million is restricted).

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE
YEAR END

GOVERNANCE
Gem Diamonds is an independent company
which finances its own operations via a
decentralised corporate model. It does not rely
upon any financial support from the Government
of any country in which it operates and complies
with, and benefits from, as appropriate and
legitimate, all legal and regulatory requirements
to operate.
No actions relating to anti-competitive behaviour,
anti-trust and/or monopoly practices have been
taken against Gem Diamonds.
It is now almost 11 years since the Kimberley
Process was introduced to the diamond industry.
The process has grown in reputation and has
contributed to the virtual eradication of the trade
in conflict diamonds. Gem Diamonds is firmly
committed to the principles of the Kimberley
Process and all diamonds sold by the Group
are Kimberley Process certified.

business review

CASH AND DEBT

Financial statements

Governance

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited
(ANZ Bank) has issued performance guarantees on
behalf of Kimberley Diamonds to the amount of
US$9.4 million, of which US$7.0 million is cashbacked to support environmental obligations for
protection of the land on which mining, mining
related activities or exploration is conducted.
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MINERAL RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
The Mineral Resource Management function was developed further during
the course of 2011, with structural improvements implemented at both Letšeng
and Ellendale. Resource Development Plans (RDPs) at both operations were
implemented during 2011 to improve the confidence in the resource categories
and identify any depth extensions of the respective resource bases.

At Letšeng a comprehensive infill and deep
drilling core programme, on both the Satellite
and Main kimberlite orebodies was initiated in
November 2011, with completion of this drilling
expected by mid 2012. The programme aims to
extend the Inferred mineral resource at depth and
improve the geological resolution of the existing
Indicated resources. Nine discrete production
samples were obtained during the course of the
year, totalling some 450 000 tonnes, sampling all
five facies that were mined during the course of
the year. The production sampling done to date
indicates that all facies mined during 2011 have
outperformed the resource grades effective as
at 31 December 2010. The concluded results of
this sampling will be incorporated in the revised
resource statement planned to be released in
the second quarter of 2012.

RESOURCE PERFORMANCE

The resource performance (grade and US$ per
carat revenue) is measured against the end 2010
resource statement estimates (see Mineral
Resource Statement Reporting section below).
Grade reconciliation is based on expected carat
production from provenance analysis of the
various facies loaded and treated on a daily basis
versus the actual carats recovered. The US$ per
carat revenue reconciliation is calculated in a
similar manner based on ore provenance analysis
versus the actual revenue realised from the
relevant tender period. These resource
measurements are important measures
highlighting possible resource under or
over-performance, process problems and also
importantly price gaps due to a changing market
environment. (Note that the ore treated by the
At Ellendale the RDP aimed to improve confidence contractor miner, Alluvial Ventures, is excluded
and identify possible extensions in the E9, E4
from the Letšeng reconciliation. Alluvial Ventures
and E4 Satellite lamproite orebodies. Whilst the
produces only approximately 10% of the annual
resolution of the known resources has been
carats at Letšeng, using a different treatment
improved, unfortunately no major extensions to
process and for this reason is excluded from
these resources were identified. As part of the
the resource reconciliation calculation).
RDP a resource extension plan outside of the
main orebodies was also undertaken, testing
ANNUAL GRADE RECONCILIATION
other known lamproites in the field and
identifying new lamproites. This programme
• The Letšeng 2011 annual grade reconciliation⁷
will be concluded during the first half of 2012.
is 15% above expected (1.73 carats per hundred
tonnes actual versus 1.50 carats per hundred
tonnes expected). This higher than expected
grade is a function of improved production
plant performance in the recovery of smaller
diamonds and resource over-performance
in certain facies of the orebodies. These
higher grades will be reflected in the 2012
resource statement.
• The overall Ellendale 2011 annual grade
reconciliation is 9% below expected
(3.6 carats per hundred tonnes actual versus
4.22 carats per hundred tonnes expected).
The shortfall in grade was largely due to plant
underperformance, with problems at the
front-end of the plant identified, resulting
7 Letšeng’s 2011 annual grade reconciliation excludes Alluvial Ventures.
in diamond lockup and loss.
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• The overall Letšeng 2011 annual revenue
reconciliation⁸ is 8% above expected
(US$2 872 per carat actual versus US$2 654 per
carat expected). Although diamond prices have
fluctuated widely during the year (spot prices
on average across the diamond market as
high as 100% above year start levels in certain
categories, before dropping in the last quarter)
it is believed the year to date revenue MCF of
108% is in line with current spot price levels
for large fine goods. The US$ per carat estimates
will be revised accordingly in the 2012 resource
statement.
• The overall Ellendale 2011 annual revenue
reconciliation is 38% above expected
(US$731 per carat actual versus US$531 per carat
expected). Marked increases in the prices
achieved for Tiffany Quality (TQ) goods was the
main driver behind this over-performance, with
TQ goods price levels ending 2011 some 27%
above year-start price levels.

MINERAL RESOURCE STATEMENT
REPORTING
An Independent Resource Statement was
prepared for Gem Diamonds by Venmyn Rand
in the first quarter of 2011, as part of a NI43-101
Technical report, also prepared by Venmyn Rand.
In the following summary table, prepared by
Gem Diamonds, total resources (not attributable)
are stated, inclusive of reserves.

Focus on value creation

ANNUAL REVENUE RECONCILIATION
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8 Letšeng’s Annual Revenue reconciliation excludes sales from Alluvial
Ventures’ production.

As at 31 December 2010

Country

Ownership

Lesotho
– Letšeng
Botswana
– Gope

100%

3.7

Australia
– Ellendale

100%

9.2*

Total

70% 76.4

89.4

Carats
(m)

$/ct

Indicated resources
Ore
Grade
(mT) (cts/100T)

1.60

1.22 2 631 77.0

26.47

0.99 203 79.4

6.27* 0.58* 346* 18.1
3.12

2.79 1 297 174.5

Carats
(m)

1.61

$/ct

Inferred resources
Ore
Grade
(mT) (cts/100T)

Carats
(m)

Total resources

$/ct

Ore
Grade
(mT) (cts/100T)

1.24 2 629 141.0

1.72

2.42 2 733 217.9

19.51 15.49 223 28.8

17.52

5.04 222 108.2

6.19

1.12

245 68.4

5.23

3.57

10.23 17.85

391 238.1

4.64 11.04

215

86.5

771 412.6

1.68

Carats
(m)

3.66 2 698

18.98 20.53
5.43

$/ct

223

4.69

222

7.00 28.89

536

Governance

Probable reserves
Ore
Grade
(mT) (cts/100T)

* Ellendale probable reserves include E4.

For the detailed statements please see:
http://www.gemdiamonds.com/gem/en/investors/resource_reserve/

Financial statements

http://www.gemdiamonds.com/gem/dlibrary/documents/Gem_IndependentTechnicalReport_18May20111.pdf
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PRINCIPAL RISKS
Risks to our business: The Group’s operational and growth performance is
influenced and impacted by a number of risks. Many of these risks are beyond
the control of the Group but a formal risk management process exists to assist
in identifying and reviewing potential risks. Mitigating plans are formulated and
reviewed regularly to understand their effectiveness and progress. The Group
is focused on continuously analysing and assessing the risks faced and improving
the risk management process accordingly. The following key risks have been
identified by the Group. The list is by no means exhaustive and may change
over a period of time, as the impact and likelihood of the risks is assessed
as part of the risk management process.
MARKET RISKS PERTINENT TO THE GROUP
Commentary
The period and stability of the recovery of the financial markets and
the impact on consumer preferences post the 2008 global economic
crisis impacts the Group and the industry as a whole. This potentially
compounds the existing short term imbalance between demand and
supply and the impact that this has on the diamond pipeline. Diamond
prices remain volatile and sensitive to the market uncertainty.

Mitigation
A change in consumer preferences away from diamonds due to negative
sentiment towards diamonds and/or diamond mining is a continuing risk.
Although the Group cannot materially influence the situation, the market
conditions are continually monitored to identify current trends that will
pose a threat or create an opportunity for the Group.

OPERATIONAL RISKS PERTINENT TO THE GROUP
Commentary
A major production interruption at either Kimberley Diamonds
or Letšeng Diamonds
The Group may experience material mine and/or plant shutdowns
or periods of decreased production due to a number of different
events. Any such events could negatively affect the Group’s operations
and impact both profitability and cashflows.
Mineral resource risk
The Group’s ability to operate profitably in the medium to long term
depends heavily on knowledge of the Group’s mineral resource,
which influences the operational mine plans and the generation
of sufficient margins.
Life of mine at Kimberley
The Ellendale E9 pipe has a relatively short remaining life.
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Mitigation

The continual review of the likelihood of possible different events
and ensuring that the appropriate management controls, processes
and business continuity plans are in place mitigate this risk.

Various bulk sampling programmes combined with geological mapping
and modelling methods significantly improve the Group’s understanding
of the mineral resources and assist in mining the existing mineral
resources profitably.
The Group continues to review all options, including assessing the
current geological information and current lamproite resources with
a view of identifying opportunities to extend the life of the Kimberley
Diamonds’ operation.

Health, safety, social and environmental responsibility related risks
The risk that a major health, safety, social or environmental incident may
occur within the Group is inherent in mining operations.

The Group has formulated and published policies in this regard and
significant resources have been allocated to continuously improve,
review, recommend, implement and monitor compliance throughout
the various operations within the Group. Further to this, the Group
engages independent third parties to review and provide assurance
on processes currently in place.

Diamond theft
Theft is an inherent risk factor in the diamond industry.

All the necessary precautions have been put in place in order to
minimise this risk.
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POLITICAL RISKS PERTINENT TO THE GROUP
Commentary								
The political environments of the various jurisdictions that the Group
operates within may adversely impact the ability to operate effectively
and profitably.

Mitigation

The geographical dispersal of the Group’s operations internationally
mitigates the impact of this on the Group to a limited extent.

Commentary								
Exchange Rates
The Group receives its revenue in US dollars while its cost base arises in local
currencies based on the various countries within which the Group operates.
The weakening of the US dollar relative to these local currencies and the
volatility of these currencies trading against the US dollar will impact the
Group’s profitability.
Inability to achieve profitability and cash generation in the medium
to long term
The financial impact of the risks that may affect the Group may individually,
or in a combination, affect the ability of the Group to operate profitably
and generate positive cash flow in the medium to long term.

Focus on value creation

finanCiAL RISKS PERTINENT TO THE GROUP
Mitigation

The impact of the exchange rates and fluctuations are closely monitored.

The various risk management processes described above provide a
substantial base from which to assess, monitor and mitigate this risk.

GROWTH PLANS

Project governance structures have been implemented to ensure that the
projects are monitored and risks managed at an appropriate level.

Governance

Strict treasury management procedures are also in place to monitor this risk.

Financial statements

Inability to achieve planned growth
The Group’s growth strategy is based on various studies, cost indications
and future market assumptions. Although due process in assessing the
viability, costs and implementation of these projects is undertaken, risks
with regards to cost overruns and/or delays may impact the effective
implementation thereof. The funding of these growth plans could
also be adversely affected by negative market conditions.

Mitigation
business review

Commentary								
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT REPORT
This year, Gem Diamonds produced its fourth Sustainable Development report
based on the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) guideline. This section comprises
a brief summary of its progress in Corporate Social Responsibility. The Company
is proud of its achievements and as such would encourage shareholders and
stakeholders to access the full 2011 Sustainable Development report on the
Gem Diamonds website www.gemdiamonds.com

OUR APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY
Gem Diamonds regards the health and safety of
its employees, responsible care of its surrounding
environment and good standing with its
communities as both a business imperative and
a moral obligation. The Company chooses to
employ a multi-level management approach to
its business processes by employing international
best practice standards relating to corporate
social responsibility, translating into the effective,
balanced and practical implementation of
the Triple Bottom Line concept.
Creating sustainable value
In order to maximise the return on investment for
its shareholders and stakeholders, Gem Diamonds
researches and implements ways to progress
the capturing of additional margins from its
businesses. To this end, the Ghaghoo operation
commenced construction in 2011 and the
expansion of the Letšeng operation was approved
in November 2011. The formation of Gem
Diamonds Marketing Services in late 2010, which
comprises an improved sales platform as well as
cutting and polishing capabilities, has allowed
the Company to expand its footprint downstream
in the diamond market pipeline. The benefit of
the additional profits derived from these activities
directly impacts the nations in which the
Group operates.
Apart from creating sustainable value for the
nations in which the Company operates through
payment of statutory taxes and royalties, Gem
Diamonds contributes to the local and regional
economies in which it operates through
maximising local employment and procurement
as far as is practicable for the business. The Group
continually searches for opportunities to expand
the skills resource base in its local communities in
order to ensure optimisation of the employment
of local people, as well as to optimise the
utilisation of local service and product suppliers.
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Group-wide local
contributions in 2011

Project Affected Community
based purchasing/procurement
Regional based
purchasing/procurement
Total in-country
purchasing/procurement
Project Affected Community
based local employee costs
Regionally based local
employee costs
Total in-country based local
employee costs

US$’000

20 266
85 107
226 019
5 711
12 205
37 090

Governance
Being listed on the London Stock Exchange,
Gem Diamonds adheres to the most rigorous
and widely recognised international best
practice standards in respect of financial,
corporate governance and corporate social
responsibility aspects.
Appropriate Health, Safety, Social and
Environmental (HSSE) policies, procedures and
management systems have been developed
and implemented at each operation that ensure
adherence to relevant host country and
international best practices standards. Operational
management structures are in place at each
operating subsidiary that facilitate cooperative
and transparent communication at all levels of the
business, whilst providing the required assurance
to the operational boards.
The operations are supported by the Gem
Diamonds HSSE Committee at Board level that is
responsible for the implementation of Group level
policies, standards and strategic guidance in
respect of HSSE matters. The Committee reports
directly to the Gem Diamonds Board of Directors
and provides assurance in respect of the
appropriateness and adequacy of operational
HSSE management.

Gem Diamonds continues to adhere to the
standards of the Kimberley Process and as such, all
diamonds produced by the Group, are Kimberley
Process certified.
During 2011, a decision was taken to commence
registration with the Responsible Jewellery
Council in early 2012.

CREATING A SAFE AND
HEALTHY WORK ENVIRONMENT
Gem Diamonds regards its employees as one
of its most valuable assets and therefore, it
places a high premium on their health and safety.
A core operational value throughout the Group
is that every job shall be undertaken in a safe
manner. The health of the Group’s employees
however goes beyond occupational health and
safety, and extends to serious disease assistance
and the management of site specific
environmental diseases.

Focus on value creation

Regrettably the safety record at Letšeng
was disappointing, with the tragic loss of two
colleagues, Letebele Soai and Makalo ‘Mako.
A further three Lost Time Injuries were recorded
at Letšeng and one at Ghaghoo, resulting in a
Group-wide Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate
of 0.25, which is in excess of the Group’s zero
threshold target. The Group-wide All Injury
Frequency Rate was 4.54 which is below
the threshold of 5.05.
The high quality of proactive safety management
at Ellendale has yielded satisfactory results at
the operation, while a Behaviour Based Safety
(BBS) system implementation commenced at
Letšeng in 2011 to address safety management
deficiencies.
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The Company’s goal is to achieve ‘Zero Harm’
on a sustainable basis across all its operations
and will continue to refine and improve its
health and safety management systems through
ongoing identification and implementation of
appropriate continuous improvement measures.
The Company continues to set itself a target to
achieve zero fatalities and zero Lost Time Injuries.
For more information in respect of specific
Key Performance Indicators, refer to the full
Sustainable Development Report http://www.
gemdiamonds.com/gem/en/sustainable development/sd-reporting/

DEVELOPING AND
RETAINING OUR PEOPLE
Without the right people in the right roles,
the Company cannot create an ongoing and
sustainable benefit for anyone who is impacted
by its business. Gem Diamonds is a responsible
employer and treats its staff fairly and respectfully.
Gem Diamonds does not tolerate any human
rights abuses, discrimination or labour right
infringements and has implemented systems to
monitor and manage these aspects of its business.
No cases of discrimination, human rights
infringements or abuse were recorded in 2011.

Governance

Compliance with voluntary standards
Given the diversity of jurisdictions in which the
Group operates, this brings to bear a wide range
of legislative and operational risks that are unique
to each operation. In addition, health, safety,
environmental, community and corporate social
responsibility risk and opportunities are diverse
across the subsidiaries and comprise aspects such
as HIV/AIDS, climate extremes and workforce
literacy levels. In order to ensure that the
subsidiaries are managed effectively, taking
unique conditions into account, each operation
has its own governance structures in place,
including its own Board. This allows for
management flexibility and independence
within the decision-making processes – an aspect
which is especially important when it comes to
delivering on the Group-wide core value of the
Triple Bottom Line. Gem Diamonds has elected to
utilise the International Finance Corporation (IFC)
Environmental, Health and Safety (EH&S) standard
and guidelines as its international best practice
guidance standard, over and above relevant host
country legislation. The operational Safety, Health
and Environmental management systems
are based on the principles of ISO 18 000 and
ISO 14 001, while the GRI serves as the reporting
basis for the Company in respect of corporate
social responsibility.
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Gem Diamonds strives to be a preferred employer
in the areas where it operates and remunerates
the lowest graded employees at a rate of
between 126% and 164% above host country
legislated minimum wages. Skilled employees’
remuneration is based on individual skills,
Health and safety management systems at the
knowledge, experience and performance, as
well as being based on current market trends.
Group’s operations are rooted in the principles of
ISO 18 000 and as a minimum, ensures compliance The Company has implemented a performancebased incentive and reward scheme at each
with local legislation.
operation, aimed at drawing and retaining top
Concerning HSSE aspects, the Company had a year calibre employees and rewarding superior
of satisfactory progress and performance at the
performance. Given the remoteness of the
majority of its operations, with Ellendale, Cempaka operating subsidiaries, shift rotations have been
and Chiri all achieving a second Lost Time Injury and configured in such a manner as to minimise
disruption to employee’s normal social and family
Fatality free year in a row. This is an achievement
structures in as far as is practicable.
that the Company is particularly proud of.
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT REPORT CONTINUED
At year end, the Gem Diamonds workforce
comprised 2 109 people, a 20% increase from 2010.

including technologies and processes that achieve
actual resource reduction.

Gem Diamonds has systems in place to ensure
appropriate professional development and career
progression for its employees. The completion of
comprehensive career reviews will be an area of
focus for all operations across the Group.

MINIMISING OUR
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT

The maximisation of employment of people from
project affected communities remains a priority
for all operations. At year end and subsequent
to the successful completion of the Indigenous
Employee Training Programme at Ellendale, the
operation achieved 8% Indigenous employment.
As a result of collaboration between Ghaghoo
and the Kaudwane Village Development
Committee, 30% of the Ghaghoo workforce
comprises employees from the project
affected communities of Kaudwane, Sojwe, and
Lephepe and other villages in the CKGR. At the
year end, Letšeng’s workforce comprised 94%
Lesotho nationals.

Although Gem Diamonds’ operations are located
in remote areas, the ecosystem processes and
communities surrounding the operations remain
dependent on the environments in which the
Company operates. As such, Gem Diamonds has a
legal and moral obligation to exercise responsible
care and minimise its impacts as far as is
practicably possible. This is achieved through
understanding the components that make
up the receiving environment in which the
operations are located, through undertaking
in-depth scientific research and subsequently,
appropriate management systems are
developed and implemented.

Each operation has an approved Environmental
Impact Assessment (EIA) and Environmental
In order to develop and retain the most talented
Management Plan (EMP) in place which is strictly
employees, Gem Diamonds intends to focus on
adhered to. These plans are supported by aspect
the refinement of career review and development specific plans such as detailed biodiversity
processes at all the operations in 2012 and will
management, waste management and resource
continue to assess and implement appropriate
consumption minimisation plans. None of
human rights and vocational training programmes. Gem Diamonds’ operations were liable in terms
of fines, transgressions and/or sanctions from
any authorities in the jurisdictions in which the
REDUCING OUR RESOURCE
Group operates in respect of environmental
CONSUMPTION
non-compliance.
Resource consumption minimisation is partly
Zero major environmental incidents were recorded
a moral obligation to ensure the preservation
in 2011 for the Group, while two significant
of resources for future generations. It is also a
incidents were recorded at Letšeng and one at
business imperative since the mining industry
Ellendale. Appropriate remedial and corrective
traditionally relies on high levels of energy
actions were implemented. Further detail is
and water usage in particular. As a result, Gem
provided in the full Sustainable Development
Diamonds is also potentially exposed to future
report http://www.gemdiamonds.com/gem/en/
price rises as a result of growing demand and
sustainable - development/sd-reporting/
threats to security of supply.
The operations have also continued to refine
Each operation has implemented management
their integrated and ongoing environmental
strategies to reduce resource consumption,
rehabilitation planning processes, while
specifically related to energy and water and
progressive environmental management tools
continually research innovative ways in which
such as Landscape Function Analysis and
to achieve actual reductions in its resource and
Ecosystems Goods and Services assessments are
environmental footprint. In 2011, Ellendale and
being implemented at the operations. As a result
Ghaghoo implemented two environmental
of this ongoing refinement of the Group-wide
optimisation projects each, while Letšeng
understanding of the operational rehabilitation
successfully implemented six such projects. As a
liability, the Group’s provision for sudden and
result of these projects, raw water consumption
unforeseen closure at year end was quantified
was reduced by 51% from 2010 across the Group.
Total energy consumption increased by 13% from at US$42.8 million, a 9.2% increase from 2010.
2010 as a result of increased production, while
Gem Diamonds’ operations always strive to keep
energy per tonne of material moved was 1% lower clearance and disturbance of natural areas to a
than in 2010. Letšeng completed a major project
minimum. A total of 125 hectares of land was
to improve mining efficiencies and at year end
newly disturbed in 2011, comprising 2.47% of
achieved an average 13.5% reduction in fuel
total land owned or managed by the Group.
consumption per tonne of material moved, across
A Group-wide carbon footprint of 87 541 tonnes
the mining fleet. During construction of the
of carbon equivalent was recorded in 2011,
Ghaghoo mine, all ablution facilities were fitted
which represents a 3.3% reduction on 2010.
with solar geysers and where practicable LED
It should be noted that this quantification
lighting was installed throughout the mine.
represents only energy consumption at the
In 2012, Gem Diamonds will continue to seek ways operations and excludes all travel and supply
chain related components.
in which to reduce its environmental footprint,
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All operations continue to create a lasting legacy
in the areas where they operate, through the
contribution to local economies via payment
of taxes and royalties where relevant, but also
through the optimisation of local employment
and procurement, as well as the development
of sustainable Corporate Social Investment
(CSI) projects.
CSI projects are developed based on detailed
community needs assessments and are subjected
to business planning and sustainability verification
processes prior to implementation. This ensures
that projects are culturally appropriate to the
specific project affected communities, have a high
likelihood of achieving success and will function
sustainably and independent of the mining
operations. The Group focuses on projects related
to health, education, infrastructure, small and
medium enterprises and regional environmental
initiatives. In 2011, it invested US$1.1 million into
selected CSI projects across the Group.
At Letšeng the projects executed in 2011 form
part of a three year CSI implementation plan
and the Company is particularly pleased
with the successes achieved in respect of the
implementation of the Wool and Mohair and the
Livelihoods and Food Security projects. Ellendale
continues to make significant contributions to
the Healthy Lifestyles and Kimberley Girl projects
in the Fitzroy Valley and continues to support a
variety of worthy causes. Ghaghoo commenced
the drilling of boreholes in several villages within
the Central Kalahari Game Reserve as part of an
ongoing community water supply project.
Ellendale remains involved in the integration of its
CSI programme with the operational mine closure
plan, in order to ensure that the project affected
communities continue to benefit from the
operation’s positive legacy even after closure.

Focus on value creation

As throughout the Company’s history, no cases
of bribery, corruption, anti-competitive behaviour,
anti-trust and/or monopoly practices were
brought against the Company or its subsidiaries
in 2011 and the Company continues to refine its
policies and practices to prevent such practices
from occurring.

PRODUCT INTEGRITY
Product integrity in all its components is of
extreme importance to Gem Diamonds and
serves to maximise trust in its conduct and
practices with the market in general, and
specifically with its shareholders and clients.
The Company builds trust with its stakeholders
and shareholders through engaging them in
continuous and transparent communication
and consultation and through the rigorous
adherence to relevant industry standards.

business review

All operations will
continue to enforce
and monitor adherence
to legislative, best
practice and site
specific environmental
management practices
and processes. Zero
tolerance for major
environmental incidents
will continue in 2012,
while each operation is
expected to implement
a new practicable
environmental
optimisation project.

The communities which are in proximity to
Gem Diamonds’ operations are its neighbours
and the Company takes seriously its responsibility
to maintain good relations with its project
affected communities. Gem Diamonds places
a high value on the respectful and mutually
beneficial relationship with its communities
around the world. The Group is pleased to report
that in 2011, zero major stakeholder incidents
were reported for a third year in a row and the
Company continues to foster open, transparent
and mutually respectful relationships with its
project affected communities.

No resettlement of communities was undertaken
during 2011 and it is not anticipated to be
necessary at any of the existing operations.

As such, Gem Diamonds continues to adhere to
moral and statutory requirements and obligations
that ensure that the Company’s diamonds are
ethically and responsibly produced. Since the
Company’s formation all diamonds produced
and sold have been Kimberley Process Certified.
The Company’s diamonds are sold to the most
elite diamantaires in the world on an invitation
basis only. This is done primarily to ensure that
all the Company’s diamonds reach the market
through only the most reputable diamantaires,
who have a full appreciation for the uniqueness
of these products and the associated integrity
with which they are produced.

Governance

OPTIMISING COMMUNITY BENEFIT

This will be achieved through the development
and implementation of projects such as the
establishment of a joint venture company to
generate ongoing income for the Bunuba people
of the Fitzroy Valley.

Gem Diamonds places a high premium on client
confidentiality and has developed its smart sales
and marketing ePlatforms in a manner to ensure
that the highest standard of confidentiality is
effectively achieved.
Given the extremely high value of the Company’s
diamonds, product security remains a key focus
for all operations within the Group. As a result
several operational changes have been
implemented in 2011 and will continue to
be refined and expanded in 2012.
2012 will be a year in which the Group continues
to expand its involvement in the diamond
pipeline beyond the mine gate. The Company
is investigating prospects including in-country
cutting and polishing in Lesotho and Mauritius
and expanding the cutting and polishing
capabilities in Antwerp.
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All operations will continue to enforce and monitor
adherence to legislative, best practice and site
specific environmental management practices and
processes. Zero tolerance for major environmental
incidents will continue in 2012, while each
operation is expected to implement a new
practicable environmental optimisation project.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS 2011
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Roger Davis (55)
non-Executive Chairman
Roger spent eight years at Barclays, latterly as the CEO of the UK banking
operation and as a member of the Board of Barclays Plc. Under his
leadership, the UK business was significantly restructured. Prior to that,
he spent ten years in investment banking in London and held various
positions in China and India for Flemings and BZW. Roger started his career
with a 12 year service in the British Army. He joined Gem Diamonds in
February 2007. Roger is currently the non-Executive Chairman of Cabot
Credit Management Ltd and of GRC Ltd, and is also a non-Executive
Director at Experian plc.
Key skills and experience:
Commercial and Capital Markets; Public Company Board Governance

Dave Elzas (45)
non-Executive Director
Dave has over 15 years working experience in international investment
banking. Between 1994 and 2000, Dave served as a Senior Executive and
subsequently Managing Director of the Beny Steinmetz Group. Dave is
currently the Senior Partner and CEO of the Geneva Management Group,
an international wealth management and financial services company and
was appointed as a director of Zanaga Iron Ore Co. Ltd in November 2010.
Dave joined Gem Diamonds in October 2005.
Key skills and experience:
Finance; Diamond Industry Trading; Capital Markets

Mike Salamon (57)
Senior Independent Director
Mike is a mining engineer with an MBA and has over 30 years experience
in the mining sector. He was a founding director of Billiton and was
instrumental in Billiton’s IPO on the London Stock Exchange in 1997 and
the subsequent merger with BHP in 2001. Mike retired from his position of
Executive Director at BHP Billiton in 2006 and is now the Chairman of New
World Resources, a non-Executive Director of Central Rand Gold, Ferrexpo
Plc and Minera las Cenizas. Mike joined Gem Diamonds in February 2008.
Key skills and experience:
Operational – Mining, Projects, Health and Safety, Sustainability,
Corporate Social Responsibility; Capital Markets

Gavin Beevers (62)
non-Executive Director
Gavin was the Director of Operations at De Beers from April 2000 until
his retirement in 2004. He had joined De Beers in 1979 and was based
in Botswana for 11 years. Thereafter he was appointed Assistant General
Manager at De Beers Marine in Cape Town until 1994, whereafter he
returned to Botswana as General Manager at the Orapa and Lethlakane
Mines. From January 1996 to March 2000, Gavin held the position
of Deputy Managing Director of Debswana Diamond Company.
Gavin joined Gem Diamonds in February 2007.
Key skills and experience:
Operational – Mining, Health and Safety, Sustainability,
Corporate Social Responsibility
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Richard Williams MBE MC (45)
non-Executive Director
Richard spent 20 years in the British Army, latterly as the Commanding
Officer of 22 SAS Regiment, during which time he saw service across the
Middle East, Latin America and Africa. Richard has an MBA from Cranfield
University and a Masters in International Security Studies from King’s
College, London. Richard is a founding member of Central Asian Resources
Ltd, a mining investment company focused on Central Asia, CEO of
Afghan Gold and Minerals Company, and a non-Executive Director of
Henderson Risk Limited, a UK and Africa based risk management business.
Richard joined Gem Diamonds in February 2008.
Key skills and experience:
Security; Capital Markets

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Glenn Turner (51)
Chief Legal and Commercial Officer

Alan Ashworth (57)
Chief Operating Officer
Alan holds a BSc in Mining Engineering and has 36 years experience in
the mining industry. During his career he has worked in various countries,
including South Africa, Namibia, Botswana, Guinea, Ghana and Russia.
He spent 28 years within the De Beers group, including four years as the
General Manager of the Namdeb Diamond corporation and four years
as the Group Manager, Operations and Head of Operations for De Beers
Consolidated Mining. From January 2006 until August 2007, he was the
Managing Director of Gold Fields’ Ghana operations in West Africa.
Alan joined Gem Diamonds in November 2007 and was appointed
to the Board in April 2008.
Key skills and experience:
Operational – Mining, Health and Safety, Sustainability,
Corporate Social Responsibility
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Key skills and experience:
Finance; Diamond Industry; Capital Markets

Glenn was called to the Johannesburg Bar in 1987 where he spent
14 years practising as an advocate specialising in general commercial
and competition law, and took silk in 2002. Glenn was appointed
De Beers’ first General Counsel in 2002 and was also a member
of the Executive Committee. Glenn was responsible for a number
of key initiatives during his tenure, including overseeing De Beers’
re-entry into the USA. Glenn joined Gem Diamonds in May 2006
and was appointed to the Board in April 2008.
Key skills and experience:
Diamond Industry; Legal
Governance

Key skills and experience:
Diamond and Mining Industries; Commercial and Capital Markets

Kevin has 27 years experience in the mining industry having worked for
De Beers and Anglo American between 1985 and 2005, and Xstrata in 2005.
Previously he was the Group Manager – Finance at De Beers where he
had responsibility for the financial aspects of all De Beers’ operations and
exploration activities across the globe. In addition he has held strategic
leadership positions covering supply chain, IT, risk management, internal
audit and business strategy. Kevin completed his articles with Coopers
and Lybrand in 1984 and is a registered chartered accountant.
Kevin joined Gem Diamonds in January 2006.

Financial statements

Clifford joined Anglo American Corporation in 1986 and was seconded to
E. Oppenheimer and Son as Harry Oppenheimer’s personal assistant in 1988.
In 1990, he was appointed Managing Director of E. Oppenheimer and Son,
a position he held until leaving in December 2004. During that time, Clifford
was also a director of Central Holdings, Anglo American and DB Investments.
Following the privatisation of De Beers in 2000, Clifford served on the
De Beers Executive Committee. Clifford formed Gem Diamonds in July 2005.
Clifford is also the non-Executive Chairman of Zanaga Iron Ore Co. Limited.

Kevin Burford (53)
Chief Financial Officer

Focus on value creation

Clifford Elphick (51)
Chief Executive Officer
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
Chairman’s Overview of Corporate Governance
The Board regards the setting, maintenance and review of high standards of corporate governance as an essential part of its work.
In 2010/11 it reviewed the revised UK Corporate Governance Code (CGC) and modified its corporate governance practices as appropriate.
With the exception of CGC B7 where, in common with other companies, last year the whole board did not retire but will do so this year,
I am pleased to confirm that the Company has adhered to the principles of the CGC published in June 2010. In respect of provisions the
only exceptions relate to two provisions (B.2.1 and C.3.1 Committee membership) where we felt that to comply for the sake of compliance
would not prove more effective to the management of your company and the effectiveness of the committee. This is more fully explained
in the following Corporate Governance Report.
Governance helps us to do the right thing for our shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers, local communities and the environment
in the right way. Therefore whilst I am ultimately responsible for the application of the various provisions of the CGC, specific responsibility
is delegated to individuals whose task it is to ensure adoption. These would include the Company Secretary and the Chairmen of the
various committees.
As Chairman of the Board, I am responsible for its leadership and for ensuring its effectiveness. I believe that effective governance is realised
through collaboration. I expect all directors, but particularly non-Executive Directors to constructively challenge proposals that come to
the Board for decision and to contribute to the development of the strategy. This is one of the criteria I have used in determining the
contribution of Directors during the year. As a board we have reviewed the CGC ensuring that the principles are integral to the manner
in which the board addresses both its routine and strategic processes.
We monitor trends in corporate governance adapting practices so as to improve the overall control of our business which I believe will
lead to a more effective board and facilitate my leadership role.
Board evaluation was by way of a questionnaire carried out internally but the results were analysed by an outside consultant.
The evaluation aimed at measuring the effectiveness of the Board as a whole. This year we will be conducting individual assessments
of board members and the process of strategic planning.
We strive to apply best practice to Corporate Responsibility, Environment Management and Health and Safety, which is closely aligned
to employee communications and development.
In the following pages you will find overviews of our primary four committees plus detailed information of their operation within the
governance framework overall.
The Company has implemented a review of its policies and procedures in the light of the Bribery Act and the principles set out in the
related Ministry of Justice Guidance. Ernst & Young is supporting the senior management of the Company in this review. This review
is ongoing during 2012.
In this part of the Annual Report we explain our approach to corporate governance and describe in general terms how our business
is organised and managed.

Roger Davis
Chairman
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UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE COMPLIANCE
This report addresses the status of the Company’s compliance with the principles and provisions of the CGC, and details the key policies,
processes and structures that apply to the Company.
The Company has fully complied with the best practice governance provisions of the CGC for the year up to 31 December 2011 with two
exceptions and notes below those periods during the year when it was not fully compliant:
Focus on value creation

• As previously advised, the position of Lord Renwick on the Audit Committee was taken by Roger Davis on 25 August 2009. As Roger Davis
is also Chairman of the Board, this was not in compliance with Section C.3.1 of the CGC. This situation will continue for the foreseeable
future but will be kept under review. In this regard the Chairman is considered to be independent.
• At the time of Lord Renwick’s resignation it was decided that his position on the Nominations Committee would not be filled as the
conduct and performance of the Committee was seen as working effectively with its present membership (Roger Davis, Clifford Elphick
and Mike Salamon) and the Committee did not feel that filling the vacancy, simply to comply with CGC B.2.1. would improve the
effectiveness of the Committee. The situation was last reviewed in November 2011 when it was decided to make no change.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

business review

The role of the Board
The Board is responsible to shareholders for the performance and governance of the Company within a framework of policies and controls
which provide for effective risk identification, assessment and management. The Board provides leadership and articulates the Company’s
objectives and strategy to achieve those objectives. The Board sets standards of conduct which provide an ethical framework for all of the
Company’s business functions. While the Board focuses on strategic issues, financial performance, risk management and critical business
issues, it also has a formal schedule of matters that it does not delegate. These reserved matters, which are documented in a comprehensive
list of authorisation levels and prior approval requirements for key corporate decisions and actions, are reviewed and updated annually by the
Board. Such matters reserved to the Board include, but are not limited to, approval of budgets and business plans, major capital expenditure,
major acquisitions, disposals and bank borrowing.
Whilst all Directors have equal responsibility in law for managing the Company’s affairs, it is the role of the executive management to run the
business within the parameters laid down by the Board and to produce clear, accurate and timely reports to enable the Board to monitor and
assess management’s performance. The executive management draws on the expertise and experience which the non-Executive Directors
bring from their various business careers.
All Directors are free to express their views and may ask that these be recorded in the minutes where appropriate. The Company maintains
at its expense, a Directors and Officers liability insurance policy to provide an indemnity in certain circumstances for the benefit of Directors
and other Group personnel. The insurance policy does not provide cover where the Director or Officer has acted fraudulently or dishonestly.
The composition of the Board is as follows. There were no changes during the year:
Name

Titles

Held appointment
throughout 2011

Committee
Chairman
Governance

Executive Board members (4)
Clifford Elphick

Chief Executive Officer

◊

Kevin Burford

Chief Financial Officer

◊

Alan Ashworth

Chief Operating Officer

◊

Glenn Turner

Chief Legal and Commercial Officer

◊

Chairman

◊

Nominations

Gavin Beevers

◊

Health, Safety, Social and
Environment

Dave Elzas

◊

Audit

Roger Davis

Mike Salamon
Richard Williams

Senior Independent Director

Financial statements

Non-Executive Board members (5)

◊
◊

Remuneration

• The non-Executive Directors possess a range of experience and are of a calibre to bring independent judgement to bear on issues
of strategy, performance, and resources that are vital to the success of the Company.
• All of the non-Executive Directors are regarded as independent by the Board as defined in the CGC (A.3.1), as was the Chairman
on his appointment.
GEM DIAMONDS Annual Report 2011
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT CONTINUED
Attendance at Board meetings and Committees of the Board
Five scheduled Board meetings were held during 2011. Attendance by Directors at Board and Committee meetings is shown below.
All Board meetings were held in the United Kingdom.
There are six formally constituted committees of the Board, each of which has formal terms of reference. Those for the Audit; Remuneration;
HSSE and Nomination Committees’ can be viewed on the Company’s website, www.gemdiamonds.com.
In the event that Board approval is required between Board meetings for such matters as capital expenditure which approvals come within
the threshold determined by the Matters Reserved for the Board, Board members are circulated with the detail including a justification
by email and the decision of each Board member is communicated which is recorded at the next following Board meeting.

ATTENDANCE AT BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS DURING 2011
Number of
meetings held

Board

Audit

Remuneration

Nominations

HSSE

Director
RW Davis

5/5

4/4

4/4

4/4

–

CT Elphick

5/5

–

–

4/4

–

GA Beevers

5/5

–

–

–

4/4

DJ Elzas

5/5

4/4

4/4

–

–

M Salamon

5/5

–

4/4

4/4

4/4

RJ Williams

4/5

4/4

4/4

–

–

AR Ashworth

4/5

–

–

–

–

KM Burford

5/5

–

–

–

–

GE Turner

4/5

–

–

–

4/4

A further one ad hoc meeting was held to issue a formal approval to deal with relevant Board matters which had been delegated.
Before each Board meeting the non-Executive Directors meet independent of the Executive Directors, in accordance with a practice which
many listed companies have adopted. During the year there were four such meetings.
Chairman and Chief Executive
A clear separation is maintained between the responsibilities of the Chairman and the Chief Executive. This separation was established
during 2007 with the appointment of Roger Davis as Chairman. The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board and the Chief Executive
is responsible for the overall performance of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT CONTINUED
Board skills, balance and independence (continued)
The non-Executive Directors have a particular responsibility to ensure that the strategies proposed by the Executive Directors are fully
considered. To enable the Board to discharge its duties, all Directors receive appropriate and timely information and briefing papers
are distributed to all Directors. The letters of appointment of the non-Executive Directors are available for inspection at the place of
business of the Company in London.
The Board reviews annually the composition and Chairmanship of its primary committees, namely the Audit, Remuneration, Nomination
and the HSSE Committees.
Appointments and re-elections to the Board
The CGC requires there to be a formal, rigorous and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors, which should be made
on merit and against objective criteria and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board, Including gender (B.2). Since 2007,
recruitment to the Board has been on the basis of recommendation, thus no outside consultants have been employed. The ‘pool’
of appropriately qualified individuals is small and suitable candidates are known to the management. The Nomination Committee’s
section of this report is set out on page 54.
Starting in 2012 all directors will retire and, if appropriate, will offer themselves for re-election at the Annual General Meeting in June
in accordance with CGC provision B.7.1
Access to Independent professional advice and the Company Secretary
All Directors are aware that they may take independent professional advice, at the expense of the Company, in the furtherance of
their duties, subject to prior consultation with the Chairman. To date they have not found the need so to do. All Directors have access
to management and to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, who is responsible to the Board for ensuring that all
governance matters are complied with, and assists with professional development as required.
Arrangements have been approved by the Board to ensure that new Directors should receive a full, formal and tailored induction
on joining the Board. In addition, ongoing support and resources are provided to Directors in order to enable them to extend and refresh
their skills, knowledge and familiarity with the Company. Professional development and training is provided in three complementary ways:
regular updating with information on changes and proposed changes in laws and regulations affecting the Company or its businesses;
arrangements, including site visits, to ensure Directors are familiar with the Company’s operations particularly its commitment to
and application of the Company’s Corporate Social Responsibility policies, which includes health and safety; and opportunities for
professional and skills training such as Committee Chairmanship and formal professional seminars designed by appropriate advisors.
Following individual Director evaluation, the results are discussed with the individual and where training and/or development needs
are identified an action plan is agreed.
Performance evaluation
In 2011 a board evaluation was carried out. It was by means of a focused questionnaire requiring direct comment rather than a ‘box ticking’
approach. The questionnaire was conceived and administered internally by the Chairman and Company Secretary with guidance from
an independent organisation. This organisation analysed the responses. These were then circulated to the Board. The conclusions were
advised to each Board member and discussed by the whole board. In summary, the evaluation gave reassurance that there were no major
issues to be addressed. The topics covered included, but were not limited to, board composition, dynamics, expertise, support, risk
management, remuneration and strategy.
In accordance with best practice there will be a board evaluation carried out in 2012 of individual board members which will follow a similar
format to that used by the Board in 2011.
The terms of reference and performance of each primary committee were reviewed and changes, if appropriate and warranted, were
made. These terms of reference were compared to best practice models and there was nothing of significance to change.
The Board has formally reviewed succession plans for Board members and key senior executive management roles and the Chairman. This
is regarded as an important feature of the Nomination Committee’s function and is reviewed at least annually to ensure its appropriateness.
Conflicts of Interest
The Board maintains a register of ‘Conflicts of Interest’ which it reviews annually (last in November 2011). Should any conflict of interest arise
between annual reviews, Directors are on notice to advise the Board and the Board will exercise its authority as appropriate and record
such conflicts.
Dealings in shares
The Company has a policy based on the Model Code, published in the Listing Rules, which covers dealings in securities and applies
to all Directors, persons discharging managerial responsibilities and employee insiders. This policy was last reviewed in November 2010
and had been circulated to all insiders. The insider list is reviewed routinely.
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REMUNERATION
Whilst the Board is ultimately responsible for Directors’ remuneration, the Remuneration Committee, consisting of independent
non-Executive Directors, is responsible for determining the remuneration and conditions of employment of Executive Directors and
the Chairman in his absence. The details of all Directors’ Remuneration are covered in the Remuneration Report on pages 56 to 64.

Focus on value creation

BRIBERY ACT
The Company has implemented a review of its policies and procedures in the light of the Bribery Act and the principles set out
in the related Ministry of Justice Guidance. Ernst & Young is supporting the senior management of the Company in this review.
This review is ongoing during 2012.

BOARD DIVERSITY
As encouraged by the Davies Report, the Board supports and welcomes diversity of all types on its Board, including gender diversity.
In the event of recruitment, the aim would be to maintain a high level of diversity. Board appointments are based on a spectrum of
factors including experience, skills and diversity.

COMMUNICATION OF BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT DURING THE YEAR
Detailed information on the Company’s business and developments/projects can be found on the Company’s website under
Investors section where all published information and shareholder communications is available which includes IMS; Trading updates;
year end and half year results; Analysts’ briefing; and all announcements.
business review

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial reporting
The Board is conscious of its responsibility to present a balanced and clear assessment of the Company’s position and prospects
and the Board is satisfied that it has met this obligation. This assessment is primarily provided in the Business Review contained
in this report. The Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities is set out on page 69.
Information and financial reporting systems
Financial reporting to the Board is continuously modified and enhanced to cater for changing circumstances. The Company’s
comprehensive planning and financial reporting procedures include detailed operational budgets for the year ahead and a three-year
rolling plan (Plan). The Board reviews and approves the annual budget and Plan. The Plan and budgets are prepared in cooperation with
all group functions on the basis of specified economic assumptions. Performance is monitored and relevant action taken throughout
the year through the monthly reporting of key performance indicators and updated forecasts for the year, together with information
on the key risk areas.

Governance

In addition, routine management reports on an operational and consolidated basis, including updated forecasts for the year, are prepared
and presented to the Audit Committee and the Board which forms a cornerstone of the system of internal control. Detailed consolidated
management accounts, together with an executive summary, are circulated prior to each scheduled Board meeting. Between Board
meetings summary update reports covering matters such as operational performance, sales figures, cash and progress of strategic
issues are circulated to the Board members and senior executives.
Internal control
The Board of Directors is responsible for the Company’s system of internal control, which is embedded in all key operations. The Board relies
on reviews undertaken by the Audit Committee, in accordance with the Company’s compliance with the Turnbull Guidance, throughout
the year and up to the date of the approval of the Annual Report and Financial Statements. Regular management reporting, providing
a balanced assessment of key risks and controls, is an important component of Board assurance.

Financial statements

The Audit Committee reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal control by considering the regular reports from management
on the operation of the risk assessment process throughout the Company. These included the key risks identified, mitigating actions
and controls, management representations and assertions, and reports covering the independent assessment of internal control
systems from Internal Audit, and other assurance providers such as health, safety, social and environmental.
The principal aim of the system of internal control is the management of business risks that are significant to the fulfilment
of the Company’s business and strategy objectives with a view to enhancing over time the value of the shareholders’ investment
and safeguarding the assets. The internal control systems have been designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure;
to achieve business objectives; and provide reasonable but not absolute assurance that the Company’s business objectives will
be achieved within the risk tolerance levels identified by the Board. The Directors confirm that they have reviewed the effectiveness
of the system of internal control and have not identified any significant failings or weaknesses.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT CONTINUED
Risk Assessment and management
The Board, through the Audit Committee, considers effective risk management as an essential element of professional management and
has implemented risk assessment and control systems across the Group, with the assistance of KPMG Services (Proprietary) Ltd. An ongoing
process, in accordance with the revised Guidance of the Turnbull Committee on Internal Control published in October 2005, has been
established for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the Group. The Group’s risk management policy aims
to cover and review all significant business risks faced by the Group, including, but not limited to, operational, financial, commercial, legal,
regulatory and compliance risks, which could undermine the Company’s ability to achieve its strategic and business objectives. These risks
are reviewed at least annually. A more comprehensive list of the Group’s key risks are listed in pages 36 to 37 in the Business Review.
The Company’s approach to risk management is value driven and has the stated objective of ensuring an environment in which
it can grow shareholder value through protecting and enhancing the Group’s assets, the environment in those locations in which it
operates, its reputation and its staff. The process is thorough and robust and is an essential element of business planning.
Each operating unit carries out a comprehensive annual self assessment risk review and updates its risk register accordingly. Objectives
in the business plan are aligned with risks and a summary of the key risks, related internal controls, accountabilities and further mitigating
actions, is reviewed and approved by the respective Audit Committee/Board for appropriateness and effectiveness.
Progress against plans, significant changes in the business risk profile and actions taken to address controls and mitigate risks are reported
at each operating unit board and thereafter to the Group’s Audit Committee and as appropriate to the Board.
The results of the process have been reviewed by management with the respective operating units which is then submitted to the
Audit Committee.
Investment appraisal
A budgetary process and authorisation levels regulate capital expenditure. For expenditure beyond specified levels, detailed written
proposals are submitted to the Board. There is an approval procedure for investment appraisal which includes a detailed calculation
of return based on assumptions that are consistent with those included in management reports. Reviews are carried out after the project
is complete and, for some projects, during the development period of the investment, to monitor progress against plan and all major
overruns are investigated. Commercial, legal and financial due-diligence work, using outside consultants as appropriate, is undertaken
in respect of acquisitions and disposals.
Internal audit
Internal audit is an important element of the overall process by which the Audit Committee and the Board obtains the assurance it requires
that risks are being properly identified, managed and controlled. An internal audit function was established in 2007. A risk-based internal
audit programme was prepared for 2011 and approved by the Audit Committee and reports on achievement of the programme and
findings were presented to the Audit Committee for consideration and approval.
The programme covers all operating units, focusing in particular on the more significant risks and related internal controls identified
in the risk self-assessment process. Findings and agreed actions are reported to management and the Audit Committee.
The internal audit function is provided by KPMG Services (Proprietary) Ltd as an outsourced service provider.
Whistleblowing programme
There is a formal mechanism to report suspected fraud, corruption and irregularities. There are independently operated confidential
free phone hotlines in each country in which the Company operates, through which employees can report any breach of the Company’s
business principles, including but not limited to bribery, breaches of ethics and fraud.
All incidents reported are fully investigated and the results are reported to the local boards and to the Group’s Audit Committee.
The Whistleblowing procedures are reviewed to make sure they are effective and up to date.
External audit
A principle of the CGC is that the Board should establish formal and transparent arrangements for considering how it should apply the
financial reporting and internal control principles and for maintaining an appropriate relationship with the external auditors, Ernst & Young
LLP. These responsibilities are delegated to and are discharged by the Audit Committee whose work is described on pages 52 to 53.
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Dialogue with shareholders
The Board places importance on effective communication with shareholders and maintains regular dialogue with and gives briefings
to analysts and institutional investors. The responsibility for Investor Relations falls under the responsibility of Glenn Turner the Chief Legal
and Commercial Director based in the Company’s London office. Presentations are given by the Executive Directors after the Company’s
announcement of the year end and half year results. Any concerns raised by a shareholder in relation to the Company and its affairs
are communicated to the Board as a whole as issues arise and a summary of shareholders’ views is presented at each Board meeting.
Care is taken to ensure that any price-sensitive information is released to all shareholders, institutional and private, at the same time,
in accordance with the Disclosure and Transparency Rules and with group policy. This policy was most recently reviewed by the Board
in November 2010 and updated as appropriate. It has been circulated to each operation.
Glenn Turner keeps in contact with the Company’s institutional and other shareholders plus industry experts on a regular basis. It is his task
to ensure a good flow of reliable information between the Company and its investors.
The shareholder base comprises 138.27 million issued ordinary shares of US$0.01 each. There are 152 institutional shareholders who hold
129.62 million shares (94%) and 497 private shareholders who hold 8.64 million shares (6%).
The Senior Independent Director, Mike Salamon, is available to shareholders if they have concerns and contact through the normal
channels has failed to resolve or for which such contact would be inappropriate.
All shareholders can access the Annual and Half Year Reports; IMSs; Trading Updates; and other published and current information about
the Company through the Company’s website at www.gemdiamonds.com

business review

Constructive use of the Annual General Meeting (AGM)
All Directors attend the AGM, where shareholders are invited to ask questions during the meeting and to meet Directors after the
formal proceedings have ended. Shareholders at the meeting will be advised as to the level of proxy votes received, plus percentages
for and against in respect of each resolution. The results of the resolutions will be announced through the Regulatory News Service
and on the Company’s website.

Financial statements

Governance

The Board uses the AGM to communicate with institutional and private investors and welcomes their participation. At the AGM the
Group Chairman and the Chairman of the Audit, Remuneration, Nomination and HSSE Committees will be present to answer questions.
Details of the resolutions to be proposed at the AGM can be found in the Notice of the Meeting. In accordance with the CGC, notice of
the AGM and related papers will be sent to shareholders a minimum of 20 business days before the meeting which is due to be held
on Tuesday 12 June 2012.
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committees
Board committees
Subject to those matters reserved for its decision, the Board delegates certain responsibilities to a number of primary committees – the Audit,
Remuneration, Nomination and HSSE Committees. The terms of reference of these Committees are available on the Company’s website.
The terms of reference of each Committee and the performance of each were reviewed during the year and, if appropriate, changes were
made. The terms of reference for each committee requires members to be re-nominated every three years (subject to annual re-election).
This was done in respect of Glenn Turner (HSSE Committee); Richard Williams (Audit Committee); and Mike Salamon (HSSE, Nominations
and Remmeration Committee).

“The Audit Committee plays a vital role in ensuring high
standards of financial control and compliance with both
appropriate Accounting and Corporate Governance
standards are maintained.”
Dave Elzas Chairman

audit committee
Committee members

Member throughout 2011

Number of meetings attended

Dave Elzas – Chairman

◊

4/4

Roger Davis

◊

4/4

Richard Williams

◊

4/4

The Audit Committee’s primary role is to ensure the integrity of financial reporting and the audit process; and that an appropriate risk
management and internal financial control system is maintained. In doing so, the Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in
discharging its responsibilities with regard to financial reporting, external and internal audits and controls. These include but are not
limited to reviewing the annual financial statements and reviewing significant financial reporting judgements; considering the scope
of the Company’s annual external audit and the extent of non-audit work undertaken by external auditors; approving and monitoring
the effectiveness of the internal audit programme and reviewing its findings; advising on the appointment of both internal and external
auditors, overseeing this relationship including remuneration and terms of engagement, monitoring independence, annual review of
auditor’s performance; and reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s internal financial control and risk management systems.
In accordance with provision C.3.1 of the CGC all members of the Audit Committee should be non-Executive Directors, all of whom are
independent in character and judgement and free from relationships or circumstances which are likely to affect, or could appear to affect,
their judgement. The Audit Committee comprises three non-Executive Directors, Dave Elzas (Chairman of the Committee), Roger Davis
and Richard Williams MBE MC.
Dave Elzas is considered to be independent. The association of Dave Elzas and Geneva Management Group (UK) Limited (GMG) in no way
compromises his independence. The fees for the work performed by GMG for the Company are immaterial in relation to the overall income
of GMG. Dave Elzas with his experience in running several businesses plus a member of several Boards (both private and UK listed) and
being a partner of GMG is seen as having appropriate financial experience as referred to in CGC C.3.1.
The Committee met four times in the year. Four meetings are scheduled for 2012. The Chief Executive, the Chief Financial Officer
and a representative of the Company’s internal and external auditors normally attend each meeting. Other Directors of the Company
and Senior Executives may, by invitation, also attend and speak, but not vote at any meeting of the Audit Committee.
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Audit Committee functions in 2011 included:
• Reviewing, for submission to the Board, the 2010 annual financial statements, the 2011 half year results and the external auditor’s detailed
reports thereon;
• Reviewing the appropriateness of the Company’s accounting policies;
• Reviewing Management Reports prior to approval of the half year and annual financial statements and before the audit.
The Management Report covers areas involving significant judgement, estimation or uncertainty, including assessment of fair values,
impairment of goodwill, quality of earnings, taxation, treasury, reserves and resources, legal matters and the appropriateness of preparing
the financial statements on a going concern basis, which would be assessed;
• Reviewing the external auditor’s plan and scope for the audit of the Group’s financial statements, and approved their remuneration both
for audit and non-audit work, and their terms of engagement;
• Recommending to the Board the re-appointment of the external auditors following an evaluation of their effectiveness and confirmation
of auditor objectivity and independence;
• Reviewing management’s assessment of the internal control framework;
• Examining the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management system, including its risk management process and profile,
and the Company’s internal control systems. The Committee received reports of the internal control environment in place
at its subsidiaries which were considered to be effective;
• Approving the statement on the process by which the Committee and the Board review the effectiveness of internal control;
• Reviewing the nature, appropriateness and indemnity limits of the Company’s insurance policies which were considered
to be appropriate;
• Reviewing and approved the internal audit plans for 2012; the effectiveness of the internal audit function; and the re-appointment
of the internal auditor;
• Evaluating the performance of the Committee and its terms of reference;
• Reviewing the Whistleblowing arrangement throughout the Group; and receiving reports at each meeting and note consequential
action (if any);
• Reviewing the assessment of ‘going concern’ and the related disclosure in the Annual Report; and
• Reviewing and approving the adoption of a Policy on the provision for non-Audit Services.
Audit Committee Meetings
Following each Audit Committee meeting, separate meetings were held with each of the following on their own:
• The external auditors;
• Internal auditors; and
• The executive management.

Governance

Auditor’s independence and non-audit work
The Audit Committee has a formal policy governing the conduct of non-audit work by the external auditors which ensures that
the Company is in compliance with the requirements of the CGC and the Ethical Standards for Auditors published by the Auditing
Practices Board.
The auditors are permitted to provide non-audit services that are not in conflict with auditor independence. Periodic reports are made
to the Audit Committee detailing non-audit fees paid to the external auditors.
The fees for such work amounted to US$86 985 representing approximately 7% of the audit fees.
The Company is very conscious of ensuring that when commissioning non-audit services there is no conflict which could compromise
the auditor’s independence. Therefore, as a matter of principle, it only uses services which will be facilitated by the existing relationship
with the Company.

Recommendation of Auditor
Financial statements

The Committee’s assessment of the external auditor’s performance and their independence, underpins its recommendation to the Board
to propose to shareholders the re-appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as auditors (who were first appointed in 2006) until the conclusion
of the AGM in 2013. This assessment includes a review of Ernst & Young’s policies for maintaining independence, including the policy
for rotation of audit partners. This requires a new lead audit partner to be appointed every five years. In accordance with this policy there
was a new lead audit partner appointed in 2011. Resolutions to authorise the Board to re-appoint and determine their remuneration will be
proposed at the AGM on Tuesday 12 June 2012.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
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“Safety is our number one priority and we have
demonstrated our commitment to this by routinely
reviewing our procedures with outside professionals
and making revisions to practices where
recommended and justified.”
Gavin Beevers Chairman

HSSE COMMITTEE
Committee members

Member throughout 2011

Number of meetings attended

Gavin Beevers – Chairman

◊

4/4

Mike Salamon

◊

4/4

Glen Turner

◊

4/4

business review

In addition to the formal committees recommended by the CGC, the Board has established an HSSE Committee. It assists the Board in
developing and monitoring policies and guidelines for the management on corporate social responsibility and sustainable development
matters, including health, safety, CSI and environmental issues, and to ensure their implementation as well as correct and legal maintenance
throughout the Group. Additionally, the HSSE Committee has developed a system of internal controls and risk management policies and
procedures which aim to ensure the Group’s strategy is cognisant of and takes account of the best corporate social responsibility practice,
the details of which are more fully described in the Sustainability Development Report to be found on pages 38 to 41. The HSSE Committee
provides the Board with additional focus and guidance on key global HSSE issues. Four meetings were held in 2011.

Governance

The primary purpose of the Committee is to:
• Have oversight of and provide advice to the Board and, as necessary, to the Audit Committee, on all Corporate Social Responsibility
matters which will embrace such issues as safety and sustainability including health, environment and community matters, and
particularly as pertaining to the risk and management of these issues within the Group;
• Have oversight of and provide advice to the Board on the Group’s compliance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements
associated with Corporate Social Responsibility which includes safety and sustainability;
• Periodically assess the effectiveness of management’s attitudes and approach towards, and activities in, managing safety and
sustainability related risk as part of Corporate Social Responsibility;
• Review significant safety and environmental incidents and consider causative factors, consequences and actions including the impact
on employees and third parties and reputational risk;
• Review the Group’s performance indicators in connection with safety and sustainability matters;
• Review the Group’s public disclosures on safety and sustainability matters and approve these as necessary; and
• Report to the Board on developments, trends and/or forthcoming significant legislation on safety and sustainability matters which may
be relevant to the Group’s operations, its assets or employees.

Financial statements

HSSE Committee functions in 2011 included:
• Visiting and inspecting the Group’s operating sites either individually or together;
• Monitoring and evaluating audit reports on the implementation and effectiveness of HSSE policy, HSSE governance and HSSE performance;
• Monitoring and evaluating reports on HSSE incidents and the results of investigations into HSSE incidents;
• Receiving legal advice on HSSE obligations and HSSE governance arrangements across the business;
• Reviewing the HSSE Committee’s effectiveness and terms of reference (which are available on the Company’s website);
• Monitoring and evaluating new developments, issues and/or relevant legislation on HSSE matters;
• Reviewing and updating, if required, the HSSE policies (which are available on the Company’s website); and
• Reviewing expenditure and progress on community projects and approved CSI expenditure.
By order of the Board

André Confavreux
Company Secretary
19 March 2012
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REMUNERATION REPORT

“The Committee seeks to set stretching targets to
ensure that Directors are appropriately remunerated
for their contribution and ensure alignment with
shareholder interests.”
Richard Williams Chairman

COMPOSITION OF THE COMMITTEE
The Committee comprises the following members:
Committee members

Member throughout 2011

Number of meetings attended

Richard Williams MBE MC – Chairman

◊

4/4

Roger Davis

◊

4/4

David Elzas

◊

4/4

Mike Salamon

◊

4/4

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer also attend Committee meetings by invitation and assist the Committee
in its deliberations, except when issues relating to their own remuneration are discussed.
A review of the Committee’s terms of reference and the Committee’s effectiveness was carried out in March 2011. There were no material
issues identified or action arising therefrom.

ROLE OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee (the Committee) is a formal committee of the Board. Its terms of reference are available on the Company’s
website and conform to the UK Corporate Governance Code (the CGC).
Committee’s main responsibilities:
•	Agree policies, determine individual remuneration packages for the Chairman and the Executive Directors, the Company Secretary
together with certain senior executives;
• Consider and scrutinise all elements of the Company’s Executive remuneration policy;
• Monitor and recommend the level and structure of remuneration for senior management;
• Approve the design of performance-related pay schemes operated by the Company and approve total annual payments;
• Review the design of all share-based incentive plans and approve the awards to be made; and
• Determine the basis for calculating bonuses payable to the Executive Directors.
The Committee’s policy is to encourage an open and transparent dialogue with shareholders on remuneration matters and would seek
to consult with major shareholders prior to implementing any significant changes to the senior executive remuneration policy.

ACTIVITIES OF THE COMMITTEE IN 2011
During the year, the Committee met four times and it:
• Approved the Directors Remuneration Report;
• Reviewed senior executive remuneration in light of developments in best practice and market trends;
• Reviewed share plan performance;
• Reviewed and approved awards made under the ESOP;
• Reviewed and approved the Chairman, Executive Directors and Company Secretary base salary and benefits;
• Set targets for 2011 and 2012 cash bonuses and approved these; and
• Reviewed specific incentive plans – particular to the Company’s operations. (Projects Kholo and Ghaghoo).
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ADVISORS TO THE COMMITTEE
Kepler Associates, appointed by the Committee in February 2010, provided independent remuneration advice to the Committee
and attended committee meetings during 2011. Kepler Associates provide no other services to the Company.

EXTERNAL APPOINTMENTS
Focus on value creation

Apart from private company interests listed in the Prospectus dated 1 April 2009, no Executive Director holds any significant executive
directorship or appointments outside the Group with the exception of Clifford Elphick who was appointed non-Executive Chairman
of Jumelles Holdings Limited in 2009 and Zanaga Iron Ore Co. Limited which listed on the AIM Market of the London Stock Exchange
in November 2010. Dave Elzas was also appointed a director of Zanaga Iron Ore Co. Limited in November 2010. Any fees paid to
Clifford Elphick or Dave Elzas in fulfilling these external roles are retained by them.

EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION POLICY
The Company’s remuneration policy is designed to provide a level of remuneration which attracts, retains and motivates executives of
a suitable calibre to execute the Company’s business strategy and maximise long term shareholder wealth.
It is intended that, as far as possible, remuneration policies and practices will conform to best practice in the markets in which the Company
operates and will be aligned with shareholder interests and promote effective management of business risk. The Committee takes into
account the UK Listing Rules, the principles and provisions of the CGC and the guidance provided by institutional investor representative
bodies in determining executive remuneration arrangements. In deciding upon the appropriate structure and quantum of remuneration,
the Committee reviews remuneration practices at comparator companies, comprising mining companies and UK-listed companies of a
similar size and complexity, to ensure remuneration policies reflect, as appropriate, prevailing industry and market conditions. Furthermore,
remuneration policies have and will continue to take account of pay and employment conditions elsewhere in the Company.

business review

The remuneration policy is supported by the following principles:
• Base reward should be set at a level which is competitive with comparator companies;
• A significant proportion of total remuneration should be ‘at risk’ and conditional on the performance of the Group; and
• Performance-related payments should be subject to the satisfaction of challenging performance targets over the short and long term, taking
into account the prospects for the Group, the prevailing economic environment and the relative performance of comparator companies.

ELEMENTS OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The remuneration package for the Executive Directors comprises the following elements:
Component

Objective(s)

Details

Base salary

• Support recruitment and
retention

• Adjustments are effective 1 April

• Provide competitive benefit
and pension provision

• Executive Directors receive a cash allowance in lieu of pension
equivalent to 14.0% (14.5%)¹ and 12.5% (13.0%)¹ of base salary for
the CEO and other Executive Directors respectively

Governance

Pension and other benefits

• Targeted around the median of the relevant market

• Executive Directors receive a cash allowance in lieu of other
non‑cash benefits equivalent to 5.5% and 6% of base salary
for the CEO and other Executive Directors respectively
1 As from April 2012

• Reinforces the delivery of
key short term operational
objectives

Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) • Reinforces the delivery
of absolute and relative
returns to shareholders
•Provides alignment with
shareholders

• Opportunity of up to 100% of base salary for Executive Directors
• Payout is linked 80% to explicit business targets and 20%
to a discretionary assessment of personal performance
• Annual awards of performance shares or options
• Annual maximum opportunity of up to 100% of salary
in performance shares and 200% in options (subject to
overall maximum with fair value equivalent to 100% of salary
in performance shares)

Financial statements

Annual bonus

• Shares vest on Gem Diamonds’ three-year TSR outperformance of
the FTSE 250 index (xIT) (50% of award) and global diamond mining
and exploration companies (50% of award)
• Full vesting requires the Company to outperform the benchmark
by 12% p.a.
• Vesting is also dependent on the Remuneration Committee’s
assessment of underlying performance
GEM DIAMONDS Annual Report 2011
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Total of Directors’ Remuneration. This provides a comparison of total salaries, benefits and fees paid to Directors in respect of the year
under review.

Basic salaries
Benefits
Annual bonuses
Pension contribution equivalent
Fees
Total

2011
£’s

2010
£’s

1 259 824
73 544
925 797
163 613
300 000
2 722 778

1 201 295
70 126
791 700
156 013
300 000
2 519 134

The pay structure has been developed to be significantly performance-oriented; at target performance c.40% of Executive Director total
remuneration is performance-based rising to c.65% at ‘stretch’ performance.
Base salary
Base salaries are reviewed annually with any changes normally taking effect from 1 April. This review takes into account individual
performance, experience and market competitiveness. In assessing market competitiveness, the Committee benchmarks salaries against
comparable roles at mining companies and UK-listed companies of similar size. In approving Executive Directors’ salary increases, the
Committee takes into account general pay conditions across the Group. The Committee reviewed base salaries during March 2012 and
approved increases to base salaries effective 1 April 2012 as detailed in the table below.
2011
salary
£

Executive
Directors

2012
salary
£

%
increase

CT Elphick

412 000

428 480

4

AR Ashworth

305 066

317 280

4

KM Burford

276 000

287 040

4

GE Turner

276 000

287 040

4

Executive Director pay mix
(% of total remuneration)

Variable components

Stretch
performance
Variable components

Target
performance
0%
Salary

50%
Pension
Annual
and benefits bonus

100%

‘Target’ performance
scenario assumes the
annual bonus pays out
at 50% of maximum
and fair value for the
ESOP. ‘Stretch’
performance scenario
assumes the annual
bonus pays out at max,
the ESOP vests in full
and share price growth
of 20% p.a. over the
vesting period.

ESOP

Pensions and other benefits
Executive Directors do not receive any non-cash benefits as part of their employment. The Executive Directors receive a cash allowance
in lieu of pension equivalent to 14.0% (14.5%)¹ and 12.5% (13.0%)¹ of base salary for the Chief Executive Officer and other Executive Directors
respectively. In addition, the Executive Directors receive a cash payment in lieu of other non-cash benefits, equivalent to 5.5% and 6% of
base salary for the Chief Executive Officer and other Executive Directors respectively.
1 As from April 2012

Annual bonus
Executive Directors and Senior Executives participate in a discretionary annual bonus arrangement designed to focus participants on
business-critical outcomes. The maximum bonus payable to Executive Directors under the annual bonus scheme is 100% of base salary.
Performance achievement

Performance category

Growth strategy implementation (including objectives related
to production, beneficiation, damage reduction, efficiency
improvements, mergers and acquisitions, funding)
Operational performance
Sustainability (including objectives related to sustainable
development and health & safety)
Revenue
Corporate relations
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Weighting

Below
threshold

25%
45%
10%
10%
10%

Between
threshold
and target

Between
target and
stretch

◊
◊
◊
◊
◊

Above
stretch

The Committee assessed the degree to which the bonus targets had been achieved and approved the following bonuses for 2011:
Percentage of salary

Bonus

CT Elphick

75%

£309 000

AR Ashworth

71%

£216 597

KM Burford

71%

£195 960

GE Turner

74%

£204 240

Focus on value creation

Executive Directors

Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP)
The ESOP was first introduced in 2007, and was subject to several changes in 2010.
The ESOP provides for annual grants of performance shares and fair market value options, the relative proportions of which are determined
by the Committee on the occasion of each grant.
ESOP awards may be up to 100% of salary in performance shares, or up to 200% of salary in options, or a mix of performance shares
and options subject to the condition that in any one year the combined fair value of the share and option grant is no more than the fair
value of an award of 100% of salary fair value in performance shares. 2011 ESOP awards granted to the Executive Directors comprised
33% of salary in performance shares and 66% of salary in options.
Vesting of ESOP awards is subject to the achievement of challenging performance conditions based on the Company’s three-year relative
total shareholder return (TSR).
TSR performance is measured relative to two comparator groups as follows:

business review

– 50% vests according to performance relative to a peer group of global diamond mining and exploration companies.
– 50% of the award vests according to performance relative to the FTSE 250 Index (excluding Investment Trusts).
The constituents of the diamond-sector peer group are regularly reviewed by the Committee and adjusted if warranted by corporate
actions amongst the constituents. The comparators for the 2010 and 2011 cycles are as follows:
2010 grant

2011 grant

African Diamonds Limited

◊

¹

Shore Gold Inc

◊

◊

Petra Diamonds Limited

◊

◊

Namakwa Diamonds Limited

◊

◊

Mountain Province Limited

◊

◊

Rockwell Diamonds Inc

◊

◊

Trans Hex Group Limited

◊

◊

Vaaldiam Resources Limited

◊

◊

Governance

Company

1 Taken over by Lucara in December 2010. Lucara will replace African Diamonds Limited for the 2012 grant.

The Committee believes an element based on a broad market index helps provide robustness in light of the small number of companies in
the diamond mining comparator group and uses the FTSE 250 as it captures companies with whom Gem Diamonds competes for capital.
The Committee considers TSR relative to a global diamond mining peer group to be an appropriate performance measure given the extent
to which the Company’s share price and those of its peers are significantly influenced by diamond prices.
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ESOP awards vest (at 25%) only if the Company’s TSR is in line with average (or benchmark) performance, with full vesting if Gem Diamonds’
three-year TSR exceeds that of its benchmark by 12% per annum, which the Committee believes is broadly equivalent to upper quartile
performance. There is straight line pro rata vesting for performance between Benchmark and Benchmark +12% per annum.
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‘Benchmark’ performance is based on the published FTSE 250 excluding Investment Trusts index (for that element of ESOP awards) and
the average TSR of the diamond mining and exploration companies, weighted by their market capitalisation at the start of the three-year
performance period (for the other 50% of ESOP awards). Weighting diamond-mining comparator TSRs by their market capitalisation helps
reduce the sensitivity of ESOP outcomes to the smaller comparator companies in the group which are likely to have more volatile TSRs than
the Company. A summary of the vesting schedule is provided right:

In the event that the TSR calculation is affected by a significant
corporate event which the Committee considers materially
distorts the performance comparison, the Committee may make
suitable adjustments, provided that it is satisfied that any new or
varied performance conditions would be no less demanding.
The Committee may also adopt different performance conditions
during the life of the ESOP and may vary the ratio of performance
shares and options.

Annualised outperformance
of benchmark TSR
Vesting

Additionally, for any ESOP awards to vest, the Committee must
satisfy itself that the recorded TSR is a fair reflection of the
underlying business performance of the Company over the
performance period.

100%

25%

0%

Dividends accrue on performance shares (but not options)
during the vesting period.

12%

In the event of a change of control, awards would vest according to performance up to the date of the change of control. In addition,
share-based, but not option-based, awards would be pro-rated for time based on the proportion of the vesting period elapsed at the
date of the event, with Committee discretion to treat otherwise.
Dilution
ESOP awards may be satisfied with newly issued shares subject to aggregate dilution limits. The issue of shares to satisfy awards under
the Company’s share schemes will not exceed 10% of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital in any rolling ten-year period. As of
31 December 2011, 2 410 200 shares (1.8% of issued share capital) have been, or may be issued, pursuant to all awards made over the
last ten years.
Performance graph
The graph below shows the total shareholder return on a holding of the Company’s ordinary shares compared to a hypothetical holding
of shares in the FTSE 250 index. The FTSE 250 has been selected as it comprises companies which represent possible alternative investment
opportunities for the Company’s shareholders. The graph also shows Gem’s TSR performance relative to its peer group. TSR is calculated
using one-month average share prices and includes reinvested net dividends paid during the performance period.
Total Shareholder Return Performance: GEM DIAMONDS vs FTSE 250 since Gem Diamonds’ IPO in February 2007

Dilution graph
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The following information is subject to audit

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’
ENTITLEMENTS UNDER SERVICE CONTRACTS
Focus on value creation

The details of service contracts and appointment letters are as follows:

THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Directors

Contract date

Unexpired term

Notice period

CT Elphick

13 February 2007

Rolling contract

6 months

KM Burford

13 February 2007

Rolling contract

6 months

GE Turner

1 July 2008

Rolling contract

6 months

AR Ashworth

1 March 2008

Rolling contract

6 months

Contractural
termination payment

Pay salary and benefits on
summary termination

There are no special provisions in the contracts extending notice period on a change of control or other corporate event.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
business review

The Chairman and Executive Directors approve the fees of the non-Executive Directors. The Committee approves the fees of the Chairman.
The fees for non-Executive Directors are set at the level considered necessary to obtain the services of individuals with the relevant skills
and experience to bring added depth and breadth to the composition of the Board. Fees take into account the number of meetings, the
time required for reading Board and other papers, the duties associated with membership or chairmanship of Board committees and fees
paid by comparable companies.

Non-executive director fee structure
Chairman fee
Non-Executive Director fee

£100 000
£52 500

Fees were reviewed in March 2012 with the following decided:

Governance

• non-Executive Directors fee – no change
• Chairman’s fee – increased to £100 000
The non-Executive Directors are not eligible to participate in the annual bonus, ESOP, or any other performance related incentive.
The appointment of non-Executive Directors, who do not have service contracts, is on a rolling contract basis. Since the Board has adopted
provision B.7.1 of the CGC, all directors will retire annually at the Annual General Meeting and, if eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Non-Executive Directors’ appointment terms:
Contract date

Unexpired term

Notice period

RW Davis

1 February 2007

Rolling appointment

3 months

DJ Elzas

1 February 2007

Rolling appointment

3 months

GA Beevers

1 February 2007

Rolling appointment

3 months

M Salmon

3 February 2008

Rolling appointment

3 months

RJ Williams

3 February 2008

Rolling appointment

3 months

Contractural termination
payment

Financial statements

Directors

No provision for payment
of compensation
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED
EMOLUMENTS AND COMPENSATION
Details of the remuneration settled in cash or at cash cost to the Company of each Director who has served in the year are shown below.
The following table and accompanying notes have been audited.

Details of the directors’ remuneration:
Cash payments
in lieu of nonSalary and
cash
fees¹
benefits²
£
£

Executive
CT Elphick⁵
AR Ashworth
KM Burford
GE Turner
Non-Executive
RW Davis
GA Beevers
DJ Elzas
M Salamon
RJ Williams

409 000
302 844
273 990
273 990

79 755
56 026
50 688
50 688

Bonuses³
£

309 000
216 597
195 960
204 240

90 000
52 500
52 500
52 500
52 500

Total
2011⁴
£

Full year
Total
2010
£

797 755
575 467
520 638
528 918

726 050
579 140
443 574
470 370

90 000
52 500
52 500
52 500
52 500

90 000
52 500
52 500
52 500
52 500

1 All salaries and fees are paid in cash.
2 Payments are made in cash to Directors who may purchase benefits.
3 Bonuses are in respect of 2011 and were paid in 2012.
4 The Directors’ total emoluments for the year do not include any fair value share option/award charges.
5 Highest paid Director.
6 No Director received or is due to receive any compensation for loss of office during the year.
7 Although the Company’s reporting currency is US dollars, these figures are stated in Sterling as the Directors’ emoluments are paid in this currency.
8 No Director received any expense allowances.
9 There were no payments to former Directors of the Company.

ENTITLEMENTS UNDER LONG TERM INCENTIVES
During the year under review, outstanding ESOP awards included those granted in 2008, 2010 and 2011 (there were no long term
incentives awarded to Directors during 2009). 2008 awards were in the form of performance shares only, none of which vested on the due
date in 2011. In respect of performance shares nothing is payable on grant and no exercise price is payable to acquire the shares underlying
these awards (save for nominal value where shares are newly issued).
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Details of awards to Directors under the ESOP
ESOP Awards of performance shares

Earliest normal
exercise date

57 000

–
–

– 34 667
–
50 000

0.01 356 387 30 April 2008 30 April 2011 30 April 2018
0.01 131 670 23 June 2010 23 June 2013 23 June 2020
0.01 131 700 13 June 2011 13 June 2014 13 June 2021

42 600

–
–

– 43 057
–
34 000

0.01 297 100 30 April 2008 30 April 2011 30 April 2018
0.01 98 406 23 June 2010 23 June 2013 23 June 2020
0.01 89 556 13 June 2011 13 June 2014 13 June 2021

38 600

–
–

– 24 009
–
30 333

0.01 246 813 30 April 2008 30 April 2011 30 April 2018
0.01 89 166 23 June 2010 23 June 2013 23 June 2020
0.01 79 897 13 June 2011 13 June 2014 13 June 2021

38 600

–
–

– 24 009
–
30 333

0.01 246 813 30 April 2008 30 April 2011 30 April 2018
0.01 89 166 23 June 2010 23 June 2013 23 June 2020
0.01 79 897 13 June 2011 13 June 2014 13 June 2021

Total
AR Ashworth

Total
KM Burford

Total
GE Turner

Focus on value creation

CT Elphick

Date of grant

Performance
shares as at
31 December
Expiry date
2011

57 000
50 000
107 000
42 600
34 000
76 600
38 600
30 333
68 933
38 600
30 333
68 933

Total

business review

Directors

Performance
shares*
Market
as at Exercised Granted
Exercise value at
1 January
in the
in the Lapsed
price date of
2011
year
year in year
US$ grant £

* Conditional right to acquire shares.

2008 ESOP awards vest 50% on the Company’s three-year TSR rank relative to the FTSE 250 and 50% on the Company’s three-year TSR rank
relative to the diamond mining comparator group; there is nil vesting below median, 30% vesting at median, rising on a straight line basis
to full vesting from upper quartile.
ESOP awards of options

CT Elphick

114 000

–

Exercise
Lapsed
price
in year (pence)

85 200

Total
GE Turner
Total

77 200

77 200

Expiry date

231.00 23 June 2010 23 June 2013 23 June 2020
263.40 13 June 2011 13 June 2014 13 June 2021

–

231.00 23 June 2010 23 June 2013 23 June 2020
263.40 13 June 2011 13 June 2014 13 June 2021

–
60 667

231.00 23 June 2010 23 June 2013 23 June 2020
263.40 13 June 2011 13 June 2014 13 June 2021

60 667

231.00 23 June 2010 23 June 2013 23 June 2020
263.40 13 June 2011 13 June 2014 13 June 2021

–
68 000

Total
KM Burford

Earliest normal
exercise date

–
100 000

Total
AR Ashworth

Date of grant

–

–

Options
as at 31
December
2011

114 000
100 000
214 000
85 200
68 000
153 200
77 200
60 667
137 867
77 200
60 667
137 867

Governance

Directors

Options*
as at Exercised
1 January
in the Granted
2011
year in year

Financial statements

* Option is a right to acquire shares granted under the plan including, unless indicated otherwise, a nil-cost option. The market price of an ordinary share at the year end was 194 pence. The highest
and lowest prices in the year were 306 pence and 180 pence.

Details of the vesting conditions, which are subject to audit, for awards made under the ESOP are included on pages 59 to 60 of the
Annual Report and a full set of the rules will be available for inspection at the AGM.
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REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED
DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS AND INTERESTS IN SHARES
Details of interests in the share capital of the Company of those Directors in office as at 31 December 2011 are given below. It is confirmed
that there were no changes to the Directors’ holdings between 31 December 2011 and the date of this report. No Director was interested
in the shares of any subsidiary company.
In addition to these interests in shares, the Executive Directors, along with other employees, also have conditional rights to acquire shares
under the Company’s long term incentive plans, disclosed in Note 27.
Executives
Number of shares held at 1 January 2011
CT Elphick¹

Number of shares held at 31 December 2011²

9 325 000

9 325 000

21 900

21 900

KM Burford

458 333

458 333

GE Turner

400 000

400 000

AR Ashworth

1 Clifford Elphick is interested in these ordinary shares by virtue of his interest as a potential beneficiary in a discretionary trust, which has an indirect interest in those ordinary shares.
2 There has been no change in these figures since the end of the year and date of the notice of the AGM.

Non-Executives
Number of shares held as at 1 January 2011
RW Davis

Number of shares as at 31 December 2011³

1 267 752

1 267 752

GA Beevers

145 164

145 164

DJ Elzas

144 664

144 664

M Salamon

316 944

316 944

RJ Williams

164 664

164 664

3 There has been no change in these figures since the end of the year and date of the notice of the AGM.

PENSIONS
No pension contributions were made to any registered pension scheme or pension fund in respect of Executive Directors during the year,
and no retirement benefits were paid.
By order of the Board

Richard Williams
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
19 March 2012
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Focus on value creation

The Directors have pleasure in submitting the financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2011. For the purpose of DTR 4.1.8R
this report will be deemed the ‘management report’ plus any cross-references
made herein and should be read with the Annual Financial Statements
on pages 70 to 121.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is a global diamond mining company, listed on the premium market of the London Stock Exchange. More detailed
information on the Group’s operations, activities and financial performance is incorporated into this report by reference and can be found
in the Business Review on pages 14 to 41.

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS, FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS AND POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

business review

As a BVI registered company, Gem Diamonds Ltd is not required to comply with the Companies Act 2006, however the Directors have
voluntarily elected to conform to Section 417 of the Companies Act 2006, which requires that the Directors present a Business Review in
this report to inform shareholders of the Company and help them assess how the Directors have performed their duty to promote the
success of the Company. Information that fulfils this requirement can be found in the sections set out below and is incorporated by
reference in this report:
• The Chairman’s Statement on pages 2 to 4.;
• The Business Review on pages 14 to 41 covers factors likely to affect the future development, performance and position of the
Company’s business and incorporating the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) together with the Key Operational Statistics; the principal
risks; Strategic Objectives; and uncertainties on pages 36 to 37.;
• The discussion of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR), including matters related to environmental, health and safety, as well as social
and community risk, is addressed in the Sustainable Development report on pages 38 to 41; and
• The disclosure of contractual arrangements below.
The Business Review has been prepared to provide the Company’s shareholders with a fair review of the business of the Company and a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing it. It may not be relied upon by anyone, including the Company’s shareholders,
for any other purpose.

Governance

The Business Review and other sections of this report contain forward-looking statements. By their nature, forward-looking statements
involve a number of risks, uncertainties and future assumptions because they relate to events and/or depend on circumstances that may
or may not occur in the future and could cause actual results and outcomes to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the
forward-looking statements. No assurance can be given that the forward-looking statements in the Business Review will be realised.
Statements about the Directors’ expectations, beliefs, hopes, plans, intentions and strategies are inherently subject to change and they
are based on expectations and assumptions as to future events, circumstances and other factors which are in some cases outside the
Company’s control. The information contained in the Business Review has been prepared on the basis of the knowledge and information
available to Directors at the date of its preparation and the Company does not undertake any obligation to update or revise this Business
Review during the financial year ahead. It is believed that the expectations set out in these forward-looking statements are reasonable
but they may be affected by a wide range of variables which could cause actual results or trends to differ materially. In particular, the
forward-looking statements should be read in the context of the specific risk factors affecting the Company identified in the Business
Review. The Company’s shareholders are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements. Shareholders
should note that the Business Review has not been audited or otherwise independently verified.
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Financial statements

Acquisitions together with disposals, and changes to companies undertaken during the year, (such as they were) including post balance
sheet events, of which there were none, are included in the Business Review on pages 30 to 33.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
EXPLORATION AND RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT
The Group carries out resource development activities on its three main projects – Letšeng, Ellendale and Ghaghoo to support and expand
operations. No exploration activities are currently pursued. A limited amount of geophysical and geochemical exploration work was
conducted during the course of 2011 in the Ellendale lamproite field to identify new lamproites which was unsuccessful.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The Group’s attributable profit before taxation amounted to US$67.7 million (2010: US$20.2 million)
The Group’s detailed financial results are set out in the Financial Statements section on pages 70 to 121.
The current focus of the Group is on internal growth and surplus cash is invested into its capital projects, thus the Board recommends that
no final dividend be declared, in accordance with the intention set out previously. The Board keeps the Company’s dividend policy under
review. The factors which are most likely to influence a change in its current policy will be the Company’s financial and cash position.
Other factors may also have a bearing and these will be taken into account at the time.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s key risks are detailed on page 36 and 37 of the Business Review.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AND SUSTAINABILITY
A review of Health, Safety, Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental performance and community participation is presented in
the Sustainable Development report on pages 38 to 41.

POLITICAL AND CHARITABLE DONATIONS
No political donations were made in 2011. The Group’s Corporate Social Investment (CSI) expenditure supports initiatives that benefit the
project-affected communities in the areas of health, education, infrastructure development, development of small to medium enterprises
(SME’s), regional environmental initiatives and general donations to relevant causes in project affected communities. In 2011, the Company
contributed US$1.1 million to these social initiatives.

EMPLOYEE POLICIES AND INVOLVEMENT
This report is to be read with the information on employment matters contained in the Sustainable Development overview (SD overview)
on pages 38 and 41 together with the more detailed SD overview which can be found on our website www.gemdiamonds.com.
The Group’s employment practices have been developed to ensure that the Group attracts and retains the required calibre of
management and staff by creating an environment that incentivises enhanced performance. The health, safety and effective performance
of employees, together with the maintenance of positive employee relations is of key importance across the Group’s operations.
More generally employees are kept informed of the performance and objectives of the Group through direct involvement and access
to the Group’s website, published information, the circulation of ‘press cuttings’ and Group announcements.
It is the Group’s policy to communicate openly with employees and encourage consultation between employees and management.
The Company always seeks to have a direct relationship between its employees and business function management, founded on quality,
leadership, effective communication and trust.
The Group is committed to the principle and achievement of equal opportunities in employment irrespective of gender, religion, race
or marital status. Full consideration is given to applications for disabled persons who apply for employment where the requirements of
the position can be adequately filled by a disabled person, having regard to their particular abilities and aptitude.
The Group sets guidelines and frameworks in respect of Company policy on remuneration, performance management, career
development and succession planning, recruitment and expatriate employment and for the alignment of human resources management
and policy with international best practice. Each operating unit manages its human resources requirements locally, within the Group’s
guidelines and framework.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
A report on Corporate Governance and compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code (CGC) is set out on
pages 44 to 51.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITORS
Focus on value creation

The lead audit partner is based in London, UK. As required under section 418 of the Companies Act 2006, to which the Directors have
voluntarily elected to conform, each Director confirms that to the best of his knowledge and belief, there is no information relevant to
the preparation of the auditor’s report of which the Company’s auditors are unaware and that each Director has taken all reasonable
steps as a Director to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of
that information.

GOING CONCERN
The Company’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are set out
in the Business Review on pages 14 to 33. The financial position of the Company, its cashflows and liquidity position are described in the
Business Review on pages 30 to 33. In addition, Note 26 to the financial statements includes the Company’s objectives, policies and
processes for managing its capital; its financial risk management objectives; details of its financial instruments and its exposures to credit
and liquidity risk.

business review

After making enquiries which include reviews of forecasts and budgets, timing of cashflows, borrowing facilities and sensitivity analyses
and considering the uncertainties described in this report either directly or by cross reference, the Directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Group and the Company have adequate financial resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this
reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Annual Report and Accounts of the Company.

DIRECTORS
The Directors, as at the date of this report, are listed on pages 42 and 43, together with their biographical details. Details of Directors’
interests in shares and share options of the Company can be found in the Remuneration Report on pages 56 to 64.

DIRECTORS WHO HELD OFFICE DURING THE YEAR
Date of appointment
Executive Directors
AR Ashworth
KM Burford
GE Turner

20 January 2006
22 April 2008
20 January 2006
22 April 2008
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CT Elphick

Non-Executive Directors
RW Davis

1 February 2007

GA Beevers

1 February 2007

DJ Elzas

18 October 2005

M Salamon

3 February 2008

RJ Williams

3 February 2008
Financial statements

There has been no change in the above appointments since 1 January 2011 to the date of this report.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
The Articles of Association (81) provide that a third of Directors retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
However in line with the CGC at this year’s AGM, and thereafter, all the Directors will retire and subject to them being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election. Each has been the subject of a Board evaluation.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (AGM)
Details of the resolutions which will be put to the Annual General Meeting are given in the notice of the AGM, which is contained in a
separate document from the Annual Report.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the Company, including the rights pertaining to each share class, are set out in Note 18
to the Financial Statements.

MAJOR INTERESTS IN SHARES
On 12 March 2012, the following major interests (at or above 3%) in the issued ordinary shares of the Company had been notified to the
Company in accordance with the DTR 5:
Number of ordinary shares

% Shareholding

Graff Diamonds International Ltd

20 906 699

15.12

Black Rock Inc

15 983 885

11.56

Capital Group Companies Inc

15 584 685

11.27

Lansdowne Partners Ltd

14 093 732

10.19

FIL Limited/FMR LLC

9 602 763

6.95

Gem Diamonds Holdings Ltd

9 325 000

6.74

JP Morgan Asset Management

4 959 496

3.59

Legal and General Investment Management Limited

4 868 163

3.52

JO Hambro Capital Management

4 816 361

3.48

There has been no change reported to the Company since 12 March 2012

DIRECTORS INTERESTS
No Director had, at any time during the year, a material interest in any contract of significance in relation to the Company’s business.
The interest of Directors in the shares of the Company is included in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on Page 64.

CREDITORS’ PAYMENT PRACTICE
In view of the international nature of the Group’s operations there is no specific Group-wide policy in respect of payments to suppliers.
Individual operating companies are responsible for agreeing terms and conditions for their business transactions and ensuring that
suppliers are aware of the terms of payment. It is Group practice that payments are made in accordance with those terms, provided
that all trading terms and conditions have been met by the supplier. Trade creditors at 31 December 2011 represented 90 days of
the Gem Diamonds Limited’s annual purchases.

ELECTRONIC COPIES OF DOCUMENTS
Copies of the 2011 Annual Report, HSSE policies and other corporate publications, reports, press releases and announcements are available
on the Company’s website at www.gemdiamonds.com.

AUDITORS
A resolution to re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s auditors and to authorise the Board to determine the auditor’s
remuneration will be proposed at the 2012 Annual General Meeting.
By order of the Board

André Confavreux
Company Secretary
19 March 2012
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RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT OF THE DIRECTORS
IN RESPECT OF THE ANNUAL REPORT AND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Focus on value creation

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group. They are also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.
The Directors confirm that the financial statements, prepared in accordance with IFRS, give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities, financial position and profit of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole.
The Business Review includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Company
and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that they face.
Information, including accounting policies, has been presented in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information and additional disclosures have been provided when compliance with the specific requirements
in IFRS have been insufficient to enable users to understand the financial impact of particular transactions, other events and
conditions on the Group’s financial position and financial performance. Where necessary, the Directors have made judgements
and estimates that are reasonable and prudent.
The Directors of the Company have elected to comply with certain Listing Rules (LR) which would otherwise only apply to
companies incorporated in the UK – namely:

business review

(a) the Directors’ statement under LR 9.8.6R(3) (statement by the Directors that the business is a going concern);
(b) the Directors’ remuneration disclosures made under LR 9.8.8R(2) – (5) and (11) – (12); and
(c) the requirements of Schedule 8 to The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations
2008 of the United Kingdom pertaining to Directors’ remuneration that UK quoted companies are required to comply with.

Kevin Burford
Chief Financial Officer

Financial statements
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19 March 2012
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
MEMBERS OF GEM DIAMONDS LIMITED
We have audited the Group financial statements of Gem Diamonds Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (together
‘the Group’) for the year ended 31 December 2011 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, the Consolidated Statement of Changes
in Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes 1 to 27. The financial reporting framework that has
been applied in their preparation is International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).
This report is made solely to the Company’s members in accordance with the terms of our letter of engagement dated August
2011 (Addendum to the engagement 2 March 2012). Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 69, the Directors are responsible for the
preparation of the Group financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to
audit the Group financial statements in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.
In addition the Company has also instructed us to:
• Report as to whether the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the Group financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements.
• Report as to whether the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement with respect to internal control and risk
management systems in relation to financial reporting processes and about share capital structures is consistent with the
financial statements.
• Report as to whether the section of the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as audited has been properly prepared
in accordance with the basis of preparation described therein.
• Review certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on Directors’ remuneration, which for a premium listed UK
Incorporated company is specified for review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority.
• Report if we are not satisfied that:
1. adequate accounting records have been kept (including returns from those branches which have not been visited); or
Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Gem Diamonds Limited
2. the accounts are in agreement with the records and returns; or
3. we have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purpose of the audit.
• Review the Directors’ statement in relation to going concern as set out on page 67, which for a premium listed UK incorporated
company is specified for review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority.
SCOPE OF THE AUDIT AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes
an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances, and have been consistently
applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors; and the
overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual
report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we become aware of any apparent material
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.
OPINION ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
In our opinion the Group financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2011 and of its profit for the year then ended; and
• have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs.
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OPINION ON OTHER MATTERS AS PER OUR TERMS OF ENGAGEMENT WITH THE COMPANY
In our opinion:
• the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the Group financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements;
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• the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement set out on pages 49 to 50 with respect to internal control and
risk management systems in relation to financial reporting processes and about share capital structures is consistent with the
financial statements; and
• the part of the Remuneration Report of the Company that has been described as audited has been properly prepared in
accordance with the basis of preparation as described therein.
MATTERS ON WHICH WE REPORT BY EXCEPTION
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:
Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Company’s
compliance with the nine provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code, specified in for our review.
Under the terms of our engagement we agreed to report to you if, in our opinion:
• adequate accounting records have not been kept, (including returns from those branches which have not been visited); or
• the accounts are not in agreement with the records and returns; or
• we have not obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purpose of the audit; or

business review

• certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration which the Company has made voluntarily as if it were subject to UK companies
legislation are not made; or
• the ’Directors’ statement, set out on page 67, in relation to going concern.

Ernst & Young LLP
1 More London Place
London
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19 March 2012
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2011

Notes

2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Revenue

2

Cost of sales
GROSS PROFIT

395 574

266 376

(196 781)

(177 833)

198 793

88 543

249

2 569

Royalties and selling costs

(32 097)

(23 225)

Corporate expenses

(17 291)

(15 109)

27

(1 455)

(1 644)

9

(1 767)

–

7 164

1 137

Other operating income

Share-based payments
Resource extension development costs
Foreign exchange gain
OPERATING PROFIT

3

153 596

52 271

Net finance income

4

1 830

2 470

3 786

4 102

(1 956)

(1 632)

308

(261)

155 734

54 480

(52 946)

(18 207)

102 788

36 273

Finance income
Finance costs
Share of post tax profit/(loss) of associate

7

PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Income tax expense

5

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Profit/(loss) after tax for the year from discontinued operations

6

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

3 128

(90)

105 916

36 183

Attributable to:
Equity holders of parent

67 669

20 185

Non-controlling interests

38 247

15 998

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

105 916

36 183

– Basic earnings for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent

49

15

– Diluted earnings for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent

48

14

– Basic earnings for continuing operations attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent

47

15

– Diluted earnings for continuing operations attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent

46

15

Earnings per share (cents)

8

Earnings per share for continuing operations (cents)

72

GEM DIAMONDS Annual Report 2011

Financial statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

105 916

36 183

(702)

–

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

(70 430)

35 783

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year

(71 132)

35 783

34 784

71 966

Equity holders of the parent

16 042

46 178

Non-controlling interests

18 742

25 788

Total comprehensive income for the year

34 784

71 966

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Loss on valuation of available-for-sale financial asset

Total comprehensive income for the year

Focus on value creation

For the year ended 31 December 2011
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Attributable to:
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2011
Notes

2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

9

424 937

414 017

10

617

617

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property

7

–

1 257

Intangible assets

11

25 529

31 154

Other financial assets

13

14 587

13 506

465 670

460 551

Investment in associate

Current assets
Inventories

15

39 222

35 237

Receivables

16

10 145

7 191

Other financial assets

13

9

45

–

121

158 750

129 849

208 126

172 443

–

3 082

673 796

636 076

1 383

1 383

885 648

885 648

(1)

(1)

Income tax receivable
Cash and short term deposits

17

Assets of disposal group classified as held for sale

6

TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Issued capital

18

Share premium
Own shares1
Other reserves

18

Accumulated losses
Non-controlling interests
TOTAL EQUITY

(48 720)

1 325

(421 406)

(489 075)

416 904

399 280

66 879

84 791

483 783

484 071

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables

19

667

685

Provisions

20

43 201

32 510

Deferred tax liabilities

14

68 061

71 012

111 929

104 207

57 098

44 274

20 986

1 648

78 084

45 922

–

1 876

TOTAL LIABILITIES

190 013

152 005

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

673 796

636 076

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

19

Income tax payable
Liabilities of disposal group classified as held for sale

1 Being shares held by Gem Diamonds Limited Employee Share Trust.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 19 March 2012 and signed on their behalf by:
C T Elphick
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Balance at 1 January 2011

Share
premium²

Own
shares¹

1 325 (489 075)

399 280

Noncontrolling
interests

Total
equity

84 791

484 071

1 383

885 648

(1)

Profit for the year

–

–

–

–

67 669

67 669

38 247

105 916

Other comprehensive income

–

–

–

(51 627)

–

(51 627)

(19 505)

(71 132)

Total comprehensive income

–

–

–

(51 627)

67 669

16 042

18 742

34 784

Share-based payments (Note 27)

–

–

–

1 582

–

1 582

–

1 582

Dividends paid

–

–

–

–

–

–

(36 654)

(36 654)

Balance at 31 December 2011

1 383

885 648

(1)

(48 720) (421 406)

416 904

66 879

483 783

Balance at 1 January 2010

1 383

885 648

(1)

Profit for the year

–

–

Other comprehensive income

–

–

Total comprehensive income

–

–

(26 551)

(509 260)

351 219

68 043

419 262

–

–

20 185

20 185

15 998

36 183

–

25 993

–

25 993

9 790

35 783

–

25 993

20 185

46 178

25 788

71 966

Share-based payments (Note 27)

–

–

–

1 766

–

1 766

–

1 766

Revaluation through other reserves

–

–

–

117

–

117

–

117

Dividends paid

–

–

–

–

–

–

(9 040)

(9 040)

1 383

885 648

(1)

1 325

(489 075)

399 280

84 791

484 071

Balance at 31 December 2010

business review

Issued
capital²

Attributable to the equity
holders of the parent
Accumulated
losses)/
Other
retained
reserves²
earnings
Total

Focus on value creation

For the year ended 31 December 2011

1 Being shares held by Gem Diamonds Limited Employee Share Trust.
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2 Refer to Note 18, Issued Capital and Reserves for further detail.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS
As at 31 December 2011

Notes

CASHFLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2010
US$’000

203 288

93 996

Cash generated by operations

21.1

216 680

102 565

Working capital adjustments

21.2

3 994

803

220 674

103 368

3 766

4 045

(36)

(61)

(21 116)

(13 356)

CASHFLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(125 030)

(77 211)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

(132 227)

(77 556)

2 637

938

Interest received
Interest paid
Income tax paid

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of other financial assets
Cash received/(disposed of) from disposal of subsidiary

21.3

Rights participation in associate
CASHFLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

(340)

(86)

4 900

(369)

–

(138)

(36 654)

(9 244)

–

(204)

(36 654)

(9 040)

41 604

7 541

129 849

113 827

78

15

Foreign exchange differences

(12 781)

8 544

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR

158 750

129 927

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year held with banks

157 165

124 587

17

1 585

5 340

–

(78)

17

158 750

129 849

Financial liabilities repaid
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year – continuing operations
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year – discontinued operations

Restricted cash at end of the year
Less: cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations at end of the year
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR

76

2011
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2011

1. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.1 Corporate information
1.1.1 Incorporation
The holding company, Gem Diamonds Limited (the ‘Company’), was incorporated on 29 July 2005 in the British Virgin Islands.
The Company’s registration number is 669758.
Focus on value creation

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board on 19 March 2012.
1.1.2 Operational information
The Company has the following investments directly in subsidiaries at 31 December 2011:

Name of company

Share
holding

Cost of
investment¹

Country of
incorporation Nature of business

Gem Diamond Technical
Services (Proprietary) Limited2

100% US$17

RSA

Technical, financial and management consulting services.

Gem Equity Group Limited2

100% US$50 000

BVI

Dormant investment company holding 1% in Gem Diamonds
Botswana (Proprietary) Limited, 2% in Gem Diamonds
Marketing Services BVBA and 0.1% in Calibrated Gem Botswana
(Proprietary) Limited.

Lesotho

Diamond mining and holder of mining rights.

Letšeng Diamonds
(Proprietary) Limited2

70% US$126 000 303

Gem Diamonds Botswana
(Proprietary) Limited2

100% US$27 752 144

Botswana

Diamond mining; evaluation and development; and holder of
mining licences and concessions.

BDI Mining Corp2*

100% US$82 064 783

BVI

Dormant investment company.

Gem Diamonds
Australia Holdings2

100% US$293 960 521

Australia

Investment company holding 100% in Kimberley Diamonds
Limited.

Gem Diamonds
Investments Limited2

100% US$17 510 827

UK

Investment holding company holding 100% in each of Gem
Diamonds Technology (Mauritius) Limited, Gem Diamonds
Technology DMCC and Calibrated Diamonds Investment
Holdings (Proprietary) Limited; 99.9% in Calibrated Gem
Botswana (Proprietary) Limited and 98% in Gem Diamonds
Marketing Services BVBA, a marketing company that sells the
Group’s diamonds on tender in Antwerp.

business review

Subsidiaries

1 The cost of investment represents original cost of investments at acquisition dates
2 No change in the shareholding since the prior year.

Governance

* During the year, BDI Mining Corp disposed of the entire Group holding in the Cempaka mine.

1.1.3 Segment information
For management purposes, the Group is organised into geographical units as the Group’s risks and required rates of return are
affected predominantly by differences in the geographical regions of the mines and areas in which the Group operates. Other
regions where no direct mining activities take place are organised into geographical regions in the areas where the projects are
based. The main geographical regions are:
• Lesotho (Mining activities)
• Australia (Mining activities)
• Botswana (Mining activities)

Financial statements

• Belgium (Sales and marketing for the sale of diamonds in Antwerp.)
• BVI, RSA and UK (Technical and administrative services)
Management monitors the operating results of the geographical units separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss. However,
Group financing (including finance costs and finance income) and income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not
allocated to operating segments.
Inter-segment transactions are entered into under normal arm’s length terms in a manner similar to transactions with third parties.
Segment revenue, segment expenses and segment results include transactions between segments. Those transactions are
eliminated on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED
For the year ended 31 December 2011

1. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
1.1.3 Segment information (continued)
Segment revenue is derived from mining activities and group services.
The following table presents revenue and profit, asset and liability information from continuing operations regarding the Group’s
geographical segments:
Year ended 31 December 2011

Lesotho
(US$’000)

Australia
(US$’000)

Botswana
(US$’000)

Belgium
(US$’000)

BVI, RSA
and UK
(US$’000)

Total
(US$’000)

Sales
Total sales
Inter-segment sales
Sales to external customers

300 587

89 432

–

300 244

13 968

704 231

(297 027)

–

–

(58)

(11 572)

(308 657)

3 560

89 432

–

300 186

2 396

395 574

40 594

27 382

–

279

1 735

69 990

Results
Depreciation and amortisation1
Share-based equity transactions
Resource extension development costs
Segment operating profit/(loss)

129

145

–

–

1 181

1 455

–

1 767

–

–

–

1 767

167 442

3 070

161

1 285

(18 362)

153 596
1 830

Net finance income

308

Share of profit of associate
Profit before tax from continuing operations

155 734

Income tax expense

(52 946)

Profit for the period from continuing
operations

102 788

Segment assets
Segment liabilities

371 503

117 896

66 749

3 966

113 682

673 796

54 620

59 014

2 952

2 324

3 042

121 952

1 Depreciation and amortisation includes waste amortisation of US$18.6 million and US$18.7 million at Lesotho and Australia respectively; property, plant and equipment depreciation and
mining assets amortisation.

Other segment information
Capital expenditure
– Property, plant and equipment

18 714

19 738

21 791

11

1 091

61 345

– Waste stripping

56 486

30 828

–

–

–

87 314

Total capital expenditure

75 200

50 566

21 791

11

1 091

148 659

Annual revenue from two customers amounted to US$134.4 million (31 December 2010: US$91.5 million) arising from sales
reported in the Lesotho, Belgium and Australian segments.
Segment liabilities do not include deferred tax liabilities of US$68.1 million.
Total sales for the period are significantly higher than that in the prior period as a result of an increase in the number of carats
recovered and sold in the Lesotho operation, together with an increase in diamonds prices at both the Lesotho and Australian
operations.
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1.1.3 Segment information (continued)
Lesotho
(US$’000)

Australia
(US$’000)

Botswana
(US$’000)

Belgium
(US$’000)

BVI, RSA
and UK
(US$’000)

Total
(US$’000)

Total sales

189 080

77 961

–

80 744

15 547

363 332

Inter-segment sales

(88 096)

–

–

(69)

(8 791)

(96 956)

Sales to external customers

100 984

77 961

–

80 675

6 756

266 376

34 124

21 724

–

72

1 803

57 723

1 357

1 644

528

(20 894)

52 271

Year ended 31 December 2010

Focus on value creation

Sales

Results
Share-based equity transactions
Segment operating profit/(loss)

92

195

–

68 047

4 638

(48)

Net finance income

2 470

Share of loss of associate

(261)

Profit before tax from continuing operations

54 480

Income tax expense

(18 207)

Profit for the period from continuing
operations

36 273

Segment assets

410 811

91 078

52 775

2 399

75 040

632 103

Investment in associate

–

891

–

–

–

891

Total segment assets

410 811

91 969

52 775

2 399

75 040

632 994

31 607

42 604

220

1 584

3 103

79 118

Segment liabilities

business review

Depreciation and amortisation1

1 Depreciation and amortisation includes waste amortisation of US$10.2 million and US$13.7 million at Lesotho and Australia respectively; property, plant and equipment depreciation and
mining assets amortisation.

Other segment information
– Property, plant and equipment

12 288

7 126

1 840

– Waste stripping

40 279

16 812

–

Total capital expenditure

52 567

23 938

1 840

597

1 241

23 092

–

–

57 091

597

1 241

80 183
Governance

Capital expenditure

Segment assets do not include assets of the disposal group classified as held for sale of US$3.1 million.
Segment liabilities do not include deferred tax liabilities of US$71.0 million and liabilities directly associated with the assets of the
disposal groups classified as held for sale of US$1.9 million.
1.2 Summary of significant accounting policies
1.2.1 Basis of presentation
The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis, except as modified by the revaluation of availablefor-sale financial assets and liabilities (including derivative financial instruments) at fair value through profit or loss. The accounting
policies have been consistently applied except for the adoption of the new standards and interpretations detailed below.

Financial statements

The functional currency of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries is the US dollar, which is the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entities operate. All amounts are expressed in US dollars. The financial statements of
subsidiaries whose functional and reporting currency is in currencies other than the US dollar have been converted into US dollars
on the basis as set out in Note 1.2.14. Foreign currency translations.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements
are disclosed in Note 1.2.25. Critical accounting estimates and judgements.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED
For the year ended 31 December 2011

1. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
1.2.1 Basis of presentation (continued)
The Group has also adopted the following standards and interpretations from 1 January 2011:
IAS 24 Related party transactions (amendment)
The IASB has issued an amendment to IAS 24 that clarifies the definitions of a related party. The new definitions emphasise
a symmetrical view of related party relationships as well as clarifying in which circumstances persons and key management
personnel affect related party relationships of an entity.
Secondly, the amendment introduces an exemption from the general related party disclosure requirements for transactions
with a government and entities that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by the same government as the
reporting entity. The adoption of the amendment did not have any significant impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group. Refer note 23, Related Parties for disclosure of related party transactions.
IAS 32 Financial instruments: Presentation (amendment)
The amendment alters the definition of a financial liability in IAS 32 to enable entities to classify rights issues and certain options
or warrants as equity instruments. The amendment is applicable if the rights are given pro rata to all of the existing owners of the
same class of an entity’s non-derivative equity instruments, to acquire a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments for a
fixed amount in any currency. The amendment has had no effect on the financial position or performance of the Group.
IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement (amendment)
The amendment removes an unintended consequence when an entity is subject to minimum funding requirements (MFR)
and makes an early payment of contributions to cover such requirements. The amendment permits a prepayment of future
service cost by the entity to be recognised as a pension asset. The Group is not subject to minimum funding requirements.
The amendment to the interpretation therefore had no effect on the financial position or performance of the Group.
Improvements to IFRSs
In May 2010 the International Accounting Standards Board issued its third omnibus of amendments to its standards, primarily
with a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. There are separate transitional provisions for each standard. The
adoption of the following amendments resulted in changes to accounting policies but did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group and did not have any additional disclosure requirements other than those detailed below.
IFRS 3 Business combinations
The measurement options available for non-controlling interest (NCI) have been amended. Only components of NCI that
constitute a present ownership interest that entitles their holder to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liquidation shall be measured at either fair value or at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components are to be measured at their acquisition date fair value. The amendments to IFRS 3
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011. The Group, however, adopted these as of 1 January 2011 and
changed its accounting policy accordingly as the amendment was issued to eliminate unintended consequences that may arise
from the adoption of IFRS 3.
IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements
The amendment clarifies that an option to present an analysis of each component of other comprehensive income may be
included either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements. The Group provides this analysis
in Note 18, Issued capital and reserves.
IAS 34 Interim financial statements
The amendment requires additional disclosures for fair values and changes in classification of financial assets, as well as changes
to contingent assets and liabilities in interim condensed financial statements. There was no additional disclosure necessary in
this report.
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1.2.1 Basis of presentation (continued)
The amendments to the following standards did not have any impact on the accounting policies, financial position
or performance of the Group:

IFRS 3
IFRS 3
IAS 27
IFRIC 13
IFRIC 19

Financial Instruments — Disclosures: The amendment was intended to simplify the disclosures
provided by reducing the volume of disclosures around collateral held and improving disclosures
by requiring qualitative information to put the quantitative information in context
Business Combinations — Clarification that contingent consideration arising from business
combination prior to adoption of IFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) are accounted for in accordance with
IFRS 3 (2005)
Business Combinations — Unreplaced and voluntarily replaced share-based payment awards and
its accounting treatment within a business combination
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements — applying the IAS 27 (as revised in 2008) transition
requirements to consequentially amended standards
Customer Loyalty Programmes — in determining the fair value of award credits, an entity shall
consider discounts and incentives that would otherwise be offered to customers not participating
in the loyalty programme)
Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

Focus on value creation

IFRS 7

There are no other standards and interpretations that have been issued and endorsed, and are therefore not yet effective.

business review

Business environment and country risk
The Group’s operations are subject to country risk being the economic, political and social risks inherent in doing business
in certain areas of Africa, Indonesia and Australia. These risks include matters arising out of the policies of the government,
economic conditions, imposition of or changes to taxes and regulations, foreign exchange rate fluctuations and the enforceability
of contract rights.
The consolidated financial information reflects management’s assessment of the impact of these business environments on the
operations and the financial position of the Group. The future business environment may differ from management’s assessment.

Financial statements
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1.2.2 Going concern
The Company’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are
set out in the Business Review on pages 14 to 41. The financial position of the Company, its cashflows and liquidity position are
described in the Business Review on pages 30 to 33. In addition, Note 26, Financial Risk Management, includes the Company’s
objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital; its financial risk management objectives; details of its financial
instruments and its exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED
For the year ended 31 December 2011

1. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
1.2.2 Going concern (continued)
After making enquiries which include reviews of forecasts and budgets, timing of cashflows, borrowing facilities and sensitivity
analyses and considering the uncertainties described in this report either directly or by cross reference, the Directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Group and the Company have adequate financial resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual report and
accounts of the Company.
These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the Group will be able to meet
its liabilities as they fall due for the foreseeable future.
Refer to Note 26, Financial Risk Management for statements on the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for managing
its capital; details of its financial instruments and hedging activities; its exposures to market risk in relation to commodity price
and foreign exchange risks; cashflow interest rate risk; credit risk and liquidity risk.
1.2.3 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of their acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. Control comprises the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of the investee so as to obtain benefit from its activities and is achieved through direct or indirect ownership of voting
rights; currently exercisable or convertible potential voting rights; or by way of contractual agreement. The financial statements
of subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting year as the
parent company and are based on consistent accounting policies. All intragroup balances and transactions, including unrealised
profits arising from them, are eliminated in full.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the Group
loses control over a subsidiary, it (i) derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary; (ii) derecognises
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest; (iii) derecognises the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity;
(iv) recognises the fair value of the consideration received; (v) recognises the fair value of any investment retained; (vi) recognises
any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; (vii) reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.
Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly and indirectly, to the parent company
and is presented separately within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from equity attributable
to owners of the parent. Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a
deficit balance.
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1.2.3 Basis of consolidation (continued)
Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Focus on value creation

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method, except when the asset is classified as held-for-sale. Under
the equity method, the investment is initially recognised at cost and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise
the Group’s share of the profits or losses of the associate from the date acquired. The use of the equity method is discontinued
from the date the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate or it becomes a subsidiary. The excess of the cost
over the Company’s interests in the net fair value of an associate’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, at the
date of acquisition, is accounted for as goodwill and is included in the carrying amount of the associate. Any impairment losses are
deducted from the carrying amount of the investment in associate. Distributions received from the associate reduce the carrying
amount of the investment in associate. Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the investment is accounted for in
accordance with IAS 39. The fair value of the investment at the date that it ceases to be an associate is its cost on initial recognition
as a financial asset in accordance with IAS 39.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of associates to bring their accounting policies into line with
those used by the Group.
Profits and losses resulting from transactions with associates are recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests
in the associate.

business review

1.2.4 Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Exploration and evaluation activity involves the search for mineral resources, the determination of technical feasibility and the
assessment of commercial viability of an identified resource. Exploration and evaluation activity includes:
• acquisition of rights to explore;
• researching and analysing historical exploration data;
• gathering exploration data through topographical, geochemical and geophysical studies;
• exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling;
• determining and examining the volume and grade of the resource;
• surveying transportation and infrastructure requirements; and
• conducting market and finance studies.
Administration costs that are not directly attributable to a specific exploration area are charged to the income statement.
Licence costs paid in connection with a right to explore in an existing exploration area are capitalised and amortised over
the term of the permit.
Governance

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is capitalised as incurred. Capitalised exploration expenditure is recorded as a component
of property, plant and equipment at cost less accumulated impairment charges. As the asset is not available for use, it is not
depreciated.
All capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is monitored for indications of impairment. Where a potential impairment
is indicated, assessments are performed for each area of interest in conjunction with the group of operating assets (representing
a cash generating unit (CGU)) to which the exploration is attributed. To the extent that exploration expenditure is not expected
to be recovered, it is charged to the income statement. Exploration areas where reserves have been discovered, but require major
capital expenditure before production can begin, are continually evaluated to ensure that commercial quantities of reserves exist
or to ensure that additional exploration work is underway as planned.

Financial statements

1.2.5 Development expenditure
When proved reserves are determined and development is sanctioned, capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure
is reclassified within property, plant and equipment to development expenditure. As the asset is not available for use, during
the development phase, it is not depreciated. On completion of the development, any capitalised exploration and evaluation
expenditure already capitalised to development expenditure, together with the subsequent development expenditure,
is reclassified within property, plant and equipment to mining assets and depreciated on the basis as laid out in Note 1.2.6.
Property, plant and equipment.
All development expenditure is monitored for indications of impairment annually.
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1. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
1.2.6 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition and construction of the items, amongst others,
professional fees, and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Subsequent costs to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is accounted for separately, is
capitalised when the cost of the item can be measured reliably, with the carrying amount of the original component being written
off. All repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.
Depreciation commences when an asset is available for use. Depreciation is charged so as to write off the depreciable amount
of the asset to its residual value over its estimated useful life, using a method that reflects the pattern in which the asset’s future
economic benefits are expected to be consumed by the Group.
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.
The following methods and useful lives were applied during the period:
Item

Method

Useful life

Mining assets

Straight line

Lesser of life of mine and period of lease

Decommissioning assets

Straight line

Lesser of life of mine and period of lease

Leasehold improvements

Straight line

Lesser of 3 years and period of lease

Plant and equipment

Straight line

3 – 10 years

Finance lease assets

Straight line

Lesser of period of lease or 5 years

Other assets

Straight line

2 – 5 years

Pre-production mine stripping costs are capitalised to development costs. Stripping costs incurred during the production phase
to remove additional overburden or waste ore are deferred when they give access to future economic benefits and charged to
operating costs using the expected average stripping ratio over the average life of the area being mined. The average stripping
ratio is calculated as the number of tonnes of waste material expected to be removed during the life of area, per tonne of
ore mined.
The average life of area cost per tonne is calculated as the total expected costs to be incurred to mine the orebody divided by
the number of tonnes expected to be mined. The average life of area stripping ratio and the average life of area cost per tonne
are recalculated annually in light of additional knowledge and changes in estimates. Changes in the stripping ratio are accounted
for prospectively as a change in estimate.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset. These are included
in the income statement.
1.2.7 Investment property
Investment property is initially recognised using the cost model. Subsequent recognition is at cost less accumulated depreciation
and less any accumulated impairment losses. Rental income from investment property is recognised on a straight line basis over
the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging the lease are capitalised to investment property
and depreciated over the lease term. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis as follows:
Investment property

No depreciation is provided for due to depreciable amount being zero

Initial direct costs capitalised to investment property

5 years

1.2.8 Business combinations, goodwill and other intangible assets
Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree. The choice of measurement of non-controlling interest, either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets is determined on a transaction by transaction basis. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in
administrative expenses.
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1.2.8 Business combinations, goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
Focus on value creation

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability will be
recognised in accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration
is classified as equity, it should not be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.
Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of the consideration
transferred and the amount recognised for the non-controlling interest (and where the business combination is achieved
in stages, the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree) over the net identifiable
amounts of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed in exchange for the business combination. Assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in transactions separate to the business combinations, such as the settlement of pre-existing relationships or
post-acquisition remuneration arrangements are accounted for separately from the business combination in accordance with
their nature and applicable IFRSs. Identifiable intangible assets, meeting either the contractual-legal or separability criterion are
recognised separately from goodwill. Contingent liabilities representing a present obligation are recognised if the acquisition-date
fair value can be measured reliably.
If the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of the consideration transferred and the amount recognised for the
non-controlling interest (and where the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition-date fair value of the
‘acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree) is lower than the fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities and the fair value of any pre-existing interest held in the business acquired, the difference is recognised in profit and loss.

business review

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cashgenerating units (or groups of cash generating units) that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. Each unit or group of units to which goodwill is allocated shall
represent the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not be
larger than an operating segment before aggregation.
Where goodwill forms part of a cash generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss
on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Financial statements

Governance

Concessions and licences
Concessions and licences are shown at cost. Concessions and licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight line
method to allocate the cost of concessions and licences over the shorter of the life of mine or term of the licence once
production commences.
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1. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
1.2.9 Other financial assets
• financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;
• loans and receivables;
• held-to-maturity investments; and
• available-for-sale financial assets.
Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every
reporting date.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus (in the case of investments, not at fair value
though profit or loss) directly attributable costs.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held-for-trading, and those designated at fair value through profit or loss.
Upon initial recognition, a financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short
term or if so designated by management. Derivatives are also categorised as held-for-trading unless they are designated as
hedges. Gains and losses on investments held for trading are recognised in profit or loss. Assets in this category are classified as
current assets if they are either held-for-trading or are expected to be realised within 12 months of the balance sheet date.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets, except those with maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date.
These are classified as non-current assets. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less
any allowance for impairment, if the time value of money is significant. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. A provision for impairment of
trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due
according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cashflows, discounted at an appropriate interest rate. The amount of the provision is
recognised in the income statement.
Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the
Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. If the time value of money is significant, held-tomaturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.
Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of
the balance sheet date. After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value with gains or losses
being recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment is derecognised or until the investment is determined
to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is included in profit or loss.
Cashflow hedges
For cashflow hedges, the effective portions of the fair value gains and losses are recognised in equity until the hedging instrument
expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting. Then any cumulative gain or loss existing
in equity at that time remains in equity until the forecast transaction is eventually recognised in the income statement or included
in the initial measurement of covered assets and liabilities. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the
cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the income statement and then the gains and
losses are recognised in earnings or included in the initial measurement of covered assets or liabilities. The ineffective portion of
fair value gains and losses is reported in earnings in the period to which they relate.
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1.2.9 Other financial assets (continued)
Hedge accounting is applied provided certain criteria are met. At the inception of a hedging relationship, the relationship
between the hedging instruments and hedged items, its risk management objective and its strategy for undertaking the hedge
is documented. A documented assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether or not the hedging
instruments, that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting the changes attributable to the hedged risks
in the cashflows of the hedged items, is also prepared.
Fair value
The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference to quoted
market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For investments where there is no active market, fair
value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions;
reference to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same; discounted cashflow analysis
or other valuation models.
Amortised cost
Held to maturity investments and loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost. This is computed using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. The calculation takes into account any premium or discount on
acquisition and includes transaction costs and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.

business review

1.2.10 Impairments
Non-financial assets
Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cashflows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that were previously impaired are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
each reporting date.
A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased
to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such a reversal is recognised in the income
statement. After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying
amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.
Financial assets
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets are impaired.

Governance

Assets carried at amortised cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on assets carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss
is measured as the difference between the assets carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cashflows (excluding
future expected credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through use of an allowance
account. The amount of the loss shall be recognised in profit or loss.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed, to the extent that the
carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date, any subsequent reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial statements

In relation to trade receivables, a provision for impairment is made when there is objective evidence (such as the probability of
insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor) that the Group will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under
the original terms of the invoice. The carrying amount of the receivable is reduced through use of an allowance account. Impaired
debts are derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible.
Available-for-sale financial investments
If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and
amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss, is transferred from equity to
profit or loss. Reversals in respect of equity instruments classified as available-for-sale are not recognised in profit or loss. Reversals
of impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through profit or loss if the increase in fair value of the instrument can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss.
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1. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
1.2.11 Inventories
Inventories, which include rough diamonds, ore stock piles and consumables, are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses, are recognised in the period the writedown or loss occurs. Cost is determined as the average cost of production, using the ‘first-in-first-out method’. Cost includes
directly attributable mining overheads, but excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.
1.2.12 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at amortised cost. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand,
deposits held at call with banks, other short term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.
For the purpose of the cashflow statement, cash and cash equivalents consists of cash and cash equivalents as defined above,
net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
1.2.13 Issued share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.
1.2.14 Foreign currency translations
Presentation currency
The results and financial position of the Group’s subsidiaries which have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
• balance sheet items are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;
• income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions);
• all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.
Details of the rates applied at the respective balance sheet dates and for the income statement transactions are detailed in
Note 18, Issued capital and reserves.
Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
the period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or
loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as
at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Monetary items for each balance sheet presented are translated
at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet.
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1.2.15 Share-based payments
Employees (including Senior Executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions,
whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (equity settled transactions). In situations where some
or all of the goods or services received by the entity as consideration for equity instruments cannot be specifically identified, they
are measured as the difference between the fair value of the share-based payment and the fair value of any identifiable goods or
services received at the grant date. For cash-settled transactions, the liability is remeasured at each reporting date until settlement,
with the changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Equity-settled transactions
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted and is recognised as an expense over the vesting period, which ends on the date on which the relevant employees
become fully entitled to the award. Fair value is determined using an appropriate pricing model. In valuing equity-settled
transactions, no account is taken of any vesting conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the Company
(market conditions).
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market
condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance conditions are satisfied.

business review

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense is calculated, representing the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and management’s best estimate of the achievement or otherwise of non-market conditions and of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest or, in the case of an instrument subject to a market condition, be treated
as vesting as described above. The movement in cumulative expense since the previous balance sheet date is recognised in the
income statement, with a corresponding entry in equity.
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified or a new award is designated as replacing a cancelled or settled award,
the cost based on the original award terms continues to be recognised over the original vesting period. In addition, an expense
is recognised over the remainder of the new vesting period for the incremental fair value of any modification, based on the
difference between the fair value of the original award and the fair value of the modified award, both as measured on the date
of the modification. No reduction is recognised if this difference is negative.
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any cost not yet
recognised in the income statement for the award is expensed immediately.
1.2.16 Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised
cost; any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement,
unless capitalised in accordance with Note 1.2.23. Finance costs, over the period of the borrowings, using the effective interest
rate method.

Governance

Bank overdrafts are recognised at amortised cost.
Fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss includes financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit and loss.
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the income statement.
1.2.17 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when:

Financial statements

• the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event;
• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation, using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as finance costs.
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1. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
1.2.18 Restoration and rehabilitation
The mining, extraction and processing activities of the Group normally give rise to obligations for site restoration and
rehabilitation. Rehabilitation works can include facility decommissioning and dismantling; removal and treatment of waste
materials; land rehabilitation; and site restoration. The extent of the work required and the estimated cost of final rehabilitation,
comprising liabilities for decommissioning and restoration, are based on current legal requirements, existing technology and the
Group’s environmental policies and is reassessed annually. Cost estimates are not reduced by the potential proceeds from the sale
of property, plant and equipment.
Provisions for the cost of each restoration and rehabilitation programme are recognised at the time the environmental
disturbance occurs. When the extent of the disturbance increases over the life of the operation, the provision is increased
accordingly. Costs included in the provision encompass all restoration and rehabilitation activity expected to occur.
The restoration and rehabilitation provisions are measured at the expected value of future cashflows, discounted to their present
value. Discount rates used are specific to the country in which the operation is located. The value of the provision is progressively
increased over time as the effect of the discounting unwinds, which is recognised in finance charges. Restoration and
rehabilitation provisions are also adjusted for changes in estimates.
When provisions for restoration and rehabilitation are initially recognised, the corresponding cost is capitalised as an asset where it
gives rise to a future benefit and depreciated over future production from the operation to which it relates.
1.2.19 Taxation
Income tax for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement except to the
extent that it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. Current tax expense is
the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date.
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will
be realised.
In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities,
deferred tax is provided except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled by the Group and
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled
entities, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Withholding tax is recognised in the income statement when dividends or other services which give rise to that withholding tax
are declared or accrued respectively. Withholding tax is disclosed as part of current tax.
Royalties
Royalties and revenue-based taxes are accounted for under IAS 12 when they have the characteristics of an income tax. This is
considered to be the case when they are imposed under Government authority and the amount payable is based on taxable
income – rather than based on quantity produced or as a percentage of revenue. For such arrangements, current and deferred tax
is provided on the same basis as described above for other forms of taxation. Obligations arising from royalty arrangements that
do not satisfy these criteria are recognised as current provisions and disclosed as part of selling and distribution costs. The royalties
incurred by the Group are considered not to meet the criteria to be treated as part of income tax.
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1.2.20 Employee benefits
Provision is made in the financial statements for all short term employee benefits. Liabilities for wages and salaries, including
non-monetary benefits, benefits required by legislation, annual leave, retirement benefits and accumulating sick leave obliged to
be settled within 12 months of the reporting date, are recognised in trade and other payables and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the balance sheet date are
discounted to present value. The Group recognises an expense for contributions to the defined contribution pension fund in the
period in which the employees render the related service.
Bonus plans
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses. The Group recognises a liability where contractually obliged
or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation. These liabilities are recognised in trade and other
payables and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
1.2.21 Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at inception
date of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement
conveys a right to use the asset. A reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies:
(a) There is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement;
(b) A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless the term of the renewal or extension was initially included in the
lease term;
(c) There is a change in the determination of whether fulfilment is dependent on a specific asset; or
(d) There is a substantial change to the asset.

business review

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the change in circumstances
gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or (d) and at the date of renewal or extension period for scenario (b).
Group as a lessee
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and
the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges
so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding lease obligations, net of finance charges,
are included in financial liabilities.
The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each year. The property, plant and equipment acquired under
finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term.
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Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases. Payments
made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight
line basis over the period of the lease. When the Group is a party to a lease where there is a contingent rental element associated
within the agreement, a cost is recognised as and when the contingency materialises.
Group as a lessor
Assets leased out under operating leases are included in investment property. Rental income is recognised on a straight line basis
over the lease term. Refer to Note 1.2.7 Investment property for further information on the treatment of investment property.

Financial statements

1.2.22 Revenue
Revenue is measured at fair value of the consideration received or receivable and comprises the fair value for the sale of goods,
net of value-added tax, rebates and discounts and after eliminated sales within the Group. The Group assesses its revenue
arrangements against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as principal or agent. The Group has concluded that it is
acting as principal in all of its revenue arrangements. Revenue is recognised as follows:
Sale of goods
Sales of diamonds and other products are recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the customer and can be measured reliably and receipt of future economic benefits is probable.
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1.2.25 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
Property, plant and equipment – recoverable amount
The calculation of the recoverable amount of an asset requires significant judgements, estimates and assumptions, including
future demand, technological changes, exchange rates, interest rates and others.
Focus on value creation

Impairment of goodwill
The Group determines if goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the fair value of the
cash-generating unit to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate
of the expected future cashflows from the cash-generating unit and a market related pre-tax discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cashflows.
Impairment of assets
The Group assesses each cash generating unit annually to determine whether any indication of impairment exists. Where an
indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is made, which is considered to be the higher of the
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. These assessments require the use of estimates and assumptions such as long term
diamond prices, discount rates, future capital requirements, exploration potential and operating performance. Fair value is
determined as management’s best estimate of the amount that would be obtained from the sale of the asset in an arm’s length
transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties. Fair value for mine assets is generally determined as the present value of
estimated future cashflows arising from the continued use of the asset using assumptions that an independent market participant
may take into account. Cashflows are discounted by an appropriate discount rate to determine the net present value.

business review

Provision for restoration and rehabilitation
Significant estimates and assumptions are made in determining the amount of the restoration and rehabilitation provisions.
These deal with uncertainties such as changes to the legal and regulatory framework, magnitude of possible contamination,
and the timing, extent and costs of required restoration and rehabilitation activity.
Taxation
The determination of the Group’s obligations and expense for taxes requires an interpretation of tax law and therefore certain
assumptions and estimates are made.

2. REVENUE
Sale of goods
Rendering of services

2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

394 922

265 767

652

609

395 574

266 376

Financial statements

Governance

Finance revenue is reflected in Note 4, Net finance income/(costs).
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3. OPERATING PROFIT

2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

245

68

(70 289)

(57 777)

267

54

Operating profit includes the following:
Other operating income
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment – continuing operations
Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – continuing operations
Less: Depreciation capitalised to exploration assets – continuing operations
Less: Depreciation and amortisation capitalised to inventory – continuing operations

32

122

(69 990)

(57 601)

(196 781)

(177 833)

(391)

(856)

7 164

1 137

(1 767)

–

(2 238)

(2 493)

(33 197)

(31 210)

(6 153)

(4 862)

Inventories
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value
Foreign exchange gain
Resource extension development costs
Operating lease expenses as a lessee
Lease payments recognised in the income statement
– Mine site property
– Equipment and service leases
– Contingent rental – alluvial deposits

–

(14)

(993)

(1 213)

(42 581)

(39 792)

– Group financial statements

(971)

(1 094)

– Statutory

(249)

(282)

(1 220)

(1 376)

– Group financial statements

–

(25)

– Statutory

–

(14)

–

(39)

(1 220)

(1 415)

– Vehicles
– Leased premises
Auditor’s remuneration – Ernst &Young
Audit fee

Auditor’s remuneration – Other
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2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

Tax services advisory and consultancy

(61)

(121)

Tax compliance services

(17)

(13)

(9)

(34)

(87)

(168)

(225)

(407)

Other services

Focus on value creation

Other non-audit fees – Ernst & Young

Other non-audit fees – Other
Other services
– Internal audit
– Tax services advisory & consultancy

–

(63)

(225)

(470)

(312)

(638)

(39 508)

(34 885)

Employee benefits expense
Salaries and wages1
Underlying earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA)

153 596

52 271

Foreign exchange gain

(7 164)

(1 137)

Share-based payments

1 455

1 644

Other operating income

(249)

(2 569)

1 767

–

Operating profit

Resource extension development costs
Depreciation and amortisation (excluding waste amortisation)
Underlying EBITDA

30 384

31 797

179 789

82 006

2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

3 763

4 025

23

77

3 786

4 102

(1)

(35)

business review

Underlying EBITDA is shown as the Directors consider this measure to be a relevant guide
to the performance of the Group. The reconciliation from operating profit to underlying
EBITDA is as follows:

1 Includes contributions to defined contribution plan of US$0.6 million (31 December 2010: US$0.5 million).

Directors’ remuneration
Refer to the Directors’ Remuneration Report for full details of transactions with Directors.
Governance

4. NET FINANCE INCOME
Finance income
Bank deposits
Other
Total finance income
Bank overdraft

(35)

(26)

Finance costs on unwinding of rehabilitation provision

(1 920)

(1 571)

Total finance costs

(1 956)

(1 632)

1 830

2 470

Interest on debt and borrowings
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5. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Notes

2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

(34 347)

(12 489)

(8 636)

(2 188)

(9 963)

(3 530)

(52 946)

(18 207)

155 734

54 480

3 128

(708)

158 862

53 772

%

%

26.5

28.0

1.7

10.9

–

0.8

(1.4)

(2.6)

–

(5.0)

1.9

(1.4)

Income statement
Current
– Overseas
Withholding tax
– Overseas
Deferred
– Overseas
Reconciliation of tax rate:
Profit before taxation from continuing operations
Profit/(loss) before taxation from discontinued operations
Profit before taxation

Applicable income tax rate
Permanent differences
Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Effect of overseas tax at different rates
Utilisation of previously unrecognised deferred tax assets
Effect of deferred tax on unremitted earnings
Tax effect of share of loss of associate
Withholding tax
Effective income tax rate
Income tax expense reported in the consolidated income statement
Income tax attributable to discontinued operations

96

GEM DIAMONDS Annual Report 2011

6

–

(1.3)

5.6

4.0

34.3

33.4

(52 946)

(18 207)

–

6. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Indonesia
During the prior year the decision was made to dispose of the operations in the BDI Group. On 28 October 2011, the Group
completed the sale of its Indonesian operation for a consideration of US$5.0 million, resulting in the Group realising a gain
of US$2.7 million. Refer Note 21.3, Cash received/(disposed) from disposal of subsidiary for further detail on the disposal.
Focus on value creation

Central Africa
During the prior year, the operations in the Central African Republic were disposed of for US$0.1 million of which the full amount
was received in February 2011.
The results of the Indonesian operation for the year ended 31 December 2011 and both the Indonesian and Central African
operations for the year ended 31 December 2010 are as follows:
2010
US$’000

–

73

Cost of sales and other operating costs

(3 360)

(2 155)

Gross loss

(3 360)

(2 082)

3 834

1 579

–

(3)

Revenue

Other operating income
Royalties and selling costs

–

(2)

(3)

(34)

4

(44)

Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries

2 653

(122)

Profit /(loss) before tax from discontinued operations

3 128

(708)

–

618

Finance costs
Share-based payments
Foreign exchange gain/(loss)

Tax expense

–

618

3 128

(90)

– Basic

2

–

– Diluted

2

–

Non-current assets

–

2 500

Current assets

–

582

Assets of disposal groups classified as held for sale

–

3 082

Non-current liabilities

–

1 484

Current liabilities

–

392

Liabilities of disposal groups classified as held for sale

–

1 876

Operating

(1 136)

(2 142)

Investing

1 527

831

Financing

(370)

1 453

21

142

– related to current pre-tax loss
Profit/(loss) after tax for the year from discontinued operations

business review

2011
US$’000

Earnings per share from discontinued operations (cents)

Governance

The major classes of assets and liabilities classified as held for sale at 31 December are as follows:

Net cash inflow

Financial statements

The net cashflows attributable to the discontinued operations are as follows:
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7. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE
*

During February 2010, Blina Minerals NL (‘Blina‘), which is a listed company on the Australian Stock Exchange and previously a
subsidiary of Kimberley Diamonds, raised AU$1.5 million by way of a share placement. Kimberley Diamonds did not participate
in all of its rights to the placement and as a result, the Group’s shareholding in Blina decreased to 23.11% and the Company
ceased to have controlling interest over Blina. As such Blina was deconsolidated from the Group effective 26 February 2010.
As the Group still participated in the financial and operating policy decisions, it maintained significant influence in Blina.

** During September 2010, Blina raised a further AU$1.5 million by way of a further share placement. Kimberley Diamonds did
not participate in any of its rights to the placement and as a result, the Group’s shareholding in Blina decreased to 19.52%.
The Group continued to hold significant influence in Blina.
*** During the third quarter of the current financial year, the Group’s shareholding in Blina decreased to 16.98%, however it
maintained significant influence. On 25 November 2011, the Group decreased its representatives on Blina’s Board and as a
result no longer had significant influence over Blina. In accordance with the relevant accounting standards, the investment
was fair valued as at 25 November 2011 and reclassified to other financial asset (refer note 13, Other financial assets). This fair
value adjustment resulted in a gain of US$0.5 million and is included in the share of the associate’s profits.
2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

Blina Minerals NL

–

891

Loan owing by associate

–

366

–

1 257

1 257

–

Fair value on deconsolidation of Blina Minerals NL*

–

921

Additional investment in Blina Minerals NL**

–

138

308

(261)

Investment details
Listed

Movement in carrying amount
At 1 January

Share of profits/(losses)***
Transfer to other financial assets – fair value
Foreign exchange differences
Loan issued
Loan transfer to other financial assets
At 31 December

(1 204)

–

5

93

–

366

(366)

–

–

1 257

–

974

Fair value of investment in listed associate (applicable to the prior year only)
The fair value of the investment in Blina Minerals NL at 31 December
Summarised financial information (applicable to the prior year only)
Extract from the statement of financial position of Blina Minerals NL:
4 316
Current assets

2 315

Non-current assets

2 001
(2 265)

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Net asset value

(673)
(1 592)
2 051

Extract from the statement of comprehensive income of Blina Minerals NL:
Net loss
Percentage interest in associate
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(1 409)
19.52%

8. EARNINGS PER SHARE (CENTS)

Profit for the year from continuing operations
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued operations
Less: non-controlling interests
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for basic and diluted earnings

2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

102 788

36 273

3 128

(90)

(38 247)

(15 998)

67 669

20 185

138 170

138 152

Focus on value creation

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations:

The weighted average number of shares takes into account the treasury shares at year end.
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year (‘000)

Earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year

Number of
shares
2011
(‘000)

Number of
shares
2010
(‘000)

138 170

138 152

business review

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year after taking into account future potential conversion
and issue rights associated with the ordinary shares.

Effect of dilution:
– Future share awards under the Employee Share Option Programme
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year adjusted for the effect of dilution

2 147

1 100

140 317

139 252

Financial statements

Governance

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date and the
date of completion of these financial statements.
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
As at 31 December 2011

Exploration &
Mining development
assets
assets
(US$’000)
(US$’000)

Decommissioning
Lease hold
assets improvements
(US$’000)
(US$’000)

Plant and
equipment
(US$’000)

Finance
lease assets
(US$’000)

Other assets
(US$’000)

Total
(US$’000)

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2011
Additions

567 320

94 718

22 298

108 371

242 224

991

14 119 1 050 041

87 232

21 471

8 879

843

26 364

–

3 870

148 659

–

–

–

(18)

(3 867)

(956)

(1 347)

(6 188)

Reclassifications

(15 609)

(473)

–

(19 642)

34 803

–

921

–

Foreign exchange differences

(52 697)

(8 712)

(1 918)

(5 351)

(19 608)

(35)

(1 984)

(90 305)

Balance at 31 December 2011

586 246

107 004

29 259

84 203

279 916

–

343 435

36 840

10 477

75 482

160 175

991

44 324

–

2 288

3 874

17 670

–

–

–

(18)

(3 804)

Disposals

15 579 1 102 207

Accumulated
depreciation/amortisation
Balance at 1 January 2011
Depreciation and
amortisation charge
Disposals

636 024

–

2 133

70 289

(956)

(1 346)

(6 124)

(3 739)

–

–

(7 194)

10 130

–

803

–

–

1 767

–

–

–

–

–

1 767

Foreign exchange differences

(13 756)

(6)

(488)

(2 308)

(7 190)

(35)

(903)

(24 686)

Balance at 31 December 2011

370 264

38 601

12 277

69 836

176 981

–

9 311

677 270

Net book value at
31 December 2011

215 982

68 403

16 982

14 367

102 935

–

6 268

424 937

Reclassifications
Impairment

100

8 624
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As at 31 December 2010

Mining
assets
(US$’000)

Exploration &
development
assets
(US$’000)

Decommissioning
assets
(US$’000)

Lease hold
improvements
(US$’000)

Plant and
equipment
(US$’000)

Finance
lease assets
(US$’000)

Other assets
(US$’000)

Total
(US$’000)

457 355

85 052

18 611

84 571

230 111

2 204

11 492

889 396

58 414

4 677

1 144

10 997

3 474

–

1 477

80 183

business review
Governance

Additions

Financial statements

Balance at 1 January 2010

Focus on value creation

Cost
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11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Other
intangibles
(US$’000)

Goodwill
(US$’000)

Total
(US$’000)

Balance at 1 January 2011

–

109 948

109 948

Foreign exchange differences

–

(5 620)

(5 620)

Balance at 31 December 2011

–

104 328

104 328

Balance at 1 January 2011

–

78 794

78 794

Foreign exchange differences

–

5

5

Balance at 31 December 2011

–

78 799

78 799

Net book value at 31 December 2011

–

25 529

25 529

Other
Intangibles
(US$’000)

Goodwill
(US$’000)

Total
(US$’000)

191

102 715

102 906

As at 31 December 2011

Cost

Accumulated amortisation/impairment

As at 31 December 2010

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2010
Assets of disposal group classified as held for sale

(21)

–

(21)

(170)

–

(170)

Foreign exchange differences

–

7 233

7 233

Balance at 31 December 2010

–

109 948

109 948

191

74 725

74 916

Disposal of subsidiaries

Accumulated amortisation/impairment
Balance at 1 January 2010
Assets of disposal group classified as held for sale

(21)

–

(21)

(170)

–

(170)

Foreign exchange differences

–

4 069

4 069

Balance at 31 December 2010

–

78 794

78 794

Net book value at 31 December 2010

–

31 154

31 154

Disposal of subsidiaries

Other intangibles in the prior year comprise of costs associated with acquiring and renewing licences and concessions.
Impairment of goodwill within the Group was tested in accordance with the Group’s policy. Refer to Note 12, Impairment testing
for further details.
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12. IMPAIRMENT TESTING
2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

23 648

28 859

1 881

2 295

25 529

31 154

Goodwill

– Letšeng Diamonds
– Calibrated Diamonds Investment Holdings
Balance at end of the year

Focus on value creation

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to the individual
cash-generating units, as follows:

Goodwill impairment testing is undertaken annually and whenever there are indications of impairment. The most recent test was
undertaken at 31 December 2011.
In assessing whether goodwill has been impaired, the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit is compared with its
recoverable amount.
There were no impairment write offs in the current year.
For the purpose of goodwill impairment testing in 2011, recoverable amounts for Letšeng Diamonds and Calibrated Diamonds
Investment Holdings have been determined based on value in use.

business review

Value in use
Cashflows are projected for a period up to the date that mining is expected to cease, based on management’s expectations at the
time of completing the testing, and is limited to the lesser of the current economic resource or the remaining 13 year mining lease
period. This date depends on a number of variables, including recoverable reserves and resources, the forecast selling prices and
the treatment costs.
Key assumptions used in the calculations
The key assumptions used in the calculation for goodwill asset are:
• recoverable reserves and resources
• expected carats recoverable
• expected grades achievable
• expected US$/carat prices
• expected plant throughput
• costs of extracting and processing

Governance

• discount rates
• foreign exchange rates
Economically recoverable reserves and resources, carats recoverable and grades achievable are based on management’s current
expectation and mine plan, supported by the evaluation work undertaken by appropriately qualified persons.
Long term US$/carat prices are based on external market consensus forecasts as published by independent marketing consultants
adjusted for the Group’s specific operations and contracted sales arrangements. Plant throughput is based on current plant
facilities and processing capacities. Costs are determined on management’s experience and the use of contractors over a period of
time whose costs are fairly reasonably determinable.

Financial statements

Discount rates are outlined below, and represent the real pre-tax rates. These rates are based on the weighted average cost of
capital of the Group and adjusted accordingly at a risk premium of each cash-generating unit, taking into account risks associated
with different cash-generating units.
The foreign exchange rates have been based on current spot exchange rates at the date of the value in use calculations.
2011

2010

17.7%

13.5%

Discount rate for each cash-generating unit
– Letšeng Diamonds
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12. IMPAIRMENT TESTING (continued)
Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
Given the current volatility in the market, adverse changes in key assumptions could result in changes to impairment charges.
The impairment test is most sensitive to changes in commodity prices and foreign exchange rates. The values assigned to these
key assumptions reflect past experience. No reasonably possible change in any of these key assumptions would cause Letšeng
Diamonds’ carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount of Calibrated Diamonds Investment Holdings was determined based on value in use calculation using
cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by senior management. The key assumptions include management’s best
estimate of the recoverability of the residual value of the assets taking into account the location of the assets and the ability to
dispose of the assets in the current economic climate.
2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

1 767

–

Other non-current assets
Resource extension development costs

During the year, the Group ceased its resource extension programme at Kimberley Diamonds which resulted in these costs, which
were being capitalised to the exploration asset, to be written off.
The Group will continue to test its other assets for impairment where indications are identified and may in future record additional
impairment charges or reverse any impairment charges to the extent that market conditions improve and to the extent permitted
by accounting standards.

13. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

Environmental bonds1

7 293

7 062

Chiri project loan2

5 626

5 626

Chiri option3

536

536

Available-for-sale investment4

498

–

Other assets5

634

–

Non-current

Other loans

–

282

14 587

13 506

9

45

9

45

14 596

13 551

Current
Other assets5

1 Environmental bonds may only be accessed when all relevant rehabilitation work is completed at the end of the project and represents restricted funds in the Group. These bonds are
carried at fair value through profit and loss.
2 The loan represents amounts advanced to the project in terms of the Co-operation Agreement concluded in relation to the Chiri Concession in Angola. The loan is interest free and is
repayable out of the earnings generated in the project once it commences, which is not anticipated to be within the next 12 months. This loan is carried at amortised cost.
3 The Chiri option relates to the costs associated and incurred in securing an option to acquire an indirect interest in the Chiri Concession. This option is carried at cost as fair value cannot
be determined. As the project that this option relates to is ongoing, there are no indicators of impairment. Opportunities continue to be explored in terms of the future of the Group’s
involvement in this project. Negotiations in this regard have been extended to 31 May 2012.
4 Available-for-sale investment relates to the investment in Blina Minerals NL which was reclassified from an associate to an available-for-sale asset during the current year and is carried at fair
value.
5 Other assets comprise mainly the loan owing by Blina Minerals NL which has been reclassified from investment in associate to other financial assets. Refer Note 7, Investment in associate for
further information.
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14. DEFERRED TAXATION
2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

86

78

Accrued leave
Operating lease liability
Provisions

5

23

4 730

3 717

4 821

3 818

(68 834)

(73 587)

(10)

(11)

Focus on value creation

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment
Prepayments
Provisions
Unremitted earnings
Net deferred tax liability

–

(116)

(4 038)

(1 116)

(72 882)

(74 830)

(68 061)

(71 012)

(71 012)

(60 549)

(9 000)

(5 905)

25

2

Reconciliation of deferred tax liability
Balance at beginning of year
– Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes
– Accrued leave
– Operating lease liability
– Unremitted earnings
– Prepayments
– Provisions
– Foreign exchange differences
Balance at end of year

(15)

(4)

(2 923)

785

(1)

(1)

1 750

1 593

13 115

(6 933)

(68 061)

(71 012)

business review

Movement in current period:

Financial statements

Governance

The Group has not recognised a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences associated with investments in
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14. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)
Of the US$318.4 million (31 December 2010: US$326.3 million) estimated tax losses, US$4.7 million (31 December 2010:
US$48.4 million) losses in various jurisdictions expire as follows:
31 December
2011
US$’000

31 December
2010
US$’000

–

28

2012

–

2 950

2013

3 576

5 126

2014

918

4 922

2011

2015

59

5 219

2016

168

18 910

2017

–

6 463

2018

–

4 763

4 721

48 381

2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

21 175

16 745

15. INVENTORIES
Diamonds on hand1

6 197

6 746

11 850

11 746

39 222

35 237

391

856

–

(117)

2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

Trade receivables

1 849

–

Prepayments

2 620

1 162

Ore stock piles1
Consumable stores1
Net realisable value write-down
Net realisable value write-down reversal (directly through other reserves)
1 Stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value.

16. RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

456

532

Other receivables

1 037

1 597

VAT receivable

4 183

3 900

10 145

7 191

Deposits

The carrying amounts above approximate their fair value.
Terms and conditions of the receivables:
These amounts are non-interest bearing and are settled in accordance with terms agreed between the parties.
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2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

1 084

1 149

9 875

7 147

Provision for impairment of receivables*
Receivables (at nominal value) impaired and fully provided for:
Neither past due nor impaired

Focus on value creation

Analysis of receivables
Past due but not impaired:
190

43

30 – 60 days

79

–

60 – 90 days

1

1

10 145

7 191

1 149

11

Charge for the year

218

1 028

Utilised during the year

(61)

–

(222)

110

1 084

1 149

2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

Cash on hand

2

13

Bank balances

62 014

47 712

< 30 days

Total receivables
Movements in the provision against receivables were as follows:
Balance at beginning of year

Foreign exchange differences
Balance at end of year

business review

* The provision for receivables was determined on an individual basis.

17. CASH AND SHORT TERM DEPOSITS

96 734

82 124

158 750

129 849

Short term bank deposits

The amounts reflected in the financial statements approximate fair value.
Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term deposits are generally call deposit
accounts and earn interest at the respective short term deposit rates.
At 31 December 2011, the Group had restricted cash of US$1.6 million (31 December 2010: US$5.3 million).
Governance

At 31 December 2011, the Group had a US$31.0 million three year revolving working capital facility which was signed during
November 2011. As at 31 December 2011 no funds had been drawn against this facility.

Financial statements

The Group’s cash surpluses are deposited with major financial institutions of high quality credit standing predominantly within
Lesotho, Australia and Switzerland.
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18. ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES
31 December 2011

31 December 2010

Number of
shares
‘000

US$’000

Number of shares
‘000

US$’000

200 000

2 000

200 000

2 000

138 267

1 383

138 267

1 383

–

–

–

–

138 267

1 383

138 267

1 383

Authorised – ordinary shares of US$0.01 each
As at year end
Issued and fully paid
Balance at beginning of year
Allotments during the year
Balance at end of year

There were no share transactions during the year.
Share premium
Share premium comprises the excess value recognised from the issue of ordinary shares at par value.
Treasury shares
The Company established an Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) on 5 February 2007. Under the terms of the ESOP, the Company
granted options to employees of over 376 500 ordinary shares with a nil exercise price upon listing.
At Listing, the Gem Diamonds Limited Employee Share Trust acquired 376 500 ordinary shares by subscription from the Company
as part of the Initial Awards under the ESOP arrangement at nominal value of US$0.01.
During the year, 3 000 shares were exercised (31 December 2010: 30 200) and 1 000 shares lapsed (31 December 2010: 18 350).
At 31 December 2011, 76 367 (31 December 2010: 80 367) shares were held by the trust.
Foreign
currency
translation
reserve
US$’000

Share-based
equity reserve
US$’000

Other
reserves
US$’000

Total
US$’000

Balance at 1 January 2011

(39 650)

40 975

–

1 325

Other comprehensive loss

(50 925)

–

(702)

(51 627)

Total comprehensive loss

(50 925)

–

(702)

(51 627)

–

1 582

–

1 582

Share-based payments
Balance at 31 December 2011

(90 575)

42 557

(702)

(48 720)

Balance at 1 January 2010

(65 643)

39 209

(117)

(26 551)

Other comprehensive income

25 993

–

117

26 110

Total comprehensive income

25 993

–

117

26 110

–

1 766

–

1 766

(39 650)

40 975

–

1 325

Share-based payments
Balance at 31 December 2010
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2011

2010

Average rate

Maloti to 1 US$

7.26

7.32

Period end

Maloti to 1 US$

8.07

6.62

ZAR to 1 US$

7.26

7.32

Period end

ZAR to 1 US$

8.07

6.62

Average rate

AUD to 1 US$

0.97

1.09

Period end

AUD to 1 US$

0.98

0.98

Average rate

Pula to 1 US$

6.84

6.79

Period end

Pula to 1 US$

7.47

6.45

Rupee to 1 US$

28.71

30.78

Average rate

Average rate

Rupee to 1 US$

29.35

30.15

Average rate

Dirham to 1 US$

3.67

3.67

Period end

Dirham to 1 US$

3.67

3.67

Period end

business review

Currency

Focus on value creation

Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of foreign entities.
During the year, the South African, Lesotho, Botswana, Australian, Mauritian and United Arab Emirate subsidiaries’ functional
currencies were different to the Group. The rates used to convert the South African Rand (ZAR), the Lesotho Loti (Maloti), the
Botswana Pula (Pula), the Australian Dollar (AUD), the Mauritius Rupee (MUR) and the United Arab Emirate Dirham (AED) into
US Dollars are as follows:

Share-based equity reserves
For detail on the share-based payment reserve refer to Note 27, Share-based payments.
Other reserves
The current year reserve relates to the loss on the year end valuation of the investment in Blina Minerals NL classified as an
available-for-sale asset. At the date of loss of significant influence, the difference between the carrying value and the fair value
of the investment was recognised in profit or loss. Subsequent movement in the fair value has given rise to this reserve through
other comprehensive income.
The prior year reserve relates to the acquisition reserves arising on the acquisition of Ghaghoo. At December 2008, the assets
giving rise to this reserve were written down. During 2010, the assets that gave rise to the reserve and prior period write-off
were restated back to their original value giving rise to a write-back of the reserve.

Governance

Non-controlling interests
No non-controlling interests were acquired during the course of the year.

Financial statements

Capital management
For details on capital management, refer to Note 26, Financial Risk Management.
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19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

6

1

661

684

667

685

Trade payables1

20 091

15 310

Accrued expenses1

Non-current
Accrued expenses1
Severance pay benefits2
Current
28 427

21 208

Leave benefits

2 439

2 342

Royalties1

4 046

3 362

Operating lease
Other
Total trade and other payables

20

82

2 075

1 970

57 098

44 274

57 765

44 959

The carrying amounts above approximate fair value.
Terms and conditions of the trade and other payables:
1 These amounts are non-interest bearing and are settled in accordance with terms agreed between the parties.
2 The severance pay benefits arise due to legislation requiring that two weeks of severance pay be provided for every completed year of service, payable on retirement.

20. PROVISIONS
2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

41 712

32 042

1 294

368

195

100

43 201

32 510

Employee
provisions

Other

Total

Rehabilitation provisions
Employee provisions
Other

Reconciliation of movement in provisions

Rehabilitation
provisions

32 042

368

100

32 510

Arising during the year

2 102

1 010

217

3 329

Utilised during the year

(16)

–

–

(16)

Balance at beginning of year

–

–

(100)

(100)

Increase in rehabilitation provisions

8 879

–

–

8 879

Unwinding of discount rate

1 920

–

–

1 920

Disposal of subsidiaries

Foreign exchange differences

(3 215)

(84)

(22)

(3 321)

Balance at end of year

41 712

1 294

195

43 201

Rehabilitation provisions
The provisions have been recognised as the Group has an obligation for rehabilitation of the mining areas. The provisions have
been calculated based on total estimated rehabilitation costs and discounted back to their present values. The pre-tax discount
rates are adjusted annually and reflect current market assessments. These costs are expected to be utilised over a life of 2.5 and
13 years respectively at the Australian and Lesotho mining areas.
A portion of the provisions has been secured by environmental bonds to the amount of US$7.3 million (31 December 2010:
US$7.1 million).
Employee provisions
Employee provisions relate predominantly to long service leave entitlements which are payable upon an employee attaining
a certain period of service and other employee benefits.
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21. CASHFLOW NOTES
21.1 Cash generated by operations
Notes

Profit before tax for the year from continuing operations
Profit/(loss) before tax for the year from discontinued operations

2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

155 734

54 480

3 128

(708)

3

69 990

57 601

Impairment of exploration assets

3

1 767

–

–

(921)

Fair value gain on deconsolidation
Write-down of inventory

3

391

856

Finance income

4

(3 786)

(4 102)

Finance costs

4

1 956

1 632

(548)

(903)

–

9

Movement in provisions
Mark to market revaluations

(308)

261

Unrealised foreign exchange differences

(3 794)

(7 459)

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment

(1 772)

(895)

Share of (profit)/loss in associate

7

Prepayments
Other non-cash movements
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

21.3

1 059

310

(5 939)

2 519

(2 653)

(1 791)
1 676
102 565

2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

Increase in inventories

(7 197)

(2 953)

(Increase)/decrease in receivables

(5 677)

13

Increase in trade and other payables

16 868

3 743

3 994

803

Financial statements

21.2 Working capital adjustments

Governance

1 455
216 680

Share-based equity transaction

business review

Depreciation and amortisation on property, plant and equipment

Focus on value creation

Adjustments for:
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21. CASHFLOW NOTES (continued)
21.3 Cash received/(disposed) from disposal of subsidiary
Property, plant and equipment

2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

2 486

(549)

132

(131)

Trade and other receivables

76

383

Cash and cash equivalents

100

369

Inventories

Trade and other payables

(308)

(436)

Provisions

(139)

(1 327)

2 347

(1 691)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

2 653

1 791

Proceeds on sale of subsidiaries

5 000

100

–

(100)

(100)

(369)

4 900

(369)

Proceeds on disposal not yet received
Cash equivalents sold
Net cash received/(disposed)

This relates to the disposal of the operations in Indonesia in the current year and in the Central African Republic in the prior year
(Refer Note 6, Discontinued Operations for additional information).

22. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Commitments
Operating lease commitments – Group as lessee
The Group has entered into commercial lease arrangements for rental of office premises. These leases have an average period of
two years with an option of renewal at the end of the period. The terms will be negotiated during the extension option periods
catered for in the agreement. There are no restrictions placed upon the lessee by entering into these leases.
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases:

– Within one year
– After one year but not more than five years
– More than five years

2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

1 248

1 263

933

1 597

–

–

2 181

2 860

Mining leases
Mining lease commitments represent the Group’s future obligation arising from agreements entered into with local authorities
in the mining areas that the Group operates.
The period of these commitments is determined as the lesser of the term of the agreement, including renewable periods or the
life of the mine. The estimated lease obligation regarding the future lease period, accepting stable inflation and exchange rates,
is as follows:
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2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

– Within one year

1 564

1 582

– After one year but not more than five years

6 312

6 497

– More than five years

7 086

8 519

14 962

16 598
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2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

– Within one year

36 212

44 538

– After one year but not more than five years

68 876

127 857

– More than five years

–

–

105 088

172 395

2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

Focus on value creation

Moveable equipment lease
The Group has entered into commercial lease arrangements which include the provision of loading, hauling and other
transportation services payable at a fixed rate per tonne of ore and waste mined, and power generator equipment payable based
on a consumption basis:

Capital expenditure
Approved but not contracted for
Approved and contracted for

322 705

–

29 588

10 374

In March 2011, the Board approved capital expenditure of US$85.0 million for the development of the Ghaghoo mine.

business review

In November 2011 the Group’s Board and the Letšeng Board approved the expansion at the Letšeng mine (Project Kholo).
This is included in the ‘approved but not contracted for’ amount above.
Contingent rentals – alluvial deposits
The contingent rentals on alluvial deposits represents the Group’s obligation to third parties for alluvial diamonds mined by such
third parties on the Group’s mining property. The rental is determined when the actual diamonds mined by such third parties
are sold. The rental agreement is based on 35% of the sale of the diamonds recovered by Alluvial Ventures and will be limited
to US$0.7 million per individual diamond. As at the balance sheet dates, such future sales cannot be determined.

Financial statements

Governance

Letšeng Diamonds Educational Fund
In terms of the mining agreement entered into between the Group and the Government of the Kingdom of Lesotho, the Group
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22. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)
Contingencies
The Group has conducted its operations in the ordinary course of business in accordance with its understanding and
interpretation of commercial arrangements and applicable legislation in the countries where the Group has operations. In certain
specific transactions however, the relevant third party or authorities could have a different interpretation of those laws and
regulations that could lead to contingencies or additional liabilities for the Group. Having consulted professional advisors, the
Group has identified possible disputes approximating US$1.0 million (December 2010: US$0.5 million) and tax claims within the
various jurisdictions in which the Group operates approximating US$6.6 million (December 2010: US$6.1 million).
There remains a risk that additional tax liabilities may potentially arise. While it is difficult to predict the ultimate outcome in some
cases, the Group does not anticipate that there will be any material impact on the Group’s results, financial position or liquidity.
Guarantees
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited (ANZ Bank) has issued performance guarantees on behalf of a subsidiary to the
amount of US$9.4 million, of which US$7.0 million is cash-backed to support environmental obligation for protection of the land
on which mining, mining related activities or exploration is conducted. The beneficiary thereof is the Minister Responsible for
Mining Act 1978. In addition to the US$7.0 million cash backing, Gem Diamonds Australia Holdings (GDAH) and its subsidiaries
have given ANZ Bank irrevocable and unconditional guarantees as security for the performance guarantee and other credit
facilities amounting to US$0.2 million.

23. RELATED PARTIES
Related party

Jemax Management (Proprietary) Limited

Common director

Jemax Aviation (Proprietary) Limited

Common director

Gem Diamond Holdings Limited

Common director

Government of Lesotho
Geneva Management Group (UK) Limited

Non-controlling interest
Common director

Government of the CAR

Non-controlling interest
(during prior year)

Government of Indonesia

Non-controlling interest

Blina Minerals NL

Refer to Note 1.1.2. Operational information, for information regarding shareholding in subsidiaries.
Refer to the Directors’ Report for information regarding the Directors.
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Associate (until
25 November 2011)

2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

Share-based equity transactions

1 186

1 598

Short term employee benefits

7 989

8 088

8 336

9 422

(23 887)

(14 981)

(87)

(100)

–

(145)

451

357

Geneva Management Group (UK) Limited

(10)

(9)

Blina Minerals NL

413

–

Focus on value creation

Compensation to key management personnel (including Directors)

Royalties paid to related parties
Government of Lesotho
Lease and licence payments to related parties
Government of Lesotho
Government of CAR
Sales to/(purchases) from related parties
Jemax Aviation (Proprietary) Limited

Amount included in trade receivables owing by/(to) related parties
Jemax Aviation (Proprietary) Limited
Jemax Management (Proprietary) Limited

(50)

57

(9)

(10)

(2 012)

(1 486)

366

–

(36 654)

(9 040)

Government of Lesotho
Blina Minerals NL

business review

Amounts owing by/(to) related party

Dividends paid
Government of Lesotho

Jemax Management (Proprietary) Limited and Jemax Aviation (Proprietary) Limited provided administrative and aviation services
with regards to the mining and evaluation activities undertaken by the Group. The above transactions were made on terms
agreed between the parties.
Geneva Management Group (UK) Limited provided administration, secretarial and accounting services to the Company.
The above transactions were made on terms that prevail in arm’s length transactions.

24. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Financial statements

Governance

No other fact or circumstance has taken place during the period covered by the financial statements and up to the date of this
report which in our opinion, is of significance in assessing the state of the Group’s affairs.
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair values
Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all of the Group’s financial instruments that are
carried in the financial statements:
2011
US$’000

Carrying amount
2010
US$’000

2011
US$’000

Fair value
2010
US$’000

158 750

129 849

158 750

129 849

Loan notes1

5 626

5 626

5 626

5 626

Receivables1

10 145

7 191

10 145

7 191

7 293

7 062

7 293

7 062

Other loans1

32

327

32

327

Chiri option2

536

536

n/a

n/a

Available-for-sale investments3

498

–

498

–

57 765

44 959

57 765

44 959

Financial assets
Cash

Environmental bond facilities and bank guarantees

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables1
1 The fair value approximates carrying value.
2 The option is carried at cost as fair value cannot be determined.
3 The available-for-sale investment relating to Blina Minerals NL is classified as a level 1 financial instrument as it is recorded at its quoted share price.

The fair values of other financial assets have been calculated using market interest rates where applicable.

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
(a) Market risk (including commodity price risk and foreign exchange risk);
(b) Credit risk;
(c) Liquidity risk; and
(d) Equity price risk
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
Risk management is carried out under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board provides principles for overall risk
management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest-rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative
financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and investing excess liquidity.
There have been no changes in the financial risk management policy since the prior year.
Capital management
The capital of the Company is the issued share capital, share premium and treasury shares on the Group’s balance sheet. The
primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios
in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may issue new shares.
The management of the Group’s capital is performed by the Board. During November 2011, the Group signed a US$31.0 million
three year revolving working capital facility of which there has been no draw down of funds as at year end. Therefore, the Group
currently has no gearing; however, it is the intention to manage the capital structure more efficiently by the introduction of further
debt into the Group to ensure that an appropriate gearing ratio is achieved.
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(a) Market risk
(i) Commodity price risk
The Group is subject to commodity price risk. Diamonds are not a homogenous product and the price of rough diamonds is not
monitored on a public index system. The fluctuation of prices is related to certain features of diamonds such as quality and size.
Diamond prices are marketed in US$ and long term US$/carat prices are based on external market consensus forecasts and
contracted sales arrangements adjusted for the Group’s specific operations. The Group does not have any financial instruments
that may fluctuate as a result of commodity price movements.
Kimberley Diamonds has an existing supply agreement with a top-end jeweller for its fancy yellow diamond production.
This contract, which caters for a monthly price review, is for the life of the mine and provides certainty to the revenue flows.
(ii) Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily
with respect to the Lesotho Loti, South African Rand and Australian Dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.
The Group’s sales are denominated in US$ which is the functional currency of the Company, but not the functional currency of
the operations.
The currency sensitivity analysis below is based on the following assumptions:
• Differences resulting from the translation of the financial statements of the subsidiaries into the Group’s presentation currency
of US$, are not taken into consideration.

business review

• The major currency exposures for the Group relate to the US$ and local currencies of subsidiaries. Foreign currency exposures
between two currencies where one is not the US$ are deemed insignificant to the Group and have therefore been excluded
from the sensitivity analysis.
The analysis of the currency risk arises because of financial instruments denominated in a currency that is not the functional
currency of the relevant Group entity. The sensitivity has been based on financial assets and liabilities at 31 December 2011.
There has been no change in the assumptions or method applied from the prior year.

Financial statements

Governance

Sensitivity analysis
If the US$ had appreciated (depreciated) 10% against currencies significant to the Group at 31 December 2011, there would have
been no material impact on income before taxation (31 December 2010: US$0.8 million). There would be no effect on equity
reserves other than those directly related to income statement movements.
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Performance Shares
No performance shares were granted during the year. During 2008, 437 769 performance shares were granted to certain key
employees under the ESOP of the Company in four tranches. The vesting of awards is subject to the satisfaction of performance
conditions over a three year period that is considered appropriately stretching. If the performance conditions are not met the
options lapse. The fair value of share options granted is estimated at the date of the grant using a Monte Carlo simulation model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted, projected dividends, share price fluctuations,
the expected volatility, the risk-free interest rate, expected life of the option in years and the weighted average share price of the
Company. The contractual life of each option granted is three years. The performance share awards vested in April 2011. For the
purpose of the performance criterion, the conditions were tested and the outcome was that no awards vested as neither the
diamond peer group nor the FTSE 250 was outperformed.
Executive Share Growth Programme
The Executive Share Growth Programme (‘ESGP’) is a separate, and once-off, remuneration arrangement. Its purpose is to reward
very superior performance in the event that it was achieved by the Company in the three year period following Admission.
As such, the vesting of awards under the ESGP are subject to very demanding targets for share price growth, which was chosen
as the performance measure on the basis that participants will only be rewarded if significant value has been created for
the shareholders.
For the purposes of the performance criterion, the final share price was calculated based on the volume weighted average price
of shares calculated over a 30-day period beginning 15 days prior to the third anniversary of Admission (i.e. beginning 1 February
2010). On 19 February 2010, the vesting of the awards was tested and as no vesting conditions were met, the ESGP lapsed and
no shares were awarded.

business review

Non-Executive Share Awards
In order to align the interests of the Chairman and independent Directors with those of the shareholders, the non-Executive
Directors were invited to subscribe for shares at nominal value on terms set out in the prospectus. The non-Executive Directors
shall not be eligible to participate in the STIBS, ESOP or ESGP or any other performance-related incentive arrangements which
may be introduced by the Company from time to time. There are currently no non-Executive share awards.

Governance

Employee Share-Option Plan for 2010 (Long term incentive plan (LTIP))
On 23 June 2010, 1 375 200 options were granted to certain key employees under the LTIP of the Company. Of the total number
of shares, 458 400 were Nil Value Options and 916 800 were Market Value Options. The exercise price of the Market Value Options
is £2.31 (US$3.33), which was equal to the market price of the shares on the date of the grant. The vesting of the options will be
subject to the satisfaction of performance conditions over a three year period that is considered appropriately stretching. If the
performance conditions are not met the options lapse. The fair value of the options granted is estimated at the date of the grant
using a Monte Carlo simulation model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted,
projected dividends, share price fluctuations, the expected volatility, the risk-free interest rate, expected life of the options in years
and the weighted average share price of the Company. The contractual life of each option granted is three years. There are no
cash settlement options.
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Employee Share-Option Plan for 2011 (Long term incentive plan (LTIP))
On 13 June 2011, 1 314 000 options were granted to certain key employees under the LTIP of the Company. Of the total number
of shares, 438 000 were Nil Value Options and 876 000 were Market Value Options. The exercise price of the Market Value Options
is £2.63 (US$4.38), which was equal to the market price of the shares on the date of the grant. The vesting of the options will be
subject to the same conditions as the LTIP 2010 above.
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27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
Movements in the year
Employee Share-Option Plan
The following table illustrates the number (’000) and movement in, share options during the year:
2011

2010

Outstanding at beginning of year

47

87

Exercised during the year

(3)

(40)

Balance at end of year

44

47

–

–

Exercisable at end of year

The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the plan for the awards granted in 2008:
Employee Share-Option Plan
Dividend yield (%)

–

Expected volatility (%)

22

Risk-free interest rate (%)

5

Expected life of option (years)

10

Weighted average share price

18.28

Model used

Black Scholes

The fair value of share options granted is estimated at the date of the grant using a Black Scholes simulation model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted, projected dividends, share price fluctuations, the
expected volatility, the risk-free interest rate, expected life of the option in years and the weighted average share price of
the Company.
The ESOP is an equity-settled plan and the fair value is measured at the grant date.
Performance Shares
The performance shares vested in April 2011 without meeting the performance conditions. All share options were forfeited.
The following table illustrates the number (’000) and movement in share options during the year:
2011
US$’000

2010
US$’000

319

346

Outstanding at beginning of year
Forfeited during the year

(319)

(27)

Balance at end of year

–

319

Exercisable at end of year

–

–

The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the four tranches of the performance share awards:
Performance Share Awards

Award date

Tranche 1

Tranche 2

Tranche 3

Tranche 4

30/04/2008

09/06/2008

01/07/2008

02/12/2008

Dividend yield (%)
Expected volatility (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%)

–

–

–

–

30.58

31.32

31.23

74.18

2.49

2.98

2.92

1.13

Expected life of option (years)

3.00

3.00

3.00

3.00

Weighted average share price

13.60

20.34

20.51

3.96

Monte Carlo

Monte Carlo

Monte Carlo

Monte Carlo

Model used

The fair value of share options granted is estimated at the date of the grant using a Monte Carlo simulation model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted, projected dividends, share price fluctuations, the
expected volatility, the risk-free interest rate, expected life of the option in years and the weighted average share price of
the Company.
The ESOP is an equity-settled plan and the fair value is measured at the grant date.
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2011

2010

Outstanding at beginning of year

1 375

–

Granted during the year

1 314

1 375

(222)

–

2 467

1 375

–

–

Forfeited
Balance at end of year
Exercisable at end of year

Focus on value creation

Employee Share-Option Plan for 2011 and 2010 (Long term incentive plan (LTIP))
The following table illustrates the number (’000) and movement in the ESOP 2011 and 2010 share options during the year:

The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the plan for the awards granted during the current and prior year:
LTIP 2011

LTIP 2010

–

–

66.32

76.33

Risk-free interest rate (%)

1.59

1.11

Expected life of option (years)

3.00

3.00

Weighted average share price (US$)

4.38

3.33

Fair value of Nil Value Options (US$)

3.01

2.27

Fair value of Market Value Options (US$)

1.95

1.45

Monte Carlo

Monte Carlo

Dividend yield (%)
Expected volatility (%)

Model used

business review

Employee Share-Option Plan

Financial statements

Governance

The fair value of share options granted is estimated at the date of the grant using a Monte Carlo simulation model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted, projected dividends, share price fluctuations, the
expected volatility, the risk-free interest rate, expected life of the option in years and the weighted average share price of
the Company.
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introduction
Focus on value creation
Gem Diamonds is a leading global producer
of high value diamonds. The Company owns
two production mines, the Letšeng mine
in Lesotho and the Ellendale mine in Australia,
as well as the Ghaghoo mine, currently in
development in Botswana. The Letšeng mine
is famous for the production of large, top colour,
exceptional white diamonds, making it the highest
average dollar per carat kimberlite diamond mine
in the world. Since Gem Diamonds’ acquisition
of Letšeng in 2006, the mine has produced four
of the 20 largest white gem quality diamonds
ever recorded.
Gem Diamonds has a clear and consistent growth
strategy based on the expansion of the Letšeng
mine to double its production capacity by 2014
and the development of the Ghaghoo mine,
expected to be in production during 2013.
The Company also seeks to maximise revenue
and margin from its rough diamond production
by pursuing diamond cutting, polishing and
sales and marketing initiatives further along the
diamond value chain. With favourable supply/
demand dynamics expected to benefit the
industry over the medium to long term,
particularly at the high end of the market supplied
by Gem Diamonds, this strategy positions the
Company strongly to generate attractive returns
for shareholders well into the future.
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